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Item 1.01    Entry into a Definitive Material Agreement.

On March 1, 2019, Luna Technologies, Inc. (the “Buyer”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Luna Innovations Incorporated (“Luna”), entered into and closed a Stock Purchase Agreement (the
“Stock Purchase Agreement”) among General Photonics Corporation (the “Seller”), the shareholders of the Seller (the “Shareholders”), Steve Yao (“Yao”) as representative of the Shareholders
and Luna, solely as the Buyer guarantor. Pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, the Buyer acquired all outstanding capital stock of the Seller, for aggregate consideration of $19.0 million,
including $17.1 million in cash paid at closing, and $1.9 million placed in escrow until later of September 1, 2020 or the date that specified matters are resolved as agreed by the Buyer and Yao,
as representative of the Shareholders (altogether, the “Transaction”). In the Transaction, the Shareholders retained the cash and debt of the Seller. Additionally, Luna can become obligated to
pay additional cash consideration of up to $1.0 million to the Shareholders if certain revenue targets for the Seller’s historical business are met for the twelve months following the closing of the
Transaction. The purchase price is subject to positive or negative adjustment based upon the final determination of working capital of the Seller compared to a target working capital amount
specified in the Stock Purchase Agreement. The Stock Purchase Agreement contains customary representations and warranties and indemnities.

In connection with the Transaction, Yao separately entered into a Consulting Agreement with Buyer whereby in return for providing consulting services to Buyer over a period of four years,
Yao will receive compensation of $120 per consulting hour for the duration of the Consulting Agreement with minimum annual compensation of $120,000 for each of the first two years. In
connection with the Transaction, Yao was also issued a stock option under Luna’s 2016 Equity Incentive plan to purchase 485,070 shares of common stock (the “Yao Grant”). In addition, for a
period of four years after closing, Yao has agreed not to compete or engage in any competing business and not to solicit customers, employees or consultants of the Buyer, subject to specified
exceptions.

The foregoing summary is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Stock Purchase Agreement, a copy of which is filed as Exhibit 2.1 to this Current Report on Form 8-K
and incorporated herein by reference. The representations, warranties and covenants contained in the Stock Purchase Agreement were made only for the purposes of the Stock Purchase
Agreement, were made as of specific dates, and were made solely for the benefit of the parties to the Stock Purchase Agreement and may not have been intended to be statements of fact but,
rather, as a method of allocating risk and governing the contractual rights and relationships among the parties to the Stock Purchase Agreement. The assertions embodied in those representations
and warranties may be subject to important qualifications and limitations agreed to by the parties in connection with negotiating their respective terms. Moreover, the representations and
warranties may be subject to a contractual standard of materiality that may be different from what may be viewed as material to stockholders of Luna. For the foregoing reasons, none of Luna’s
stockholders or any other person should rely on such representations and warranties, or any characterizations thereof, as statements of factual information at the time they were made or
otherwise.

Item 2.01     Completion of Acquisition or Disposition of Assets.

The information included in Item 1.01 is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 2.02     Results of Operations and Financial Condition.

On March 4, 2019, Luna issued a press release announcing its financial results for the fourth quarter and year ended December 31, 2018, as well as information regarding a conference call to
discuss these financial results and the Transaction. A copy of the press release is furnished as Exhibit 99.1 to this Current Report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference.

Also on March 4, 2019, Luna is posting an updated slide presentation on its corporate website and will be using the presentation in connection with the conference call discussed above. A copy
of the presentation is furnished herewith as Exhibit 99.2 to this Current Report on Form 8-K.

The information in this Current Report on Form 8-K and Exhibits 99.1 and 99.2 attached hereto is being furnished and shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), or the Exchange Act, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.



Item 5.02     Departure of Directors or Principal Officers; Election of Directors; Appointment of Principal Officers;

On February 26, 2019, John B. Williamson, III, a member of Luna’s board of directors (the “Board”), and Gary Spiegel, a member of the Board, exchanged classes of directorships to which
they are appointed. For that purpose, on that date, Mr. Williamson resigned as a Class I director of Luna and Mr. Spiegel resigned as a Class II director of Luna. Immediately effective on their
resignations, the Board reappointed Mr. Williamson to the Board to serve as a Class II director until the 2020 annual meeting of stockholders and until his successor has been duly elected and
qualified, and the Board reappointed Mr. Spiegel to the Board to serve as a Class I director until the 2019 annual meeting of stockholders and until his successor has been duly elected and
qualified. Mr. Williamson continues to serve as the chairman of the Audit Committee of the Board and as a member of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the Board. Mr.
Spiegel continues to serve as a member of the Audit Committee of the Board and the Compensation Committee of the Board.

Mr. Williamson’s previous term was scheduled to expire at the 2019 annual meeting of stockholders, and Mr. Williamson had expressed to the Board an inability to commit to serving another
full three-year term if reelected. The Board determined that it was in the best interests of Luna for Mr. Williamson to continue serving on the Board for at least another year, with which he
agreed. The exchanging of classes between Messrs. Williamson and Spiegel, therefore, allows the Board to retain the services of Mr. Williamson for one additional year. The exchange also
means that Mr. Spiegel will be nominated for reelection to a three-year term at the 2019 annual meeting of stockholders, reflecting the confidence the Board has in Mr. Spiegel.

Additional information about Messrs. Williamson and Spiegel is set forth in Luna’s definitive proxy statement on Schedule 14A filed with the SEC on April 9, 2018. As non-employee directors,
Messrs. Williamson and Spiegel will continue to be compensated in accordance with Luna’s non-employee director compensation policy, as described in Luna’s definitive proxy statement on
Schedule 14A filed with the SEC on April 9, 2018.

Item 7.01.      Regulation FD Disclosure.

On March 4, 2019, Luna issued a press release announcing the Transaction. A copy of this press release is furnished herewith as Exhibit 99.3 to this report.

In accordance with general instruction B.2 to Form 8-K, the information in this Item 7.01, including the press release furnished as an exhibit hereto, shall not be deemed to be “filed” for
purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing under the Securities Act or the
Exchange Act.

Item 9.01         Financial Statements and Exhibits.

(a)     Financial Statements of Businesses Acquired.

The financial statements required by this Item, with respect to the acquisition described in Item 2.01 herein, will be filed as soon as practicable, and in any event not later than 71 days after the
date on which this Current Report on Form 8-K was required to be filed pursuant to Item 2.01.

(b)     Pro Forma Financial Information.

The pro forma financial information required by this Item, with respect to the acquisition described in Item 2.01 herein, will be filed as soon as practicable, and in any event not later than 71
days after the date on which this Current Report on Form 8-K was required to be filed pursuant to Item 2.01.

(d) Exhibits.
  
+    Pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC, certain exhibits and schedules to this agreement have been omitted. Luna hereby agrees to furnish supplementally to the SEC, upon its request, any or all of such
omitted exhibits or schedules.



 

  

Exhibit Description

2.1+ Stock Purchase Agreement, by and among Luna Technologies, Inc., Luna Innovations Incorporated, General Photonics Corporation, the shareholders of General Photonics
Corporation and Steve Yao as representative of the shareholders, dated as of March 1, 2019.

99.1 Press Release, dated March 4, 2019 titled “Luna Innovations Reports Strong Fourth-Quarter and Fiscal Year 2018 Results.”

99.2 Company Presentation.

99.3 Press Release, dated March 4, 2019 titled “Luna Innovations Acquires General Photonics, a Leader in Characterization and Control of Light for Photonics Applications.”

  
*Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to portions of this exhibit, indicated by asterisks, which has been filed separately with the SEC



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

Luna Innovations Incorporated

   

By:  /s/ Scott A. Graeff

  
Scott A. Graeff
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 4, 2019
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STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

by and among

Luna Technologies, Inc.

as Buyer

Luna Innovations Incorporated

as Buyer Guarantor

and

General Photonics Corporation,

as Seller

the undersigned Shareholders

and

Steve Yao as Shareholder Representative

Dated March 1, 2019

STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This Stock Purchase Agreement (“Agreement”) is dated March 1, 2019, by and among Luna Technologies, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Buyer”);
solely for the limited purpose of Section 13.14 hereof, Luna Innovations Incorporated, a Delaware corporation (“Buyer Guarantor”); General Photonics
Corporation, a California corporation (“Seller”); the undersigned shareholders of the Seller (“Shareholders”); and Steve Yao (“Yao”), as Shareholder
Representative (“Shareholder Representative”).

RECITALS

A. Seller is engaged in the business of development, engineering, manufacturing, and sales of fiber optic components, modules, assemblies,
subsystems and instruments operating in the near infrared portion of the spectrum (900nm – 1700 nm) for 1) the measurement and management of optical
polarization, including polarization controllers, polarimeters, polarization analyzers, distributed polarization crosstalk analyzers (DPXA), polarization mode
dispersion emulators (PMDPro), PER meter, DOP meter, PDL meter, polarization dependent response (PDR) meter, polarization analyzing optical frequency
domain reflectometry (PA-OFDR), polarization optimized optical coherence domain reflectometry (OCDR), tunable laser modules and instruments, and
polarization analysis based optical frequency encoder and analyzer; 2) fiber optic timing and delay control and management, including manual and motorized
optical delay lines, differential group delay generator, optical delay generator; 3) fiber optic gyro coils (the “Business”).

B. Shareholders own all of the outstanding capital stock of Seller, namely 18,635,685 shares of common stock of Seller (the “Shares”). Seller also has
had 470,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options under Seller’s 2000 Stock Option Plan (“Outstanding Options”).
For the consideration and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, Buyer is buying all of the Shares and prior to that Seller shall pay off
and terminate the Outstanding Options.

In consideration of the mutual promises and agreements contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of
which are hereby acknowledged, the parties, intending to be legally bound, agree to the following terms and conditions.

1. Definitions and Usage

1.1 DEFINITIONS

For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms and variations thereof have the meanings specified or referred to in this Section 1.1:

“Accounting Expert” – a nationally recognized top-ten independent public accounting firm that has not previously been engaged by any of the parties in
the twenty-four (24) months preceding the Closing Date and that is agreed upon by Buyer and Shareholder Representative in writing.



“Accounts Receivable” – (a) all trade accounts receivable and other rights to payment from customers of Seller and the full benefit of all security for
such accounts or rights to payment, including all trade accounts receivable representing amounts receivable in respect of goods shipped or products sold or
services rendered to customers of Seller, and (b) all other accounts or notes receivable of Seller and the full benefit of all security for such accounts or notes.

“Active Employees” – as defined in Section 10.1(a).

“Affiliate” – with respect to a Person, any other Person that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is
under common control with, such Person. For purposes of this definition, “control” (including “controlling,” “controlled by,” and “under common control with”)
means the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership
of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

“Agreement” – as defined in the first paragraph of this Agreement.

“Anti-Bribery Laws” – as defined in Section 3.27.

“Applicable Accounting Principles” – GAAP applied in a manner consistent with the preparation of the Financial Statements, subject to the application
of the practices, procedures, judgments, policies and assumptions set forth in Exhibit A-1.

“Assets” – as defined in Section 3.9(a).

    “Assignment of Lease” – as defined in Section 2.7(c)(v).

“Balance Sheet” – the consolidated balance sheet included in the audited consolidated financial statements of Seller as at December 31, 2017.

“Basket” – as defined in Section 11.4(a).

“Breach” – any breach of, or any inaccuracy in, any representation or warranty or any breach of, or failure to perform or comply with, any covenant or
obligation, in or of this Agreement or any other Contract, or any event for which if notice was given to a counterparty and if uncured after the expiration of any
applicable cure period would constitute such a breach, inaccuracy or failure.

“Business” – as defined in Recital A.

“Business Day” – any day other than (a) Saturday or Sunday or (b) any other day on which banks in Los Angeles, California are permitted or required to
be closed.

“Buyer” – as defined in the first paragraph of this Agreement.

“Buyer Common Stock” – the common stock of Buyer, no par value.

“Buyer Fundamental Representations” – the representations set forth in Sections 4.1, 4.2(a) and 4.4.

“Buyer Guarantor” – as defined in the first paragraph of this Agreement.

“Buyer Indemnified Parties” – as defined in Section 11.2.

“Buyer’s Closing Documents” – as defined in Section 4.2(a).

“Cash and Cash Equivalents” –cash and cash equivalents of the Seller, determined in accordance with Applicable Accounting Principles, specifically
including marketable securities and short-term investments. For the avoidance of doubt, Cash and Cash Equivalents shall be calculated net of issued but
uncleared checks and drafts and shall include checks, other wire transfers and drafts deposited or available for deposit for the account of the Seller.

“Chinese Patent License” – as defined in Section 2.7(e)(xv).

“Closing” – as defined in Section 2.6.

“Closing Date” – as defined in Section 2.6.

“Closing Date Cash” – Seller’s estimate of Cash and Cash Equivalents as of Closing Effective Time.

“Closing Effective Time” – 12:01:00 a.m. on the Closing Date.

“COBRA” – as defined in Section 3.16(f).

“Code” – the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.

“Competing Business” – as defined in Section 10.3(a).

“Consent” – any approval, consent, ratification, waiver or other authorization.

“Contemplated Transactions” – all of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

“Contract” – any agreement, contract, Lease, consensual obligation, or undertaking (whether written or oral and whether express or implied).

“Copyrights” – copyrights and works of authorship, whether or not copyrightable, and all registrations, applications for registration, and renewals of any
of the foregoing.



“Current Liabilities” – the sum of accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities of Seller, determined in accordance with Applicable
Accounting Principles, provided however, that “Current Liabilities” shall not include any Seller Transaction Expenses paid by Buyer pursuant to Section 2.7.

“Data Privacy and Security Laws” – any Legal Requirement governing (a) the proper use, collection, recording, storing, altering, retrieving, consulting,
transferring, disclosing (whether authorized or unauthorized) or otherwise processing of Personally Identifiable Information or other information regarding an
individual who can be identified from such data or from such data and other information in the possession of Seller, (b) notification to individuals or
Governmental Bodies upon loss, unauthorized access or other misuse of personal data and (c) the administrative, technical, or physical controls that protect
Personally Identifiable Information from unauthorized access, use or disclosure.

“Defined Benefit Plan” – as defined in Section 3.16(a).

“Direct Claim” – as defined in Section 11.5(c).

“Disclosure Schedules” – the disclosure schedules attached hereto and delivered by Seller to Buyer concurrently with the execution and delivery of this
Agreement.

“Earn-Out Period” – the twelve (12) months following Closing.

“Employee Bonuses” – the amount of twenty percent (20%) of any Earn-Out Payment actually payable by Buyer, as finally determined pursuant to
Section 2.5, to be paid to certain employees of Seller as set forth on Schedule 1.1, net of any employer portion of any applicable payroll Taxes (i.e., under the
Federal Insurance Contributions Act) and subject to required withholdings .

“Employee Plans” – as defined in Section 3.16(a).

“Encumbrance” – any charge, claim, community or other marital property interest, condition, equitable interest, lien, option, pledge, security interest,
mortgage, right of way, easement, encroachment, servitude, right of first option, right of first refusal or similar restriction, including any restriction on use, or
transfer.

“Environment” – soil, land surface or subsurface strata, surface waters (including navigable waters and ocean waters), groundwaters, drinking water
supply, stream sediments, ambient air (including indoor air and sub-slab air), plant and animal life and any other environmental medium or natural resource.

“Environmental, Health and Safety Liabilities” – any cost, damages, expense, liability, obligation or other responsibility arising from or under any
Environmental Law or Occupational Safety and Health Law, including those consisting of or relating to:

(a)    any environmental, health or safety matter or condition (including on-site or off-site contamination, occupational safety and health and
regulation of any chemical substance or product);

(b)    any fine, penalty, judgment, award, settlement, legal or administrative proceeding, damages, loss, claim, demand or response, remedial or
inspection cost or expense arising under any Environmental Law or Occupational Safety and Health Law;

(c)    financial responsibility under any Environmental Law or Occupational Safety and Health Law for cleanup costs or corrective action,
including any cleanup, removal, containment or other remediation or response actions (“Cleanup”) required by any Environmental Law or Occupational
Safety and Health Law (whether or not such Cleanup has been required or requested by any Governmental Body or any other Person) and for any natural
resource damages; or

(d)    any other compliance, corrective or remedial measure required under any Environmental Law or Occupational Safety and Health Law.

The terms “removal,” “remedial” and “response action” include the types of activities covered by the United States Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 (“CERCLA”).

“Environmental Law” – any Legal Requirement pertaining to pollution, protection of health, safety or the Environment or exposure of Persons to
Hazardous Materials, including the Clean Air Act, as amended, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as
amended, the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, as amended, the Safe Drinking Water
Act, as amended, the Toxic Substances Control Act, as amended, the Oil Pollution Act of 1990, the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986, as
amended, the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, as amended, the Emergency Planning and Community Right to Know Act, as amended, the Safe
Drinking Water Act, as amended, the Occupational Safety and Health Act, as amended, and any foreign, state or local Laws analogous to any of the foregoing,
as amended, together with all judicial interpretations thereof.

“Equitable Exceptions” – as defined in Section 3.2(a).

“ERISA” – the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

“ERISA Affiliate” – as defined in Section 3.16(a).

“Escrow Agent” – Wilmington Trust, National Association.

“Escrow Agreement” – as defined in Section 2.7(c)(iv).

“Escrow Amount” – $1,900,000 of the Purchase Price.

“Escrow Fund” – as defined in Section 2.10.

“Escrow Termination Date” - 18 months after the Closing Date.

“Evaluation Material” – as defined in Section 3.33.



“Exchange Act” – the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

“Expense Fund Amount” – as defined in Section 13.15(d).

“Facilities” or “Facility” – any real property, buildings, improvements and other facilities, whether owned in fee simple or by leasehold, and any other
interest in real property currently owned, leased, occupied or operated by Seller.

“Final Net Working Capital” – as defined in Section 2.8(a).

“Financial Statements” – as defined in Section 3.4.

“GAAP” – generally accepted accounting principles for financial reporting in the United States.

“Governing Documents” – with respect to any particular entity, (a) if a corporation, the articles or certificate of incorporation and the bylaws; (b) if a
general partnership, the partnership agreement and any statement of partnership; (c) if a limited partnership, the limited partnership agreement and the certificate
of limited partnership; (d) if a limited liability company, the articles of organization and operating agreement; (e) if another type of Person, any other charter or
similar document adopted or filed in connection with the creation, formation or organization of the Person; and (f) any amendment or supplement to any of the
foregoing.

“Governmental Authorization” – any Consent, Order, license, registration, visa or permit issued, granted, given or otherwise made available by or under
the authority of any Governmental Body or pursuant to any Legal Requirement.

“Governmental Body” – any:

(a)    nation, state, county, city, town, borough, village, district or other jurisdiction;

(b)    federal, state, local, municipal, foreign or other government;

(c)    governmental or quasi-governmental authority of any nature (including any agency, branch, department, board, commission, court, tribunal,
arbitrator or other entity exercising governmental or quasi-governmental powers);

(d)    body exercising, or entitled to exercise, any administrative, executive, judicial, legislative, police, regulatory or taxing authority or power; or

(e)    official of any of the foregoing.

“Hazardous Activity” – the distribution, generation, handling, importing, management, manufacturing, processing, production, refinement, Release,
storage, transfer, transportation, treatment or use (including any withdrawal or other use of groundwater) of Hazardous Material in, on, under, about or from any
of the Facilities or any part thereof into the Environment and any other act, business, operation or thing that increases the danger, or risk of danger, or poses an
unreasonable risk of harm, to persons or property on or off the Facilities.

“Hazardous Material” – any substance, material or waste which is regulated by any Governmental Body, including any material, substance or waste
which is defined as a “hazardous waste,” “hazardous material,” “hazardous substance,” “extremely hazardous waste,” “restricted hazardous waste,”
“contaminant,” “toxic waste,” “toxic substance,” “oil,” “petroleum,” “solid waste” or “pollutant” under any provision of Environmental Law, and including
petroleum, petroleum products, asbestos, presumed asbestos-containing material or asbestos-containing material, urea formaldehyde and polychlorinated
biphenyls.

“Indemnified Party” – as defined in Section 11.5.

“Indemnifying Party” – as defined in Section 11.5.

“Insurance Policies” – as defined in Section 3.21(a).

“Intellectual Property” – any and all of the following in any jurisdiction throughout the world and all rights in, arising out of, or associated therewith: (a)
Patents; (b) Trademarks; (c) Copyrights; (d) internet domain names and social media account or user names (including “handles”), whether or not Trademarks,
all associated web addresses, URLs, websites and web pages, social media accounts and pages, and all content and data thereon or relating thereto, whether or
not Copyrights; (e) mask works, and all registrations, applications for registration, and renewals thereof; (f) Trade Secrets; (g) Software; and (h) any other
intellectual or industrial property.

“Intellectual Property Agreements” – all licenses, sublicenses, consent to use agreements, settlements, coexistence agreements, covenants not to sue,
waivers, releases, permissions and other Contracts, whether written or oral, relating to any Intellectual Property that relates to or is used or held for use in the
conduct of the Business to which Seller is a party, beneficiary or otherwise bound, excluding for this purpose commercially available Software that constitutes
Open Source Materials or off-the-shelf or shrinkwrap Software licenses or licenses of Software supplied with equipment or office computers, in each case with
annual fees of less than $1,500 per year (“Standard Licenses”).

“Intellectual Property Assets” – all Intellectual Property that is owned by Seller and relates to or is used or held for use in the conduct of the Business,
together with all (i) royalties, fees, income, payments, and other proceeds now or hereafter due or payable to Seller with respect to such Intellectual Property;
and (ii) claims and causes of action, whether known or unknown, with respect to such Intellectual Property, whether accruing before, on, or after the date hereof,
including all rights to and claims for damages (including attorneys’ fees), restitution, and injunctive and other legal or equitable relief for past, present, or future
infringement, misappropriation, or other violation thereof.

“Intellectual Property Assignment” – as defined in Section 2.7(c)(iii).

“Intellectual Property Registrations” – all Intellectual Property Assets that are subject to any issuance, registration, or application by or with any
Governmental Body or authorized private registrar in any jurisdiction, including issued Patents, registered Trademarks, domain names and Copyrights, and



pending applications for any of the foregoing.

“Interim Balance Sheet” – as defined in Section 3.4.

“International Trade Applicable Laws and Regulations” – all applicable Legal Requirements concerning the importation of merchandise, export controls,
economic or financial sanctions, and anti-bribery, including: (i) regulations issued or enforced by and programs administered by the United States Customs and
Border Protection, (ii) the International Emergency Economic Powers Act, as amended, (iii) the Arms Export Control Act of 1976, as amended, (iv) the
International Traffic in Arms Regulations, (v) any other export controls administered by an agency of the United States government, Executive Orders of the
President regarding embargoes and restrictions on trade with designated countries and Persons, (vi) the embargoes and restrictions administered by the United
States Department of Treasury Office of Foreign Sellers Control (“OFAC”), (vii) the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act or any other applicable anti-bribery or anti-
corruption applicable Law, (viii) the anti-boycott regulations administered by the United States Department of Commerce and the anti-boycott regulations
administered by the United States Department of Treasury, (ix) North American Free Trade Agreement legislation and regulations of the United States, Canada,
and Mexico, (x) U.S. antidumping and countervailing duty laws, and (xi) other applicable Legal Requirements adopted by the governments or agencies of other
countries relating to the same subject matter as the laws described above that apply to the Seller.

“Inventories” or “Inventory” – all inventories of Seller, wherever located, including all finished goods, work in process, raw materials, spare parts and all
other materials and supplies to be used or consumed by Seller in the production of finished goods.

“IRS” – the United States Internal Revenue Service and, to the extent relevant, the United States Department of the Treasury.

“Knowledge of Seller” or “Seller’s Knowledge” or any similar knowledge qualification – the actual knowledge of Steve Yao, Helen Ren, and Bruce
Pazouki, after due and reasonable inquiry of the employees or consultants of Seller having material responsibility at Seller with respect to the subject matter
inquiry.

“Landlord” – the landlord under the Real Property Lease for Seller’s offices located at 14351-14355 Pipeline Avenue, Chino, California 91710.

“Lease” – any Real Property Lease, and any lease or rental agreement, license, right to use or installment and conditional sale agreement to which Seller
is a party and any other Seller Contract pertaining to the leasing or use of any Tangible Personal Property.

“Leased Real Property” – as defined in Section 3.8(b).

“Legal Requirement” – any federal, state, local, municipal, foreign, international, multinational or other constitution, law, ordinance, principle of
common law, code, rule, ordinance, order, decree, regulation, statute or treaty.

“Liability” – with respect to any Person, any liability or obligation of such Person of any kind, character or description, whether known or unknown,
absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued, disputed or undisputed, liquidated or unliquidated, secured or unsecured, joint or several, due or to become due,
vested or unvested, executory, determined, determinable, and whether or not the same is required to be accrued on the financial statements of such Person.

“Losses” – losses, damages, liabilities, deficiencies, judgments, interest, awards, penalties, fines, costs or expenses of whatever kind, including
reasonable attorneys’ fees and the cost of enforcing any right to indemnification hereunder and the cost of pursuing any insurance providers; provided, however,
that “Losses” shall not include incidental, consequential or punitive damages, except in the case of actual fraud or to the extent actually awarded to a
Governmental Body or other third party.

“Material Adverse Effect” – any event, occurrence, fact, condition or change that is, or could reasonably be expected to become, individually or in the
aggregate, materially adverse to (a) the Business or Seller, (b) the value of the Shares, or (c) the ability of Seller to consummate the Contemplated Transactions
on a timely basis; provided, however, that “Material Adverse Effect” shall not include any event, occurrence, fact, condition or change, directly or indirectly,
arising out of or attributable to: (i) general economic or political conditions; (ii) conditions generally affecting the industry or markets in which the Business
operates; (iii) any changes in financial or securities markets in general; (iv) acts of war (whether or not declared), armed hostilities or terrorism, sabotage, or the
escalation or worsening thereof; (v) any action required or permitted by this Agreement, except pursuant to Sections 3.2(b), 3.2(c) and 5.4; (vi) any changes in
applicable Legal Requirements or accounting rules, including GAAP; or (vii) the public announcement, pendency or completion of the Contemplated
Transactions or any other action required by this Agreement or requested by Buyer; provided further, however, that any event, occurrence, fact, condition or
change referred to in clauses (i) through (iv) immediately above shall be taken into account in determining whether a Material Adverse Effect has occurred, or
could reasonably be expected to occur, only to the extent that such event, occurrence, fact, condition or change has a disproportionate effect on the Business
compared to other participants in the industry or markets in which the Business operates.

“Material Consents” – any consents to assignment listed on Exhibit A-2.

“Multiemployer Plan” – as defined in Section 3.16(a).

“Net Working Capital” – as of the Closing, (a) the sum of accounts receivable, Inventory and prepaid expenses and other current assets of the Seller, less
(b) Current Liabilities. For the avoidance of doubt, in calculating the Net Working Capital, Buyer shall be able to use relevant information available up until the
time in which the Net Working Capital Statement is delivered. Buyer shall provide the Shareholder Representative and his Representatives the right to observe
and participate in any physical count of the Inventory of the Business to be used in the calculation of Net Working Capital. For the foregoing purpose, Current
Liabilities shall not include any severance obligations for any employees that Luna determines as of Closing not to retain and such obligations and liabilities
shall be borne by Buyer. An illustrative calculation of Net Working Capital averages as of December 31, 2018, is attached, hereto as Annex I.

“Net Working Capital Statement” – as defined in Section 2.8(a).

“Net Working Capital Target” – $2.65 million.

“Nondisclosure Agreement”- the Nondisclosure Agreement by and between Buyer Guarantor and Seller dated effective March 6, 2018.

“Notice of Disagreement” – as defined in Section 2.8(f).



“Occupational Safety and Health Law” – any Legal Requirement designed to provide safe and healthful working conditions and to reduce occupational
safety and health hazards, including the Occupational Safety and Health Act.

“Open Source Materials” – any material (including Software) that contains, or is derived in any manner (in whole or in part) from, any Software or other
material that is distributed as free or open source (e.g., under a license now or in the future approved by the Open Source Initiative and listed at
http://www.opensource.org/licenses, which licenses include all versions of the GNU GPL, the GNU LGPL, the GNU Affero GPL, the MIT license, the Eclipse
Public License, the Common Public License, the CDDL, the Mozilla Public License, the Academic Free License, the BSD license and the Apache License), or
pursuant to similar licensing and distribution models (as presently conducted and as proposed to be conducted).

“Order” – any order, injunction, judgment, decree, ruling, assessment or arbitration award of any Governmental Body.

“Ordinary Course of Business” – an action taken by a Person will be deemed to have been taken in the Ordinary Course of Business only if that action:

(a)    is consistent in nature, scope and magnitude with the past practices of such Person and is taken in the ordinary course of the normal, day-to-
day operations of such Person;

(b)    does not require authorization by the board of directors or shareholders of such Person; and

(c)    is similar in nature, scope and magnitude to actions customarily taken, without any separate or special authorization, in the ordinary course
of the normal, day-to-day operations of other Persons that are in the same lines of business as such first Person.

“Patents” – issued patents and patent applications (whether provisional or non-provisional), including divisionals, continuations, continuations-in-part,
substitutions, reissues, reexaminations, renewals, extensions, nationalizations, validations, counterparts (domestic or foreign), or restorations of any of the
foregoing (regardless of lapse, expiration or abandonment status), and other Governmental Body-issued indicia of invention ownership (including certificates of
invention, petty patents, and patent utility models) together with industrial designs, registrations, applications for registration, and renewals thereof.

“Patent Transfer Agreements” – the Patent Right Recognition and Transfer Agreements with Beijing ChinaLight Technology Co., Ltd., and SUZHOU
OPTORING CO. LTD, respectively, as amended.

“PBGC” – as defined in Section 3.16(b).

“Permitted Encumbrances” – as defined in Section 3.9(a).

“Person” – an individual, partnership, corporation, business trust, limited liability company, limited liability partnership, joint stock company, trust,
unincorporated association, joint venture or other entity or a Governmental Body.

“Personally Identifiable Information” – with respect to any natural Person, such person’s name, street address, telephone number, e-mail address,
photograph, social security number, tax identification number, driver’s license number, passport number, credit card number, bank account number and other
financial information, customer or account numbers, account access codes or passwords, or other information that allows the identification of or could be used to
identify such Person or enables access to or could be used to enable access to such Person’s financial information.

“Post-Closing Tax Period” – a tax period that begins after the Closing Date.

“Pre-Closing Tax Period” – a tax period ending on or before the Closing Date.

"Prime Rate" means the domestic prime rate of interest reported in The Wall Street Journal as the prime rate of interest in effect on the first business day
of each calendar month, or if a prime rate of interest for such date is not so reported the prime rate shall be the prime rate of interest on the most recent previous
date for which such a rate was so reported. If The Wall Street Journal reports more than one such prime rate of interest, the prime rate shall be the average of the
prime rates so reported. In the event The Wall Street Journal's regular publishing of a prime rate is discontinued, interrupted or terminated for any reason, and
until such time as such regular publishing of a prime rate by The Wall Street Journal resumes, the Prime Rate shall be the prime rate of interest (or in the absence
thereof a comparable index) of Citibank, New York, New York (or its successors) in effect at 9:00 o'clock a.m. (Virginia time) on the first business day of each
calendar month; provided, however, for purposes hereof Prime Rate may not exceed 8% per annum.

“Pro Rata Share” – with respect to any given Shareholder the percentage set forth opposite such Person’s name in Annex II.

“Proceeding” – any action, arbitration, audit, hearing, investigation, litigation or suit (whether civil, criminal, administrative, judicial or investigative,
whether formal or informal, whether public or private) commenced, brought, conducted or heard by or before, or otherwise involving, any Governmental Body.

“Purchase Price” – as defined in Section 2.3.

“Real Property Lease” – as defined in Section 3.8(b).

“Record” – information that is inscribed on a tangible medium or that is stored in an electronic or other medium and is retrievable in perceivable form.

“Related Person” –

With respect to a particular individual:

(a)    each other member of such individual’s Family;

(b)    any Person that is directly or indirectly controlled by any one or more members of such individual’s Family;

(c)    any Person in which members of such individual’s Family hold (individually or in the aggregate) a Material Interest; and



(d)    any Person with respect to which one or more members of such individual’s Family serves as a director, officer, partner, executor or trustee
(or in a similar capacity).

With respect to a specified Person other than an individual:

(a)    any Person that directly or indirectly controls, is directly or indirectly controlled by or is directly or indirectly under common control with
such specified Person;

(b)    any Person that holds a Material Interest in such specified Person;

(c)    each Person that serves as a director, officer, partner, executor or trustee of such specified Person (or in a similar capacity);

(d)    any Person in which such specified Person holds a Material Interest; and

(e)    any Person with respect to which such specified Person serves as a general partner or a trustee (or in a similar capacity).

For purposes of this definition, (a) “control” (including “controlling,” “controlled by,” and “under common control with”) means the possession, direct or
indirect, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by
contract or otherwise, and shall be construed as such term is used in the rules promulgated under the Securities Act; (b) the “Family” of an individual includes (i)
the individual, (ii) the individual’s spouse or domestic partner, and (iii) any child, stepchild, parent, stepparent, sibling, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law,
daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, or sister-in-law of the individual, and any other natural person who is related to the individual or the individual’s spouse within
the second degree, and (iv) any person (other than a tenant or employee) sharing the household of the individual; and (c) “Material Interest” means direct or
indirect beneficial ownership (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act) of voting securities or other voting interests representing at least 20% of the
outstanding voting power of a Person or equity securities or other equity interests representing at least 20% of the outstanding equity securities or equity
interests in a Person.

“Release” – any release, spill, emission, leaking, pumping, pouring, dumping, emptying, injection, deposit, disposal, discharge, dispersal, leaching or
migration on or into the Environment or into or out of any property.

“Remedial Action” – all actions, including any capital expenditures, required or voluntarily undertaken (a) to clean up, remove, treat or in any other way
address any Hazardous Material or other substance; (b) to prevent the Release or Threat of Release or to minimize the further Release of any Hazardous Material
or other substance so it does not migrate or endanger or threaten to endanger public health or welfare or the Environment; (c) to perform pre-remedial studies
and investigations or post-remedial monitoring and care; or (d) to bring all Facilities and the operations conducted thereon into compliance with Environmental
Laws and environmental Governmental Authorizations.

“Representative” – with respect to a particular Person, any director, officer, manager, employee, agent, consultant, advisor, accountant, financial advisor,
legal counsel or other representative of that Person.

“Representative Expenses” – as defined in Section 13.15(c).

“Restricted Period” – as defined in Section 10.3(a).

“Revenues” – revenues of the Seller or Business for the twelve months following Closing, calculated in accordance with Applicable Accounting
Principles.

“Revenues Calculation Statement” – as defined in Section 2.5(b).

“Revenues Calculation Objection Notice” – as defined in Section 2.5(b).

“SEC” – the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

“Securities Act” – as defined in Section 3.3.

“Seller” – as defined in the first paragraph of this Agreement.

“Seller Contract” – any Contract under which Seller is a party or by which Seller is bound or under which any Shareholder is a party and relating to
Seller or the Business or any of the Assets.

“Seller Data” – as defined in Section 3.26.

“Seller Fundamental Representations” – the representations set forth in Sections 3.1(b), 3.2(b), 3.3, 3.9(a), 3.28 and 3.29.

“Seller Indemnified Parties” – as defined in Section 11.3.

“Seller Transaction Expenses” – without duplication, all fees, costs, expenses and other similar obligations of, or amounts incurred or payable by or on
behalf of the Seller that have not been paid in full prior to the Closing, in each case in connection with the preparation, negotiation, execution or performance of
this Agreement, the ancillary documents contemplated by this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein, including the following:
(a) the fees and disbursements of, or other similar amounts charged by, counsel retained by the Seller; (b) the fees and expenses of, or other similar amounts
charged by, any accountants, agents, financial advisors, consultants and experts retained by the Seller; and (c) any investment banking, brokerage or finder’s fees
and related expenses incurred by, or on behalf of, the Seller prior to Closing.

“Seller’s Closing Documents” – as defined in Section 3.2(a).



“Shareholder” or “Shareholders” – as defined in the header of this Agreement.

“Shareholder Representations” – those representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.6.

“Shareholder Representative” – as defined in Section 13.5(a).

“Shareholder’s Closing Documents” – as defined in Section 3.6(a).

“Shares” – as defined in Recital B of this Agreement.

“Software” – all computer software and subsequent versions thereof, including source code, object, executable or binary code, objects, comments,
screens, user interfaces, report formats, templates, menus, buttons and icons and all files, data, materials, manuals, design notes and other items and
documentation related thereto or associated therewith.

“Straddle Period” – a Tax period which includes the Closing Date but does not end as of the end of that day.

“Subsidiary” – with respect to any Person (the “Owner”), any corporation or other Person of which securities or other interests having the power to elect
a majority of that corporation’s or other Person’s board of directors or similar governing body, or otherwise having the power to direct the business and policies
of that corporation or other Person (other than securities or other interests having such power only upon the happening of a contingency that has not occurred),
are held by the Owner or one or more of its Subsidiaries.

“Tangible Personal Property” – all machinery, equipment, tools, furniture, office equipment, computer hardware, supplies, materials, vehicles and other
items of tangible personal property (other than Inventories) of every kind owned or leased by Seller (wherever located and whether or not carried on Seller’s
books), together with any express or implied warranty by the manufacturers or sellers or lessors of any item or component part thereof and all maintenance
records and other documents relating thereto.

“Tax” – any income, gross receipts, license, payroll, employment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, premium, property, environmental, windfall
profit, customs, capital stock, franchise, employees’ income withholding, foreign or domestic withholding, social security, unemployment, disability, real
property, personal property, sales, use, transfer, value added, alternative, add-on minimum and other tax, fee, assessment, levy, tariff, charge or duty of any kind
whatsoever in the nature of a tax and any interest, penalty, addition or additional amount thereon imposed, assessed or collected by or under the authority of any
Governmental Body or payable under any tax-sharing agreement or any other Contract, other than customary commercial agreements or Contracts the primary
purpose of which is unrelated to taxes, or pursuant to operation of law.

“Tax Contest” – as defined in Section 10.2(g).

“Tax Return” – any return (including any information return), report, statement, schedule, notice, form, declaration, claim for refund or other document
or information filed with or submitted to, or required to be filed with or submitted to, any Governmental Body in connection with the determination, assessment,
collection or payment of any Tax or in connection with the administration, implementation or enforcement of or compliance with any Legal Requirement
relating to any Tax.

“Third Party” – a Person that is not a party to this Agreement.

“Third-Party Claim” – as defined in Section 11.5(a).

“Threat of Release” – a reasonable likelihood of a Release that requires action in order to prevent or mitigate damage to the Environment that may result
from such Release.

“Trade Secrets” – trade secrets, know-how, inventions (whether or not patentable), discoveries, improvements, technology, business and technical
information, databases, data compilations and collections, tools, methods, processes, techniques, and other confidential and proprietary information and all rights
therein.

“Trademarks” – trademarks, service marks, brands, certification marks, logos, trade dress, trade names, and other similar indicia of source or origin,
together with the goodwill connected with the use of and symbolized by, and all registrations, applications for registration, and renewals of, any of the foregoing.

“Transaction Documents” – this Agreement (including the Disclosure Schedules hereto), the Escrow Agreement, the Stock Powers, Waivers, Option
Payoffs, the Consulting Agreement, Assignment of Lease, the Option Agreement, the Yao Patent License and the other agreements, instruments and documents
required to be delivered at the Closing.

“WARN Act” – as defined in Section 3.23(d).

“Yao Patent License” – as defined in Section 2.7(e)(iii).

1.2 USAGE

(a)    Interpretation. In this Agreement, unless a clear contrary intention appears:

(i)    the singular number includes the plural number and vice versa;

(ii)    reference to any Person includes such Person’s successors and assigns but, if applicable, only if such successors and assigns are not
prohibited by this Agreement, and reference to a Person in a particular capacity excludes such Person in any other capacity or individually;

(iii)    reference to any gender includes each other gender;



(iv)    reference to any agreement, document or instrument means such agreement, document or instrument as amended or modified and in effect
from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof;

(v)    reference to any Legal Requirement means such Legal Requirement as amended, modified, codified, replaced or reenacted, in whole or in
part, and in effect from time to time, including rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and reference to any Section or other provision of any
Legal Requirement means that provision of such Legal Requirement from time to time in effect and constituting the substantive amendment,
modification, codification, replacement or reenactment of such Section or other provision;

(vi)    “hereunder,” “hereof,” “hereto,” and words of similar import shall be deemed references to this Agreement as a whole and not to any
particular Article, Section or other provision hereof;

(vii)    “including” (and with correlative meaning “include”) means including without limiting the generality of any description preceding such
term;

(viii)    “or” is used in the inclusive sense of “and/or”;

(ix)    with respect to the determination of any period of time, “from” means “from and including” and “to” means “to but excluding”; and

(x)    references to documents, instruments or agreements shall be deemed to refer as well to all addenda, exhibits, schedules or amendments
thereto.

(b)    Accounting Terms and Determinations. Unless otherwise specified herein, all accounting terms used herein shall be interpreted and all accounting
determinations hereunder shall be made in accordance with Applicable Accounting Principles.

(c)    Legal Representation of the Parties. This Agreement was negotiated by the parties with the benefit of legal representation, and any rule of
construction or interpretation otherwise requiring this Agreement to be construed or interpreted against any party shall not apply to any construction or
interpretation hereof.

2. Purchase; Closing

2.1 PURCHASE AND SALE OF SHARES

At Closing, Buyer shall purchase, or cause to be purchased, from Shareholders, and Shareholders shall sell, transfer, assign, convey and deliver to Buyer,
all of the Shares, free and clear of any Encumbrances.

2.2 PAYMENT FOR OUTSTANDING OPTIONS

At or prior to Closing, Seller shall pay the holders of the Outstanding Options, in exchange for each such holder’s execution of an Option Payoff, an
amount equal to $1.23 minus the exercise price for each share subject to such Outstanding Options, for each holder as set forth in Annex II and the aggregate
amount to all holders of the Outstanding Options as set forth in Annex II.

2.3 PURCHASE PRICE

The aggregate purchase price for the Shares shall be $19,000,000, subject to adjustment following the Closing pursuant to Section 2.5 and Section 2.8
(the “Purchase Price”). The Purchase Price shall be paid as provided in Sections 2.7(a) and (b).

2.4 ISSUANCE OF LUNA STOCK OPTIONS

Contemporaneously with Closing, Buyer will award Yao, in connection with the Consulting Agreement, stock options under the Luna Innovations
Incorporated 2016 Equity Incentive Plan pursuant to which a number of shares of Common Stock of Luna Innovations Incorporated will be issuable with a
Black-Scholes valuation of approximately $1,000,000. These stock options will vest over the 4-year period of the Consulting Agreement and have an exercise
price of “Fair Market Value” of such Common Stock under such plan, namely its closing sales price on the NASDAQ Capital Market on the date of grant (which
shall be the date of the Consulting Agreement).

2.5 EARN-OUT

(a)    Earn-Out Event. As additional consideration for the purchase of the Shares, if and only if the Revenues are:

(i) at least $[***] (the “Earn-Out Event”), Buyer shall pay to Sellers the sum of $250,000; and

(ii) up to an additional $750,000 paid on a pro-rated basis to the extent Revenues are between $[***] and $[***].

For example, if Seller achieves Revenues of $[***] (for the twelve months following Closing), the total earn-out payable would be $625,000 ($250,000
for achieving $[***] of Revenues, and an additional $375,000 for the pro-rated amount between $[***] and $[***]) (such payment or any of the payments under
clauses (i) – (ii) above, the “Earn-Out Payment”).

(b)    Procedures Applicable to Determination of the Earn-Out Event.

(i)    On or before the thirtieth (30th) day after the Earn-Out Period, Buyer shall prepare and deliver to Shareholder Representative a written
statement (the “Revenues Calculation Statement”) setting forth in reasonable detail its determination of Revenues.

(ii)    If the Revenues Calculation Statement reflects Revenues of less than $[***], Shareholder Representative shall have 30 days after receipt of
the Revenues Calculation Statement (in each case, the “Earn-Out Review Period”) to review the Revenues Calculation Statement. During the Earn-Out Review
Period, Shareholder Representative and its Representatives shall have the right to inspect Buyer’s books and records relating to Revenues during normal
business hours at Buyer’s offices, upon reasonable prior notice and solely for purposes reasonably related to the determination of Revenues; provided that (A)
such access shall be in a manner that does not interfere with the normal business operations of the Business and Buyer and (B) the Persons conducting such



inspection execute a confidentiality agreement in form reasonably satisfactory to Buyer. Prior to the expiration of the Earn-Out Review Period, Shareholder
Representative may object to the calculation of Revenues set forth in the Revenues Calculation Statement by delivering a written notice of objection (a
“Revenues Calculation Objection Notice”) to Buyer. Any Revenues Calculation Objection Notice shall specify the items in the applicable Revenues Calculation
disputed by Shareholder Representative and shall describe in reasonable detail the basis for such objection, as well as the amount in dispute. If Shareholder
Representative fails to deliver a Revenues Calculation Objection Notice to Buyer prior to the expiration of the Earn-Out Review Period, then the Revenues
Calculation set forth in the Revenues Calculation Statement shall be final and binding on the parties hereto. If Shareholder Representative timely delivers a
Revenues Calculation Objection Notice, Buyer and Shareholder Representative shall negotiate in good faith to resolve the disputed items and agree upon the
resulting amount of the Revenues for such period. If Buyer and Shareholder Representative are unable to reach agreement within 60 days after such Revenues
Calculation Objection Notice has been given, all unresolved disputed items shall be promptly referred to the Accounting Expert. The Accounting Expert shall be
directed to render a written report on the unresolved disputed items with respect to the applicable Revenues Calculation as promptly as practicable, but in no
event greater than 60 days after such submission to the Accounting Expert, and to resolve only those unresolved disputed items set forth in the Revenues
Calculation Objection Notice. If unresolved disputed items are submitted to the Accounting Expert, Buyer and Shareholder Representative shall each furnish to
the Accounting Expert such work papers, schedules and other documents and information relating to the unresolved disputed items as the Accounting Expert
may reasonably request. The Accounting Expert shall resolve the disputed items based solely on the applicable definitions and other terms in this Agreement and
the presentations by Buyer and Shareholder Representative, and not by independent review. The Accounting Expert shall not assign a value to any item in
dispute greater than the greatest value of such item assigned to it by Buyer, on the one hand, or Shareholder Representative, on the other hand, or less than the
smallest value of such item assigned to it by Buyer, on the one hand, or Shareholder Representative, on the other hand. The resolution of the dispute and the
calculation of Revenues that is the subject of the applicable Revenues Calculation Objection Notice by the Accounting Expert shall be final and binding on the
parties hereto. If Revenues for such period as determined by the Accounting Expert are (i) either less than $[***] or the determination by the Accounting Expert
does not result in Shareholders receiving an Earn-Out Payment amount that is greater than the Earn-Out Payment amount payable under the Revenues
Calculation Statement, Shareholders shall bear all of the fees and expenses of the Accounting Expert; (ii) $[***] to $[***] and the determination by the
Accounting Expert does result in Shareholders receiving an Earn-Out Payment amount that is greater than the Earn-Out Payment amount payable under the
Revenues Calculation Statement, the fees and expenses of the Accounting Expert shall be borne by Shareholder Representative and Buyer in proportion to the
amounts by which their respective calculations of Revenues differ from Revenues as finally determined by the Accounting Expert; and (iii) $[***] or greater,
Buyer shall bear all of the fees and expenses of the Accounting Expert.

(iii)    Earn-Out Payment. If a determination has been made by Buyer or, pursuant to Section 2.5(b), by the Accounting Expert, that the Earn-Out Event
has occurred, then subject to Section 2.5(d), the Earn-Out Payment shall be paid no later than three Business Days following the date of either the Revenues
Calculation Statement if it reflects that the Earn-Out Event has occurred or the date the Accounting Expert notifies the parties that it has determined that the
Earn-Out Event has occurred. If payable hereunder, Buyer shall pay to Shareholder Representative (for the benefit of the Shareholders, their Pro Rata Share) the
Earn-Out Payment less the Employee Bonuses, in cash by wire transfer of immediately available funds to such bank account for Shareholders as directed by
Shareholder Representative in writing. If the Earn-Out Event has not occurred (i.e. Revenues are less than $[***]), no Earn-Out Payment shall be due or
payable. If payable hereunder, Buyer shall cause Seller to pay the Employee Bonuses in accordance with Schedule 1.1; provided, however, that Seller shall not
pay any Employee Bonus to or for an employee whose employment with Seller terminates before receipt of that employee’s Employee Bonus. Company shall
instead, in a reasonable period of time after the scheduled payment of an Employee Bonus pursuant to the terms herein, remit all Employee Bonuses attributable
to such terminated employees to Shareholder Representative (for the benefit of the Shareholders, their Pro Rata Share). Buyer and Shareholder Representative
shall mutually agree on reasonable timing and procedures for remittance of such Employee Bonuses to Shareholder Representative.

(c)    Post-Closing Operation. Subsequent to the Closing, Buyer shall have sole discretion with regard to all matters relating to the operation of the
Business; provided that during the Earn-Out Review Period, (a) Buyer shall not change the brand name of the products being sold by the Business, and (b)
Buyer shall not move Seller’s primary operating facility located 14351-14355 Pipeline Avenue, Chino, California 91710, and (c) Buyer shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to realize Revenues and not take any actions in bad faith that would have the intended effect of avoiding the Earn-out Payment.

(d)    Right of Set-Off. Subject to Section 11.4(f), Buyer shall have the right to withhold and set off against any amount otherwise due to be paid pursuant
to this Section 2.5 the amount of any Losses to which any Buyer Indemnified Party is entitled under Section 11.2 of this Agreement, for amounts finally
determined pursuant to Section 11.2.

(e)    No Security. The parties hereto understand and agree that (i) the contingent right to receive the Earn-out Payment shall not be represented by any
form of certificate or other instrument, is not transferable, and does not constitute an equity or ownership interest in Buyer, (ii) Shareholders shall not have any
rights as a security holder of Buyer as a result of their contingent right to receive the Earn-Out Payment hereunder, and (iii) no interest is payable with respect to
the Earn-Out Payment.

(f)    Adjustments for Tax Purposes. Any payments made pursuant to this Section 2.7 shall be treated as an adjustment to the Purchase Price by the parties
for Tax purposes, unless otherwise required by Law.

2.6 CLOSING

The closing of the Contemplated Transactions (“Closing”) shall take place on as soon as practical when all Closing conditions set forth in Sections 7 and
8 have been satisfied or duly waived (other than conditions which, by their nature, are to be satisfied on the Closing Date, but subject to the satisfaction or due
waiver of such conditions at such time) by electronic mail or overnight courier delivery as the parties may agree. The date on which the Closing takes place shall
be the “Closing Date”. The Closing shall be deemed to be effective as of the Closing Effective Time.

2.7 CLOSING OBLIGATIONS

In addition to any other documents or deliverables to be delivered under other provisions of this Agreement, at the Closing:

(a)    Buyer shall pay in cash by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account or accounts designated in writing by Shareholder
Representative to Buyer, the Purchase Price plus (i) the amount of any Closing Date Cash, less (ii) the Escrow Amount, less (iii) Seller Transaction Expenses,
less (iv) the Expense Fund Amount;



(b)    Buyer shall pay the Escrow Amount, in cash by wire transfer of immediately available funds, to the Escrow Agent, to be held and disbursed by the
Escrow Agent in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement;

(c)    Buyer shall pay in cash by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account or accounts of each Person designated in writing by
Shareholder Representative as owed Seller Transaction Expenses, an amount in cash by wire transfer of immediately available funds, set forth on invoices
delivered to Buyer from Seller;

(d)    Buyer shall pay or cause to be paid, in cash by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated in writing by Shareholder
Representative to Buyer, an amount equal to the Expense Fund Amount;

(e)    Seller and Shareholders shall deliver or cause to be delivered to Buyer the following items (in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer
and its counsel, unless otherwise specified below):

(i)    stock certificates representing all of the Shares accompanied by duly executed stock powers (“Stock Powers”) sufficient to transfer the
Shares from each Shareholder to Buyer, free and clear of all Encumbrances;

(ii)    waivers (“Waivers”) of certain provisions in Seller’s Amended and Restated Bylaws and in the Shareholder Agreement by and among Seller
and certain shareholders named therein dated June 27, 2011, along with a general release in favor of Seller, in substantially the form of Exhibit B, duly
executed by each Shareholder;

(iii)    a license related to patents and patent applications currently owned by Yao in substantially the form of and as identified in Exhibit C, duly
executed by Yao (the “Yao Patent License”);

(iv)    an escrow agreement in substantially the form of Exhibit D, duly executed by Shareholder Representative (the “Escrow Agreement”);

(v)    a consent to assignment of lease in substantially the form of Exhibit E, duly executed by Seller and Landlord (the “Assignment of Lease”);

(vi)    a certificate pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 1.1445-2(b), duly executed and acknowledged by each Shareholder, certifying that
Shareholder is not a foreign person within the meaning of Section 1445 of the Code;

(vii)    written resignations of each director and officer of Seller;

(viii)    agreements for the termination of the Outstanding Options in exchange for payment in substantially the form of Exhibit F duly executed
by each holder of an Outstanding Option (an “Option Payoff”);

(ix)    a consulting agreement with Yao substantially in the form of Exhibit G duly executed by Yao (the “Consulting Agreement”);

(x)    an option agreement for the stock options described in Section 2.4 in the substantially the form attached as Exhibit H, duly executed by Yao
(the “Option Agreement”)

(xi)    a certificate dated as of a date not earlier than the third Business Day prior to Closing as to the good standing of Seller in the State of
California;

(xii)    a certificate, dated as of the Closing Date, executed by Shareholder Representative stating that the conditions specified in Section 7.1,
Section 7.2 and Section 7.8 have been satisfied;

(xiii)    a certificate of the Secretary of Seller, dated as of the Closing Date, certifying, as complete and accurate as of the Closing, attached copies
of the Governing Documents of Seller, (i) certifying and attaching all requisite resolutions or actions of Seller’s board of directors and shareholders
approving the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions and (ii) certifying as to the incumbency
and signatures of the officers of Seller executing this Agreement and any other Transaction Document;

(xiv)    legal opinion of counsel to Seller in a form reasonably satisfactory to Buyer;

(xv)    exclusive license from Beijing ChinaLight Technology Co., Ltd, in a form reasonably acceptable to Buyer (“Chinese Patent License”); and

(xvi)    all other consents, filings, certificates, documents, instruments and other items required to be delivered by Seller and Shareholders
pursuant to this Agreement, and all such other documents, certificates and instruments as Buyer shall reasonably request to give effect to the
Contemplated Transactions or to vest in Buyer good, valid, insurable and marketable title in and to the Shares free and clear of all Encumbrances.

(f)    Buyer shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the Shareholder Representative the following items (in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to
Shareholder Representative and its counsel, unless otherwise specified below):

(i)    the Escrow Agreement, duly executed by Buyer and the Escrow Agent;

(ii)    the Assignment of Lease, duly executed by Buyer;

(iii)    the Consulting Agreement, duly executed by Buyer;

(iv)    the Option Agreement, duly executed by Buyer;

(v)    a certificate, dated as of the Closing Date, executed by Buyer stating that the conditions specified in Section 8.1 and Section 8.2 have been
satisfied;

(vi)    a certificate of the Secretary of Buyer, dated as of the Closing Date, certifying, as complete and accurate as of the Closing, attached copies
of the Governing Documents of Buyer and certifying and attaching all requisite resolutions or actions of Buyer’s board of directors approving the
execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions and certifying as to the incumbency and signatures of
the officers of Buyer executing this Agreement and any other Transaction Document; and



(vii)    all other consents, filings, certificates, documents, instruments and other items required to be delivered by Buyer pursuant to this
Agreement, and all such other documents, certificates and instruments as Seller or Shareholder Representative shall reasonably request to give effect to
the Contemplated Transactions.

2.8 POST-CLOSING FINAL NET WORKING CAPITAL ADJUSTMENT

(a)    As soon as practicable but in no event later than 75 days after the Closing Date, Buyer shall deliver to Shareholder Representative a statement (the
“Net Working Capital Statement”) of the Net Working Capital as of the Closing without giving effect to any of the Contemplated Transactions and determined in
accordance with the Applicable Accounting Principles (as may be adjusted pursuant to Section 2.8(f) below, the “Final Net Working Capital”), together with
supporting calculations. Buyer will also include in the Net Working Capital Statement a calculation of the actual Cash and Cash Equivalents as of Closing
Effective Time minus the Closing Date Cash (such difference, the “Cash Adjustment”), with the understanding that any positive Cash Adjustment shall be due
and payable to Shareholders and any negative Cash Adjustment shall be due and payable to Buyer. If Buyer fails to deliver the Net Working Capital Statement
by the foregoing due date of 75 days after the Closing Date, then any amounts that may ultimately be payable by Buyer pursuant to Section 2.8(d) below shall
bear interest from such due date at the Prime Rate.

(b)    For purposes of complying with the terms set forth in this Section 2.8, each party shall cooperate with and make available to the other parties and
their respective Representatives all information, records, data and working papers, and shall permit reasonable access to its officers, employees, agents, books
and records, as may be reasonably required in connection with the preparation and analysis of the Net Working Capital Statement and the Final Net Working
Capital reflected in the Net Working Capital Statement and the resolution of any disputes in connection with the Net Working Capital Statement (in any case
until the Accounting Expert has made a final determination pursuant to Section 2.8(f) below, if applicable).

(c)    If the Final Net Working Capital is more than $100,000 less than the Net Working Capital Target, then Shareholder Representative shall cause to be
paid to Buyer, as an adjustment to the Purchase Price, by wire transfer of immediately available funds, an amount in cash equal to the difference between the Net
Working Capital Target and the Final Net Working Capital, subject to the Cash Adjustment, within 3 Business Days after determination of Final Net Working
Capital pursuant to Section 2.8(f). Buyer may elect, in its sole and absolute discretion, that any such payment owed by Shareholders to Buyer pursuant to this
Section 2.8(c) be paid (i) by the Escrow Agent from the Escrow Amount pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreement or (ii) by Shareholder Representative
on behalf of the Shareholders.

(d)    If the Final Net Working Capital is more than $100,000 greater than the Net Working Capital Target, then Buyer shall cause to be paid to
Shareholder Representative, as an adjustment to the Purchase Price, by wire transfer of immediately available funds, an amount in cash equal to the difference
between the Net Working Capital Target and the Final Net Working Capital, subject to the Cash Adjustment, within 3 Business Days after determination of Final
Net Working Capital pursuant to Section 2.8(f).

(e)    If the Final Net Working Capital is within $100,000 of the Net Working Capital Target, then the Cash Adjustment shall be paid to the Shareholder
Representative or the Buyer, as the case may be, within 3 Business Days after determination of Final Net Working Capital pursuant to Section 2.8(f). Buyer may
elect, in its sole and absolute discretion, that any such payment owed by Shareholders to Buyer pursuant to this Section 2.8(e) be paid (i) by the Escrow Agent
from the Escrow Amount pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreement or (ii) by Shareholder Representative on behalf of the Shareholders.

(f)    Within 45 days following receipt by Shareholder Representative of the Net Working Capital Statement, Shareholder Representative shall either
inform Buyer in writing that the Net Working Capital Statement is acceptable, or deliver written notice (the “Notice of Disagreement”) to Buyer of any dispute
Shareholder Representative has with respect to the preparation or content of the Net Working Capital Statement or the Final Net Working Capital reflected in the
Net Working Capital Statement. The Notice of Disagreement must describe in reasonable detail the items contained in the Net Working Capital Statement that
Shareholder Representative disputes and the disputed amount of any such disputes. Any items not identified on the Notice of Disagreement shall be deemed
agreed to by Shareholder Representative and all amounts that are not in dispute shall be paid by the party owing such payment by wire transfer of immediately
available funds no later than three (3) Business Days after the time period in which Shareholder Representative may deliver the Notice of Disagreement expires.
If Shareholder Representative does not notify Buyer of a dispute with respect to the Net Working Capital Statement within such 45-day period, such Net
Working Capital Statement and the Final Net Working Capital reflected in the Net Working Capital Statement will be final, conclusive and binding on the
parties. In the event a Notice of Disagreement is delivered to Buyer, Buyer and Shareholder Representative shall negotiate in good faith to resolve such dispute.
If Buyer and Shareholder Representative, notwithstanding such good faith effort, fail to resolve such dispute within 10 Business Days after Shareholder
Representative advises Buyer of its objections, then Buyer and Shareholder Representative jointly shall engage the Accounting Expert to resolve such dispute in
accordance with the standards set forth in this Section 2.8(f). The Shareholder Representative and Buyer shall use reasonable efforts to cause the Accounting
Expert to render a written decision resolving the matters submitted to the Accounting Expert within 30 days of the making of such submission. The scope of the
disputes to be resolved by the Accounting Expert shall be limited only to the items in dispute that were included in the Notice of Disagreement and if such items
were calculated in accordance with Applicable Accounting Principles and the definitions set forth in this Agreement, and the Accounting Expert shall determine,
on such basis, whether and to what extent, the Net Working Capital Statement and the Final Net Working Capital reflected in the Net Working Capital
Statement, require adjustment. The Final Net Working Capital, as adjusted by the Accounting Expert, shall be deemed the Final Net Working Capital. The
Accounting Expert is not to make any other determination, including any determination as to whether the Net Working Capital Target is correct. The Accounting
Expert’s decision shall be based solely on presentations by Buyer and Shareholder Representative (and not independent review) and made in strict accordance
with the terms of this Agreement, without regard for principles of equity. The Accounting Expert shall apply the relevant provisions of this Agreement to the
disputed amounts, and shall have no authority to alter, modify, amend, add to or subtract from any term of provision of this Agreement. The Accounting Expert
shall not assign a value to any item in dispute greater than the greatest value for such item assigned to it by Buyer, on the one hand, or Shareholder
Representative, on the other hand, or less than the smallest value for such item assigned to it by Buyer, on the one hand, or Shareholder Representative, on the
other hand. The fees and expenses of the Accounting Expert shall be borne by Buyer and/or Shareholders in the same proportion that the aggregate dollar
amount of such remaining disputed items so submitted to the Accounting Expert that are unsuccessfully disputed by Buyer, on the one hand, and Shareholder
Representative, on the other hand, as finally determined by the Accounting Expert, bears to the total dollar amount of such remaining disputed items so
submitted. All determinations made by the Accounting Expert will be final, conclusive and binding on the parties.

2.9 CONSENTS

If any Material Consent is not obtained or if any attempted assignment would be ineffective or would impair Buyer’s rights so that Buyer would not in
effect acquire the benefit of all such rights, Shareholder Representative and Buyer, to the maximum extent permitted by Legal Requirement and in respect of the



underlying Asset, shall cooperate after the Closing in order to: (i) obtain for Buyer the benefits thereunder, to enforce, at the request of and for the account of the
Buyer at Buyer’s expense, any rights of Seller or its Affiliates arising thereunder against any Person, including the right to elect to terminate in accordance with
the terms thereof upon the direction of the Buyer; and (ii) make any other reasonable arrangement designed to provide such benefits to Buyer. To the extent
Buyer is provided with the benefits of any such Asset, Buyer shall perform the obligations of Seller or its Affiliates thereunder. To the extent that any liability
relates to any such Asset, Shareholder Representative shall bear all of the costs arising from such liability until such Asset is transferred and assigned to Buyer
or Buyer obtains all the benefits of such Asset under this Section 2.9; provided, that to the extent Buyer obtains the benefits of such Asset, Buyer shall bear the
costs arising from such related liability.

2.10 ESCROW FUND

The Escrow Amount delivered by Buyer at Closing pursuant to the Escrow Agreement shall be held in an escrow account and shall serve as security for
payment of any indemnification obligations of Shareholders (the “Escrow Fund”). If there are no outstanding claims for indemnification by the Buyer
Indemnified Parties as of the Escrow Termination Date, all amounts remaining in the Escrow Fund shall be distributed by the Escrow Agent in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the Escrow Agreement to Shareholder Representative. If there are outstanding claims for indemnification by the Buyer Indemnified
Parties on the Escrow Termination Date, all amounts remaining in the Escrow Fund, less the disputed amount corresponding to each such outstanding claim,
shall be distributed by the Escrow Agent in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Escrow Agreement to Shareholder Representative on behalf of the
Shareholders; provided, that the remaining balance of any amounts withheld with respect to each outstanding claim shall be distributed to Shareholder
Representative upon resolution and final satisfaction of such outstanding claim in accordance with Article 11 and the provisions of the Escrow Agreement. Final
distribution of the Escrow Fund shall be made net of any accrued fees and expenses of the Escrow Agent then outstanding owed by Shareholder Representative
on behalf of the Shareholders pursuant to this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, Buyer will pay one-half and Shareholder Representative will pay one-half
of all fees and expenses of the Escrow Agent under the Escrow Agreement.

3. Representations and Warranties of Seller and Shareholders

Except as set forth in the correspondingly numbered and/or lettered section of the attached Disclosure Schedules (a “Schedule”), Seller and each
Shareholder represents and warrants to Buyer as follows (but only as to itself, himself or herself in Section 3.6 below):

3.1 ORGANIZATION AND GOOD STANDING

(a)    Schedule 3.1(a) contains a complete and accurate list of Seller’s jurisdiction of incorporation and any other jurisdictions in which it is qualified to do
business as a foreign corporation. Seller is duly qualified to do business as a foreign corporation and is in good standing under the laws of each state or other
jurisdiction in which either the ownership or use of the properties owned or used by it, or the nature of the activities conducted by it, requires such qualification.  

(b)    Seller is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation, with full corporate
power and authority to conduct its Business as it is now being conducted, to own or use the properties and assets that it purports to own or use, and to perform
all of its obligations under the Seller Contracts.

(c)    Complete and accurate copies of the Governing Documents of Seller have previously been made available to Buyer.

(d)    Except as disclosed on Schedule 3.1(d), Seller has no Subsidiary and does not own any shares of capital stock or other securities of any other
Person.

3.2 ENFORCEABILITY; AUTHORITY; NO CONFLICT

(a)    Upon the execution and delivery by Seller of the Transaction Documents to be executed or delivered by Seller at Closing (collectively, the “Seller’s
Closing Documents”), each of Seller’s Closing Documents will constitute the legal, valid and binding obligation of Seller, enforceable against Seller in
accordance with its terms, except as such enforcement may be limited by (i) applicable bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, liquidation, fraudulent
conveyance, moratorium or other similar laws relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights and remedies generally, (ii) applicable laws, court
decisions and general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is adjudicated in proceeding in equity or at law), (iii) procedural
requirements of law applicable to conflicts of laws principles and the exercise of creditors’ rights and remedies generally, and (iv) matters of public policy
(“Equitable Exceptions”).

(b)    Seller has the right, power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Seller’s Closing Documents to which it is a party and to
perform its obligations under this Agreement and the Seller’s Closing Documents, and such action has been duly authorized by all necessary action by Seller’s
shareholders and board of directors.

(c)    Except as set forth in Schedule 3.2(c) or except as otherwise expressly contemplated by this Agreement and/or the other Transaction Documents,
neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement nor the consummation or performance of any of the Contemplated Transactions by Seller will, directly or
indirectly (with or without notice or lapse of time):

(i)    Breach (A) any provision of any of the Governing Documents of Seller or (B) any resolution adopted by the board of directors or the
shareholders of Seller;

(ii)    Breach or give any Governmental Body or other Person the right to challenge any of the Contemplated Transactions or to exercise any
remedy or obtain any relief under any Legal Requirement or any Order to which Seller, or the Business, may be subject;

(iii)    contravene, conflict with or result in a violation or breach of any of the terms or requirements of, or give any Governmental Body the right
to revoke, withdraw, suspend, cancel, terminate or modify, any Governmental Authorization that is held by Seller or that otherwise relates to the Shares
or to the Business;

(iv)    Breach any provision of, or give any Person the right to declare a default or exercise any remedy under, or to accelerate the maturity or
performance of, or payment under, or to cancel, terminate or modify, any Material Contract;

(v)    result in the imposition or creation of any Encumbrance upon or with respect to any of the Business, except for Permitted Encumbrances; or

(vi)    result in any shareholder of Seller having the right to exercise dissenters’ appraisal rights.



(d)    Except as set forth in Schedule 3.2(d), Seller is not required to give any notice to or obtain any Consent from any Person in connection with the
execution and delivery of this Agreement or the consummation or performance of any of the Contemplated Transactions.

3.3 CAPITALIZATION

Schedule 3.3 sets forth the numbers and par value of the authorized and issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of Seller, as well as the name of
each Shareholder, and the number of shares issuable pursuant to the Outstanding Options, as well as the name of the holders thereof. Except for the Outstanding
Options and as set forth in Schedule 3.3, there are no outstanding Contracts calling for the issuance, sale or transfer of any equity securities or other securities of
Seller, including without limitation any securities acquirable by exercise of any option or right. None of the outstanding equity securities of Seller was issued in
violation of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), or any other Legal Requirement. All of the Shares have been duly authorized, are
validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, and are owned of record and beneficially by each Shareholder as set forth on Schedule 3.3, free and clear of all
Encumbrances.

3.4 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Seller has made available to Buyer: (a) audited consolidated financial statements of Seller as at December 31, 2017, December 31, 2016, and December
31, 2015; and (b) the balance sheet of Seller as at December 31, 2018 (the “Interim Balance Sheet”) and the related statement of income for the 12 months then
ended (collectively the “Financial Statements”). Except as may be in accord with the Applicable Accounting Principles or as set forth in Schedule 3.4, the
Financial Statements (i) fairly present, in all material respects, the financial condition and the results of operations of Seller as at the respective dates of and for
the periods referred to in the Financial Statements, all in accordance with Applicable Accounting Principles, and (ii) reflect the consistent application of such
accounting principles throughout the periods and (iii) have been prepared from and are in accordance with the accounting Records of Seller.

3.5 BOOKS AND RECORDS

The books of account and other financial Records of Seller, all of which have been made available to Buyer, are materially complete and correct and
represent actual, bona fide transactions and have been maintained in accordance with reasonable business practices. The minute books of Seller, all of which
have been made available to Buyer, contain accurate and complete Records of all meetings held of, and corporate action taken by, the shareholders, the board of
directors and committees of the board of directors of Seller, and no material meeting of any such shareholders, board of directors or committee has been held for
which minutes have not been prepared or are not contained in such minute books during such period.

3.6 SHAREHOLDER REPRESENTATIONS

(a)    This Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of each Shareholder, enforceable against such Shareholder in accordance with its
terms. Upon the execution and delivery by each Shareholder of the Transaction Documents to be executed or delivered by a Shareholder at Closing (collectively,
the “Shareholder’s Closing Documents”), each of Shareholder’s Closing Documents will constitute the legal, valid and binding obligation of each Shareholder,
enforceable against each Shareholder in accordance with its terms, except as such enforcement may be limited by Equitable Exceptions.

(b)    Each Shareholder has the right, power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Shareholder’s Closing Documents and to
perform its obligations under this Agreement and such Shareholder’s Closing Documents.

(c)    Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement or any Shareholder’s Closing Documents nor the consummation or performance of any of the
Contemplated Transactions will, directly or indirectly, result in any Breach.

3.7 ROYALTIES

Schedule 3.7 sets forth any and all royalties or license fees or similar payments due, payable or paid in respect of the sale or use of any products, services
or components or Intellectual Property by Seller or the Business in the past 5 years, except Standard Licenses.

3.8 REAL PROPERTY

(a)    Seller does not own any of the real property used in or necessary for the conduct of the Business.

(b)    Schedule 3.8 sets forth each parcel of real property leased by Seller or used in or necessary for the conduct of the Business (together with all rights,
title and interest of Seller in and to leasehold improvements relating thereto, including, but not limited to, security deposits, reserves or prepaid rents paid in
connection therewith, collectively, the “Leased Real Property”), and a true and complete list of all leases, subleases, licenses, rental, concessions and other
agreements (whether written or oral), including all amendments, extensions renewals, guaranties and other agreements with respect thereto, pertaining to the use
or occupancy by Seller of any land, improvements or other facilities not owned by Seller or pursuant to which Seller holds any Leased Real Property (each, a
“Real Property Lease”, and collectively, the “Real Property Leases”). Seller has made available to Buyer a true and complete copy of each Real Property Lease.
With respect to each Real Property Lease:

(i)    such Real Property Lease is valid, binding, enforceable and in full force and effect, and Seller enjoys peaceful and undisturbed possession of
the Leased Real Property;

(ii)    Seller is not in Breach under such Real Property Lease , and Seller has paid all rent due and payable under such Real Property Lease;

(iii)    Seller has not received nor given any written (or, to the Knowledge of Seller, non-written) notice of any default or event that with, if
applicable, notice and lapse of any cure period or the like, passage of time or both, would constitute a default by Seller under such Real Property Lease
and, to the Knowledge of Seller, no other party is in default thereof, and no party to any Real Property Lease has exercised any termination rights with
respect thereto;

(iv)    Seller has not subleased, assigned or otherwise granted to any Person the right to use or occupy such Leased Real Property or any portion
thereof; and

(v)    Seller has not pledged, mortgaged or otherwise granted an Encumbrance on its leasehold interest in any Leased Real Property.



(c)    Seller has not received any notice of (i) violations of building codes and/or zoning ordinances or other governmental or regulatory Legal
Requirements affecting the Leased Real Property, (ii) existing, pending or threatened condemnation proceedings affecting the Leased Real Property, or (iii)
existing, pending or threatened zoning, building code or other moratorium proceedings, or similar matters which could reasonably be expected to adversely
affect the ability to operate the Leased Real Property as currently operated. Neither the whole nor any material portion of any Leased Real Property has been
damaged or destroyed by fire or other casualty.

3.9 TITLE TO ASSETS; ENCUMBRANCES

(a)    Seller has good and valid title to all assets and rights (i) tangible and intangible, of any nature whatsoever, necessary to operate the Business in the
manner presently operated by Seller and (ii) include all of the operating assets of Seller (altogether, the “Assets”) (it being understood that some of the Assets
represent leasehold interests or license rights, in which case Seller does not have title to the underlying leased or licensed property). Seller has a good and valid
leasehold interest in the Leased Real Property described in the Real Property Leases.

(b)    All Assets (including leasehold interests) and the Leased Real Property are free and clear of Encumbrances except for the following (collectively
referred to as “Permitted Encumbrances”):

(i)    liens for Taxes not yet due and payable;

(ii)    mechanics’, carriers’, workmen’s, repairmen’s or other like liens arising or incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past
practice or amounts that are not delinquent and which are not, individually or in the aggregate, material to the Business, the Assets or the Leased Real
Property;

(iii)    easements, rights of way, zoning ordinances and other similar encumbrances affecting any Leased Real Property that are not, individually or
in the aggregate, material to the Business or the Assets, and which do not prohibit or interfere with the current occupancy or operation of such Leased
Real Property; or

(iv)    liens arising under original purchase price conditional sales contracts and equipment leases with third parties entered into in the Ordinary
Course of Business that are not, individually or in the aggregate, material to the Business, the Assets or the Leased Real Property.

3.10 CONDITION OF PROPERTY

(a)    To the Knowledge of Seller, use of each Leased Real Property for the various purposes for which it is presently being used is permitted as of right
under all applicable zoning legal requirements and is not subject to “permitted nonconforming” use or structure classifications. To the Knowledge of Seller, all
improvements comprising the Leased Real Property are in compliance with all applicable Legal Requirements, including those pertaining to zoning, building
and the disabled, are in good repair and in good condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted. To the Knowledge of Seller, there is no existing or proposed plan to
modify or realign any street or highway or any existing or proposed eminent domain proceeding that would result in the taking of all or any part of any Leased
Real Property or that would prevent or hinder the continued use of any Leased Real Property as heretofore used in the conduct of the Business.

(b)    Except as disclosed on Schedule 3.10(b), (i) each material item of Tangible Personal Property currently being used to operate the Business is in
good repair and good operating condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted, is suitable for immediate use in the Ordinary Course of Business and is free from
material defects and (ii) no item of Tangible Personal Property currently being used to operate the Business is in need of repair or replacement other than as part
of routine maintenance in the Ordinary Course of Business. Except as disclosed in Schedule 3.10(b), all Tangible Personal Property used in Seller’s Business is
in the possession of Seller.  

3.11 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

The Accounts Receivable reflected on the Interim Balance Sheet and the Accounts Receivable arising after the date thereof (a) have arisen from bona
fide transactions entered into by Seller involving the sale of goods or the rendering of services in the Ordinary Course of Business; (b) constitute only valid,
undisputed claims of Seller not subject to claims of set-off or other defenses or counterclaims other than normal cash discounts accrued in the Ordinary Course
of Business of Seller; and (c) subject to a reserve for bad debts shown on the Interim Balance Sheet or, with respect to Accounts Receivable arising after the
Interim Balance Sheet Date, on the accounting records of the Business, are, to the Knowledge of Seller, collectible in the Ordinary Course of Business of Seller.
The reserve for bad debts shown on the Interim Balance Sheet or, with respect to Accounts Receivable arising after the Interim Balance Sheet Date, on the
accounting records of the Business, have been determined in accordance with Applicable Accounting Principles, consistently applied, subject to normal year-end
adjustments and the absence of disclosures normally made in footnotes. To the Knowledge of Seller, there is no contest, claim, defense or right of setoff, other
than returns or warranty claims in the Ordinary Course of Business of Seller, under any Contract with any account debtor of an Account Receivable relating to
the amount or validity of such Account Receivable. Schedule 3.11 contains a complete and accurate list of all Accounts Receivable as of the date of the Interim
Balance Sheet, which list sets forth the aging of each such Account Receivable.

3.12 INVENTORIES

All items included in the Inventories consist of a quality and quantity usable and, with respect to finished goods, saleable, in the Ordinary Course of
Business of Seller except for obsolete items, all of which have been written off or written down to net realizable value in the Balance Sheet or the Interim
Balance Sheet or on the accounting Records of Seller as of the Closing Date, as the case may be. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.12, Seller is not in possession
of any inventory not owned by Seller, including goods already sold. All of the Inventories have been valued at the lower of cost or market. Inventories now on
hand that were purchased after the date of the Balance Sheet or the Interim Balance Sheet were purchased in the Ordinary Course of Business of Seller at a cost
not exceeding market prices prevailing at the time of purchase. The quantities of each item of Inventories (whether raw materials, work-in-process or finished
goods) are consistent with the past practices of Seller. Except as may be in accord with the Applicable Accounting Principles or as set forth in Schedule 3.12,
work-in-process Inventories are now valued, and will be valued on the Closing Date, according to Applicable Accounting Principles.

3.13 NO UNDISCLOSED LIABILITIES

Seller has no Liabilities with respect to the Business or the Assets of the type required to be reflected as liabilities on a balance sheet prepared in
accordance with Applicable Accounting Principles, except for Liabilities reflected or reserved against in the Balance Sheet or the Interim Balance Sheet, Current



Liabilities incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business of Seller since the date of the Interim Balance Sheet and Liabilities under this Agreement or any
Transaction Documents.

3.14 TAXES

(a)    Seller has filed or caused to be filed on a timely basis all Tax Returns and all reports with respect to Taxes that are or were required to be filed
pursuant to applicable Legal Requirements. All Tax Returns and reports filed by Seller are true, correct and complete in all material respects. Seller has paid, or
made provision for the payment of, all Taxes that have or may have become due for all periods covered by the Tax Returns or otherwise, or pursuant to any
written assessment received by Seller, except such Taxes, if any, as are being contested in good faith and as to which adequate reserves (determined in
accordance with Applicable Accounting Principles) have been provided in the Balance Sheet and the Interim Balance Sheet. Except as set forth in Schedule
3.14(a), Seller currently is not the beneficiary of any extension of time within which to file any Tax Return. No written claim has ever been made or, to the
Seller’s Knowledge, is expected to be made by any Governmental Body in a jurisdiction where Seller does not file Tax Returns that it is or may be subject to
taxation by that jurisdiction. There are no Encumbrances (other than Permitted Encumbrances) on any of the Assets that arose in connection with any failure (or
alleged failure) to pay any Tax, and Seller has no Knowledge of any basis for assertion of any claims attributable to Taxes that, if adversely determined, would
result in any such Encumbrance. Seller has (1) withheld all required amounts from its employees, agents, contractors, customers and nonresidents and remitted
such amounts to the proper agencies; (2) paid or accrued for all employer contributions and premiums; and (3) filed all federal, state, local and foreign returns
and reports with respect to employee income Tax withholding, social security, unemployment Taxes and premiums, all in compliance with the withholding Tax
provisions of the Code, as amended, as in effect for the applicable year and other applicable federal, state, local or foreign Legal Requirements.

(b)    Seller has delivered or made available to Buyer copies of, and Schedule 3.14(b) contains a complete and accurate list of, all Tax Returns filed for tax
years from and including 2013. Schedule 3.14(b) contains a complete and accurate list of all Tax Returns of Seller that have been audited or are currently under
audit and accurately describe any deficiencies or other amounts that were paid or are currently being contested. No undisclosed deficiencies are expected to be
asserted with respect to any such audit. All deficiencies proposed as a result of such audits have been paid, reserved against, settled or are being contested in
good faith by appropriate proceedings as described in Schedule 3.14(b). Seller has delivered, or made available to Buyer, copies of any examination reports,
statements or deficiencies or similar items with respect to such audits. Except as provided in Schedule 3.14(b), Seller has no Knowledge that any Governmental
Body is likely to assess any additional taxes for any period for which Tax Returns have been filed. There is no dispute or written claim concerning any Taxes of
Seller either (i) claimed or raised by any Governmental Body in writing or (ii) as to which Seller has Knowledge. Except as described in Schedule 3.14(b), Seller
has not given or been requested to give waivers or extensions (or is or would be subject to a waiver or extension given by any other Person) of any statute of
limitations relating to the payment of Taxes of Seller or for which Seller may be liable.

(c)    The charges, accruals and reserves with respect to Taxes on the Records of Seller are adequate (determined in accordance with Applicable
Accounting Principles) and are at least equal to Seller’s liability for Taxes. There exists no proposed tax assessment or deficiency against Seller except as
disclosed in the Interim Balance Sheet.

(d)    All Taxes that Seller is or was required by Legal Requirements to withhold, deduct or collect have been duly withheld, deducted and collected and,
to the extent required, have been paid to the proper Governmental Body or other Person.

3.15 NO MATERIAL ADVERSE EFFECT

Since the date of the Balance Sheet, there has not been any Material Adverse Effect.

3.16 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(a)    Set forth in Schedule 3.16(a) is a complete and correct list of all “employee benefit plans” as defined by Section 3(3) of ERISA, all specified fringe
benefit plans as defined in Section 6039D of the Code, and all other bonus, incentive-compensation, deferred-compensation, profit-sharing, stock-option, stock-
appreciation-right, stock-bonus, stock-purchase, employee-stock-ownership, savings, severance, change-in-control, supplemental-unemployment, layoff, salary-
continuation, retirement, pension, health, life-insurance, disability, accident, group-insurance, vacation, holiday, sick-leave, fringe-benefit or welfare plan, and
any other employee compensation or benefit plan, agreement, policy, practice, commitment, contract or understanding (whether qualified or nonqualified,
currently effective or terminated, written or unwritten) and any trust, escrow or other agreement related thereto that (i) is maintained or contributed to by Seller
or any other corporation or trade or business controlled by, controlling or under common control with Seller (within the meaning of Section 414 of the Code or
Section 4001(a)(14) or 4001(b) of ERISA) (“ERISA Affiliate”) or has been maintained or contributed to by Seller or any ERISA Affiliate, or with respect to
which Seller or any ERISA Affiliate has or may have any liability, and (ii) provides benefits, or describes policies or procedures applicable to any current or
former director, officer, employee or service provider of Seller or any ERISA Affiliate, or the dependents of any thereof, regardless of how (or whether)
liabilities for the provision of benefits are accrued or assets are acquired or dedicated with respect to the funding thereof (collectively the “Employee Plans”).
Schedule 3.16(a) identifies as such any Employee Plan that is (w) a “Defined Benefit Plan” (as defined in Section 414(l) of the Code); (x) a plan intended to
meet the requirements of Section 401(a) of the Code; (y) a “Multiemployer Plan” (as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA); or (z) a plan subject to Title IV of
ERISA, other than a Multiemployer Plan. Also set forth in Schedule 3.16(a) is a complete and correct list of all ERISA Affiliates of Seller during the last 6
years.

(b)    Seller has made available to Buyer true, accurate and complete copies of (i) the documents comprising each Employee Plan (or, with respect to any
Employee Plan which is unwritten, a detailed written description of eligibility, participation, benefits, funding arrangements, assets and any other matters which
relate to the obligations of Seller or any ERISA Affiliate); (ii) all trust agreements, insurance contracts or any other funding instruments related to the Employee
Plans; (iii) all rulings, determination letters, no-action letters or advisory opinions from the IRS, the U.S. Department of Labor, the Pension Benefit Guaranty
Corporation (“PBGC”) or any other Governmental Body that pertain to each Employee Plan and any open requests therefor; (iv) the most recent actuarial and
financial reports (audited and/or unaudited) and the annual reports filed with any Government Body with respect to the Employee Plans during the current year
and each of the three preceding years; (v) all collective bargaining agreements pursuant to which contributions to any Employee Plan(s) have been made or
obligations incurred (including both pension and welfare benefits) by Seller or any ERISA Affiliate, and all collective bargaining agreements pursuant to which
contributions are being made or obligations are owed by such entities; (vi) all securities registration statements filed with respect to any Employee Plan; (vii) all
contracts with third-party administrators, actuaries, investment managers, consultants and other independent contractors that relate to any Employee Plan, (viii)
with respect to Employee Plans that are subject to Title IV of ERISA, the Form PBGC-1 filed for each of the three most recent plan years; and (ix) all summary
plan descriptions, summaries of material modifications and memoranda, employee handbooks and other written communications regarding the Employee Plans.



(c)    Except as set forth in Schedule 3.16(c), full payment has been made of all amounts that are required under the terms of each Employee Plan to be
paid as contributions with respect to all periods prior to and including the last day of the most recent fiscal year of such Employee Plan ended on or before the
date of this Agreement and all periods thereafter prior to the Closing Date, and no accumulated funding deficiency or liquidity shortfall (as those terms are
defined in Section 302 of ERISA and Section 412 of the Code) has been incurred with respect to any such Employee Plan, whether or not waived. The value of
the assets of each Employee Plan exceeds the amount of all benefit liabilities (determined on a plan termination basis using the actuarial assumptions established
by the PBGC as of the Closing Date) of such Employee Plan. Seller is not required to provide security to an Employee Plan under Section 401(a)(29) of the
Code. Seller has paid in full all required insurance premiums, subject only to normal retrospective adjustments in the ordinary course, with regard to the
Employee Plans for all policy years or other applicable policy periods ending on or before the Closing Date.

(d)    No Employee Plan, if subject to Title IV of ERISA, has been completely or partially terminated, nor has any event occurred nor does any
circumstance exist that could result in the partial termination of such Employee Plan. The PBGC has not instituted or threatened a Proceeding to terminate or to
appoint a trustee to administer any of the Employee Plans pursuant to Subtitle 1 of Title IV of ERISA, and no condition or set of circumstances exists that
presents a material risk of termination or partial termination of any of the Employee Plans by the PBGC. None of the Employee Plans has been the subject of,
and no event has occurred or condition exists that could be deemed, a reportable event (as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA) as to which a notice would be
required (without regard to regulatory monetary thresholds) to be filed with the PBGC. Seller has paid in full all insurance premiums due to the PBGC with
regard to the Employee Plans for all applicable periods ending on or before the Closing Date.

(e)    Neither Seller nor any ERISA Affiliate has any liability or has Knowledge of any facts or circumstances that might give rise to any liability, and the
Contemplated Transactions will not result in any liability, (i) for the termination of or withdrawal from any Employee Plan under Sections 4062, 4063 or 4064 of
ERISA, (ii) for any lien imposed under Section 302(f) of ERISA or Section 412(n) of the Code, (iii) for any interest payments required under Section 302(e) of
ERISA or Section 412(m) of the Code, (iv) for any excise tax imposed by Section 4971 of the Code, (v) for any minimum funding contributions under Section
302(c)(11) of ERISA or Section 412(c)(11) of the Code or (vi) for withdrawal from any Multiemployer Plan under Section 4201 of ERISA.

(f)    Seller has, at all times, complied, and currently complies, in all material respects with the applicable continuation requirements for its welfare
benefit plans, including (1) Section 4980B of the Code (as well as its predecessor provision, Section 162(k) of the Code) and Sections 601 through 608,
inclusive, of ERISA, which provisions are hereinafter referred to collectively as “COBRA” and (2) any applicable state statutes mandating health insurance
continuation coverage for employees.

(g)    Except as set forth in Schedule 3.16(g), each Employee Welfare Benefit Plan (as defined in Section 3(1) of ERISA) that is a “group health plan”
within the meaning of Section 5000(b)(1) of the Code and Section 607(1) of ERISA has been administered in material compliance with, and Seller has otherwise
materially complied with the requirements of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010 and the regulations promulgated thereunder; and (ii) the
Medicare Secondary Payor Provisions of Section 1862 of the Social Security Act and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

(h)    The form of all Employee Plans is in compliance with the applicable terms of ERISA, the Code, and any other applicable laws, including the
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, the Family Medical Leave Act of 1993 and the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (including
in each case, any amendments thereto and any regulations promulgated thereunder), and such plans have been operated in compliance with such laws and the
written Employee Plan documents. Neither Seller nor any fiduciary of an Employee Plan has violated the requirements of Section 404 of ERISA. All required
reports and descriptions of the Employee Plans (including Internal Revenue Service Form 5500 Annual Reports, Summary Annual Reports and Summary Plan
Descriptions and Summaries of Material Modifications) have been (when required) timely filed with the IRS, the U.S. Department of Labor or other
Governmental Body and distributed as required, and all notices required by ERISA or the Code or any other Legal Requirement with respect to the Employee
Plans have been appropriately given.

(i)    Each Employee Plan that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code has received a favorable determination letter from the IRS, or
have adopted a plan that is preapproved by the IRS and Seller has no Knowledge of any circumstances that will or could result in revocation of any such
favorable determination letter or approval. Each trust created under any Employee Plan has been determined to be exempt from taxation under Section 501(a) of
the Code, and Seller is not aware of any circumstance that will or could result in a revocation of such exemption. Each Employee Welfare Benefit Plan that
utilizes a funding vehicle described in Section 501(c)(9) of the Code or is subject to the provisions of Section 505 of the Code has been the subject of a
notification by the IRS that such funding vehicle qualifies for tax-exempt status under Section 501(c)(9) of the Code or that the plan complies with Section 505
of the Code, unless the IRS does not, as a matter of policy, issue such notification with respect to the particular type of plan. With respect to each Employee
Plan, no event has occurred or condition exists that will or could give rise to a loss of any intended tax consequence or to any Tax under Section 511 of the Code.

(j)    There is no material pending or to the Knowledge of Seller threatened Proceeding relating to any Employee Plan. Neither Seller nor to the
Knowledge of Seller any fiduciary of an Employee Plan has engaged in a transaction with respect to any Employee Plan that, assuming the taxable period of
such transaction expired as of the date hereof, could subject Seller or Buyer to a Tax or penalty imposed by either Section 4975 of the Code or Section 502(l) of
ERISA or a violation of Section 406 of ERISA. The Contemplated Transactions will not result in the potential assessment of a Tax or penalty under Section
4975 of the Code or Section 502(l) of ERISA nor result in a violation of Section 406 of ERISA.

(k)    Seller has maintained workers’ compensation coverage as required by applicable state law through purchase of insurance and not by self-insurance
or otherwise.

(l)    Except as set forth in Schedule 3.16(l) or required by Legal Requirements, the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions will not accelerate
the time of vesting or the time of payment, or increase the amount, of compensation due to any director, employee, officer, former employee or former officer of
Seller. There are no contracts or arrangements providing for change of control payments that could subject any person to liability for tax under Section 4999 of
the Code.

(m)    Except for the continuation coverage requirements of COBRA, Seller has no obligations or potential liability for benefits to employees, former
employees or their respective dependents following termination of employment or retirement under any of the Employee Plans that are Employee Welfare
Benefit Plans.

(n)    No written or oral representations have been made to any employee or former employee of Seller promising or guaranteeing any employer payment
or funding for the continuation of medical, dental, life or disability coverage for any period of time beyond the end of the current plan year (except to the extent



of coverage required under COBRA). No written or oral representations have been made to any employee or former employee of Seller concerning the
employee benefits of Buyer.

(o)    Each plan that is a “non-qualified deferred compensation plan” (as defined in Section 409A(d)(1) of the Code) and any award thereunder, in each
case that is subject to Section 409A of the Code, has since January 1, 2005, been, in all material respects, in compliance with Section 409A of the Code, to the
extent required by applicable guidance, and Seller has no obligation to indemnify any individual for any taxes imposed under Section 409A of the Code.

(p)    With respect to any Employee Plan that is a “multiemployer plan” within the meaning of Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA (“Multiemployer Plan”), and
any other Multiemployer Plan to which Seller has at any time had an obligation to contribute:

(i)    all contributions required by the terms of such Multiemployer Plan and any collective bargaining agreement have been made when due; and

(ii)    Seller would not be subject to any withdrawal liability under Part 1 of Subtitle E of Title IV of ERISA if, as of the date hereof, Seller were to
engage in a “complete withdrawal” (as defined in ERISA Section 4203) or a “partial withdrawal” (as defined in ERISA Section 4205) from such
Multiemployer Plan.

3.17 COMPLIANCE WITH LEGAL REQUIREMENTS; GOVERNMENTAL AUTHORIZATIONS

(a)    Except as set forth in Schedule 3.17(a):

(i)    Seller is, and at all times since January 1, 2014, has been, in full compliance in all material respects with each Legal Requirement that is or
was applicable to it or to the conduct or operation of the Business or the ownership or use of any of the Assets;

(ii)    To the Knowledge of Seller, no event has occurred or circumstance exists that (with or without notice or after expiration of any applicable
cure period) (A) may constitute or result in a violation by Seller of, or a failure on the part of Seller to comply with, any Legal Requirement or (B) may
give rise to any obligation on the part of Seller to undertake, or to bear all or any portion of the cost of, any remedial action of any nature; and

(iii)    Seller has not received, at any time since January 1, 2014, any notice from any Governmental Body or any other Person regarding (A) any
actual, alleged, possible or potential violation of, or failure to comply with, any Legal Requirement or (B) any actual, alleged, possible or potential
obligation on the part of Seller to undertake, or to bear all or any portion of the cost of, any remedial action of any nature.

(b)    Schedule 3.17(b) contains a complete and accurate list of each Governmental Authorization that is held by Seller. Each Governmental Authorization
listed or required to be listed in Schedule 3.17(b) is valid, in full force and effect. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.17(b):

(i)    Seller is, and at all times since January 1, 2014, has been, in material compliance with all of the terms and requirements of each
Governmental Authorization identified or required to be identified in Schedule 3.17(b);

(ii)    To the Knowledge of Seller, no event has occurred or circumstance exists that may (with or without notice or after expiration of any
applicable cure period, but other than expiration of the term or effective period of a Governmental Authorization) (A) constitute or result directly or
indirectly in a violation of or a failure to comply with any term or requirement of any Governmental Authorization listed or required to be listed in
Schedule 3.17(b) or (B) result directly or indirectly in the revocation, withdrawal, suspension, cancellation or termination of, or any modification to, any
Governmental Authorization listed or required to be listed in Schedule 3.17(b)

(iii)    Seller has not received, at any time since January 1, 2014, any notice from any Governmental Body or any other Person regarding (A) any
actual, alleged, possible or potential violation of or failure to comply with any term or requirement of any Governmental Authorization or (B) any actual,
proposed, possible or potential revocation, withdrawal, suspension, cancellation, termination of or modification to any Governmental Authorization;

(iv)    all applications required to have been filed for the renewal of the Governmental Authorizations listed or required to be listed in Schedule
3.17(b) have been duly filed on a timely basis with the appropriate Governmental Bodies, and all other filings required to have been made with respect to
such Governmental Authorizations have been duly made on a timely basis with the appropriate Governmental Bodies, and to the Knowledge of Seller,
there is no reason that such renewed Governmental Authorizations will not be issued in a timely manner without any new conditions that could have a
material effect on compliance with such renewed Governmental Authorizations or ownership, use or operation of the Assets; and

(v)    all Government Authorizations listed in Schedule 3.17(b) shall continue in full force and effect immediately after consummation of the
Contemplated Transactions with no further action or notice required and, to Seller’s Knowledge, there is no basis that any required approval from a
Governmental Body for the issuance or reissuance of any Governmental Authorization required to own, operate or use the Assets and Leased Real
Property and Business upon Closing in compliance with the Legal Requirements will not be granted

The Governmental Authorizations listed in Schedule 3.17(b) collectively constitute all of the Governmental Authorizations necessary to permit Seller to lawfully
conduct and operate the Business in the manner in which it currently conducts and operates such business, and has conducted and operated the Business such
since January 1, 2014, and to permit Seller to own and use its assets in the manner in which it currently owns and uses such assets and has owned and used its
assets since January 1, 2014.

(c)    Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, (1) Seller is, and at all times within the past five years has been, in compliance, in all material
respects, with all applicable International Trade Applicable Laws and Regulations; (2) Seller has not engaged in any activity with any Persons located in or
organized under the laws of sanctioned territories that have been designated a state sponsor of terrorism (currently, as the date of this Agreement, Cuba, Iran,
North Korea, Sudan, Syria or the Crimea Region of Ukraine) or any Person or entity designated by OFAC on the Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked
Persons List or the Foreign Sanctions Evaders List, except insofar as such activities are permitted under International Trade Applicable Laws and Regulations
that apply to Seller, and except as licensed by the cognizant Governmental Body; (3) during the past five years, Seller has not submitted a voluntary or
mandatory disclosure with respect to, or otherwise become aware of, a violation or potential violation of any International Trade Applicable Laws and
Regulations by Seller or initiated any investigation of an actual or potential violation of any International Trade Applicable Laws and Regulations by Seller; (4)
Seller has not received any written or other communication from any Government Body that alleges that Seller is not, or may not be, in compliance with, or
have, or may have, any Liability under any International Trade Applicable Laws and Regulations; and (5) Seller has made available to Buyer accurate



information concerning each license issued to Seller for the export of any controlled item, software, technology, technical data or defense service — or for the
export to (or from) any sanctioned Person or geographical region — that is currently in effect or was in effect at any time within the last five years.

3.18 LEGAL PROCEEDINGS; ORDERS

(a)    Except as set forth in Schedule 3.18(a), there is no pending or, to Seller’s Knowledge, threatened Proceeding:

(i)    by or against Seller or involving the Business or any of the Shares or the Assets; or

(ii)    that has been commenced against Seller and that challenges, or that may reasonably have the effect of preventing, delaying, making illegal
or otherwise interfering with, any of the Contemplated Transactions.

To the Knowledge of Seller, no event has occurred or circumstance exists that is reasonably likely to give rise to or serve as a basis for the commencement of
any such Proceeding. Seller has made available to Buyer copies of all pleadings, correspondence and other documents relating to each Proceeding listed in
Schedule 3.18(a). There are no Proceedings listed or required to be listed in Schedule 3.18(a) that would reasonably have a Material Adverse Effect.

(b)    Except as set forth in Schedule 3.18(b):

(i)    there is no Order to which Seller, its Business or any of the Shares or the Assets is subject; and

(ii)    to the Knowledge of Seller, no officer, director, agent or employee of Seller is subject to any Order that prohibits such officer, director, agent
or employee from engaging in or continuing any conduct, activity or practice relating to the Business.

(c)    Except as set forth in Schedule 3.18(c):

(i)    Seller is, and, at all times since January 1, 2014, has been in compliance with all of the terms and requirements of each Order to which it, the
Business or any of the Assets is or has been subject; and

(ii)    Seller has not received, at any time since January 1, 2014, any notice or other communication (whether oral or written) from any
Governmental Body or any other Person regarding any actual, alleged, possible or potential violation of, or failure to comply with, any term or
requirement of any Order to which Seller, the Business or any of the Assets is or has been subject.

3.19 ABSENCE OF CERTAIN CHANGES AND EVENTS

Except as set forth in Schedule 3.19, since the Interim Balance Sheet date, Seller has conducted its Business only in the Ordinary Course of Business and
there has not been any:

(a)    change in Seller’s authorized or issued capital stock, grant of any stock option or right to purchase shares of capital stock of Seller or issuance of any
security convertible into such capital stock;

(b)    amendment to the Governing Documents of Seller;

(c)    payment (except in the Ordinary Course of Business) or increase by Seller of any bonuses, salaries or other compensation to any shareholder,
director, officer, employee or independent contractor or entry into any employment, severance or similar Contract with any director, officer, employee or
independent contractor, except in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(d)    adoption of, amendment to or increase in the payments to or benefits under, any Employee Plan;

(e)    amendment of, or any change to any Contract with any third party governing the administration of any Employee Plan;

(f)    material damage to or destruction or loss of any tangible Asset, whether or not covered by insurance;

(g)    entry into, termination of or receipt of notice of termination of (i) any license, distributorship, dealer, sales representative, joint venture, credit or
similar Contract to which Seller is a party, except in the Ordinary Course of Business, or (ii) any Contract or transaction involving a total remaining commitment
by Seller of at least $50,000 other than Contracts or transactions relating to the purchase of inventory or supplies or the sale of products in the Ordinary Course
of Business;

(h)    sale (other than sales of Inventories in the Ordinary Course of Business), lease or other disposition of any material Asset or property of Seller
(including the Intellectual Property Assets) or the creation of any Encumbrance on any Asset, other than Permitted Encumbrances;

(i)    cancellation or waiver of any claims or rights with a value to Seller in excess of $50,000;

(j)    statement by or notice from any customer or supplier of an intention to discontinue or adversely change the terms of its relationship with Seller;

(k)    material change in the accounting methods used by Seller; or

(l)    Contract by Seller to do any of the foregoing.

3.20 CONTRACTS; NO DEFAULTS

(a)    Schedule 3.20(a) contains an accurate and complete list, including amendments, and Seller has made available to Buyer accurate and complete
copies, of (and each a “Material Contract”):

(i)    each Seller Contract that involves performance of services or delivery of goods or materials by Seller of an amount or value in excess of
$50,000;

(ii)    each Seller Contract that involves performance of services or delivery of goods or materials to Seller of an amount or value in excess of
$50,000;



(iii)    each Seller Contract that was not entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business and that involves expenditures or receipts of Seller in
excess of $10,000;

(iv)    each Seller Contract affecting the ownership of, leasing of, title to, use of or any leasehold or other interest in any real or personal property
(except personal property leases and installment and conditional sales agreements having a value per item or aggregate payments of less than $25,000
and with a term of less than one year);

(v)    each Seller Contract with any labor union or other employee representative of a group of employees relating to wages, hours and other
conditions of employment;

(vi)    each Seller Contract with any independent third party relating to the delivery or administration of any employee benefits to Seller’s
employees;

(vii)    each Contract which is in respect of the employment, compensation or indemnification of a director or executive officer of Seller;

(viii)    each Seller Contract involving a sharing of profits, losses, costs or liabilities by Seller with any other Person

(ix)    each Seller Contract containing covenants that in any way purport to limit the freedom of Seller to engage in any line of business or to
compete with any Person (which shall not include any agreement solely as a result of such agreement including a confidentiality obligation), including
without limitation any exclusivity provisions or a “most favored nation” clause;

(x)    each Seller Contract providing for payments to or by any Person based on sales, purchases or profits, other than direct payments for goods;

(xi)    each power of attorney of Seller that is currently effective and outstanding;

(xii)    each Seller Contract for capital expenditures in excess of $25,000;

(xiii)    each Seller Contract not denominated in U.S. dollars in excess of $25,000;

(xiv)    each written warranty, guaranty and/or other similar undertaking with respect to contractual performance extended by Seller other than in
the Ordinary Course of Business;

(xv)    each Contract that involves, as parties thereto, Seller, on the one hand, and any of the directors, officers or other Affiliates of Seller or any
Person that owns or controls more than ten percent of any class of capital stock or other equity interest of Seller and each such Person’s respective
directors, officers or other Affiliates, on the other hand;

(xvi)    each Contract that constitutes a mortgage, indenture, note, installment obligation or other instrument relating to the borrowing of money or
under which it has imposed a security interest on any of the Assets;

(xvii)    each Contract which constitutes a guarantee of any obligation of another Person;

(xviii)    each Real Property Lease (each of which are deemed to constitute a Seller Contract for the purposes of this Agreement);

(xix)    each Contract that establishes or relates to a joint venture or partnership involving Seller; and

(xx)    each other Contract that is material to the operation of the Business and not previously disclosed pursuant to this Section 3.20(a);

(b)    Except as set forth in Schedule 3.20(b):

(i)    to the Knowledge of Seller, each Material Contract is in full force and effect and is valid and enforceable in accordance with its terms; and

(ii)    no Shareholder has or may acquire any rights under any Contract that relates to the Business or any of the Shares or the Assets;

(c)    Except as set forth in Schedule 3.20(c):

(i)    Seller is, and has been, in material compliance with all applicable terms and requirements of each Material Contract;

(ii)    to the Knowledge of Seller each other Person that has or had any obligation or liability under any Material Contract is, and has been, in full
compliance with all applicable terms and requirements of such Contract;

(iii)    to the Knowledge of Seller, no event has occurred or circumstance exists that (with or without notice or after the expiration of any
applicable cure period) may contravene, conflict with or result in a Breach of, or give Seller or other Person the right to declare a default or exercise any
remedy under, or to accelerate the maturity or performance of, or payment under, or to cancel, terminate or modify, any Seller Contract;

(iv)    to the Knowledge of Seller, no event has occurred or circumstance exists under or by virtue of any Contract that (with or without notice or
after the expiration of any applicable cure period) would cause the creation of any Encumbrance affecting the Business or any of the Shares or the
Assets;

(v)    Seller has not given to or received from any other Person any notice regarding any actual, alleged, possible or potential violation or Breach
of, or default under, any Material Contract; and

(vi)    there are no active renegotiations of, attempts to renegotiate or outstanding rights to renegotiate any material amounts paid or payable to
Seller under current Contracts with any Person having the contractual or statutory right to demand or require such renegotiation and no such Person has
made written demand for such renegotiation.

3.21 INSURANCE



(a)    Schedule 3.21(a) sets forth (i) a true and complete list of all current policies or binders of fire, liability, product liability, umbrella liability, real and
personal property, workers’ compensation, vehicular, fiduciary liability and other casualty and property insurance maintained by Seller or its Affiliates and
relating to the Business (collectively, the “Insurance Policies”); (ii) any (A) self-insurance arrangement of Seller, including any reserves established thereunder,
(B) any Contract or arrangement, other than the Insurance Policies, for the transfer or sharing of any risk of a nature typically covered by insurance to which
Seller is a party, and (C) all obligations of Seller to provide insurance coverage to third parties (for example, under Leases or service agreements) and identifies
the policy under which such coverage is provided; and (iii) with respect to the Business, a list of all pending claims and the claims history for Seller since
January 1, 2014. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.21(a), there are no claims related to the Business pending under any such Insurance Policies as to which
coverage has been questioned, denied or disputed or in respect of which there is an outstanding reservation of rights.

(b)    Except as set forth in Schedule 3.21(b), neither Seller nor any of its Affiliates has received any written notice of cancellation of, premium increase
with respect to, or alteration of coverage under, any of such Insurance Policies. All premiums due on such Insurance Policies have either been paid or, if not yet
due, accrued. All such Insurance Policies (i) are in full force and effect and enforceable in accordance with their terms (except as the enforceability of any such
Insurance Policy may be limited by the insurer’s bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium and other similar Legal Requirements relating to or affecting creditors’
rights generally or by general equitable principles); and (ii) have not been subject to any lapse in coverage. None of Seller or any of its Affiliates is in default
under, or has otherwise failed to comply with, in any material respect, any provision contained in any such Insurance Policy. True and complete copies of the
Insurance Policies have been made available to Buyer.

3.22 ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

(a)    Seller is, and at all times since January 1, 2014, has been, in full compliance in all material respects with, and has not been and is not in material
violation of or materially liable under, any Environmental Law or Occupational Safety and Health Law. Seller has not received any notice or any written order or
other communication from (i) any Governmental Body or private citizen acting in the public interest or (ii) the current or prior owner or operator of any
Facilities, of any actual or potential violation or failure to comply with any Environmental Law or Occupational Safety and Health Law, or of any actual or
threatened obligation to undertake or bear the cost of any Environmental, Health and Safety Liabilities with respect to any Facility or other property or asset
(whether real, personal or mixed) in which Seller has or had an interest, or with respect to any property or Facility at or to which Hazardous Materials were
generated, manufactured, refined, transferred, imported, used or processed by Seller or any other Person for whose conduct it is or may be held responsible, or
from which Hazardous Materials have been transported, treated, stored, handled, transferred, disposed, recycled or received.

(b)    There are no pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened claims, Encumbrances, or other restrictions of any nature resulting from any
Environmental, Health and Safety Liabilities or arising under or pursuant to any Environmental Law or Occupational Safety and Health Law with respect to or
affecting any Facility or any other property or asset (whether real, personal or mixed) in which Seller has or had an interest.

(c)    Seller has no Knowledge of any citation, directive, inquiry, notice, Order, summons, warning or other communication that relates to Hazardous
Activity, Hazardous Materials, or any alleged, actual, or potential violation or failure to comply with any Environmental Law or Occupational Safety and Health
Law, or of any alleged, actual, or potential obligation to undertake or bear the cost of any Environmental, Health and Safety Liabilities with respect to any
Facility or property or asset (whether real, personal or mixed) in which Seller has or had an interest, or with respect to any property or facility to which
Hazardous Materials generated, manufactured, refined, transferred, imported, used or processed by Seller or any other Person for whose conduct it is or may be
held responsible, have been transported, treated, stored, handled, transferred, disposed, recycled or received.

(d)    There are no Hazardous Materials present at any Facility, including any Hazardous Materials contained in barrels, aboveground or underground
storage tanks, landfills, land deposits, dumps, equipment (whether movable or fixed) or other containers, either temporary or permanent, and deposited or
located in land, water, sumps, or any other part of the Facility or such adjoining property, or incorporated into any structure therein or thereon.

(e)    There has been no Release or Threat of Release of any Hazardous Materials at or from any Facility or at any other location where any Hazardous
Materials were generated, manufactured, refined, transferred, produced, imported, used, or processed from or by any Facility, or from any other property or asset
(whether real, personal or mixed) in which Seller has or had an interest.

(f)    Seller has made available to Buyer true and complete copies and results of any reports, studies, analyses, tests, or monitoring possessed or initiated
by Seller pertaining to Hazardous Materials or Hazardous Activities in, on, or under the Facilities, or concerning compliance, by Seller or any other Person for
whose conduct it is or may be held responsible, with Environmental Laws or Occupational Safety and Health Laws.

3.23 EMPLOYEES

(a)    Schedule 3.23(a) contains a complete and accurate list of the following information for each employee, director, independent contractor, consultant
and agent of Seller, including each employee on leave of absence or layoff status: name; job title; date of hiring or engagement; date of commencement of
employment or engagement; current compensation paid or payable and any change in compensation since and including January 1, 2018; sick and vacation
leave that is accrued but unused as of December 31, 2018; additional service time credited for purposes of vesting and eligibility to participate under any
Employee Plan, or any other employee or director benefit plan; and if a person is working under a visa or a similar authorization, a description thereof.

(b)    No retired employee or director of Seller, and none of their dependents, is receiving benefits from Seller or scheduled to receive benefits from Seller
in the future.

(c)    Schedule 3.23(c) states the number of employees terminated by Seller since and including Interim Balance Sheet date, and contains a complete and
accurate list of the date of and reason for each such termination.

(d)    Seller has not violated the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act (the “WARN Act”) or any similar state or local Legal Requirement.

(e)    To the Knowledge of Seller no officer, director, agent, employee, consultant, or contractor of Seller is bound by any Contract that purports to limit
the ability of such officer, director, agent, employee, consultant, or contractor (i) to engage in or continue or perform any conduct, activity, duties or practice
relating to the Business or (ii) to assign to Seller or to any other Person any rights to any invention, improvement, or discovery. No former or current employee
of Seller is a party to, or is otherwise bound by, any Contract that in any way adversely affected, affects, or will affect the ability of Seller or Buyer to conduct
the Business as heretofore carried on by Seller.



(f)    To the Knowledge of Seller, as of the date hereof, no salaried employee has any plans to terminate employment with Seller.

3.24 LABOR DISPUTES; COMPLIANCE

(a)    Seller has complied in all material respects with all Legal Requirements relating to employment practices, including Legal Requirements related to
the terms and conditions of employment, equal employment opportunity, nondiscrimination, immigration, wages (including the Fair Labor Standards Act),
hours, worker classification (including the proper classification of workers as independent contractors or consultants), benefits, collective bargaining and other
requirements, the payment of social security and similar Taxes and occupational safety and health. Seller is not delinquent in any material payments to, or on
behalf of, any current or former employees or other service providers, including temporary employees and independent contractors, for any services or amounts
required to be reimbursed or otherwise paid.

(b)    Seller has properly classified all service providers as either (i) employees or independent contractors for purposes of all tax and wage reporting and
withholding Legal Requirements and for the purpose of employee benefit plan participation, and (ii) as “exempt” or “non-exempt” from overtime requirements
under the Fair Labor Standards Act and other applicable Legal Requirements. No consultant or independent contractor retained by the Seller has made a claim
for employee benefits from the Seller.

(c)    (i) Seller has not been, and is not now, a party to any collective bargaining agreement or other labor contract; (ii) since and including January 1,
2014, there has not been, there is not presently pending or existing, and to Seller’s Knowledge there is not threatened, any strike, slowdown, picketing, work
stoppage or employee grievance process involving Seller; (iii) there is not pending or, to Seller’s Knowledge, threatened against or affecting Seller any
Proceeding relating to the alleged violation of any Legal Requirement pertaining to labor relations or employment matters, including any charge or complaint
filed with the National Labor Relations Board or any comparable Governmental Body, and there is no labor dispute against or affecting Seller or the Business;
(iv) to the Knowledge of Seller, no application or petition for an election of or for certification of a collective bargaining agent is pending; (v) there is no lockout
of any employees by Seller; (vi) there are no pending or, to Seller’s Knowledge, threatened unresolved claims, charges, or employment-related suits or
controversies, complaints or proceedings of any kind against or involving Seller before the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or other similar
Governmental Body or adjudicative entity; (vi) there are no outstanding charges or orders against or involving Seller under occupational health and safety
legislation with respect to any employees and all levies and penalties made against Seller pursuant to workers’ compensation or workplace safety insurance that
were required to be paid before the date hereof with respect to employees have been paid; and (vii) Seller is not subject to any judgments, decrees, conciliation
agreements, or settlement agreements concerning employment-related matters.

(d)    Seller has not received notice that any of its employment practices is currently being audited or is under threat to be audited by any Governmental
Body.

(e)    Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Seller is and has at all times been in compliance with all Legal Requirements relating to
immigration (including visas and similar authorizations) or the verification of immigration/employment status and all of Seller’s employees are legally
authorized to work in the United States, and Seller and such employees have properly completed and retained I-9 forms in accordance with Legal Requirements.

3.25 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY ASSETS

(a)    Schedule 3.25(a) contains a correct, current and complete list of: (i) all Intellectual Property Registrations, specifying as to each, as applicable: the
title, mark, or design; the jurisdiction by or in which it has been issued, registered or filed; the patent, registration or application serial number; the issue or
registration date, the filing date; and the current status (e.g., abandoned, expired, in use, etc.); (ii) all material unregistered Trademarks included in the
Intellectual Property Assets; and (iii) all proprietary Software included in the Intellectual Property Assets. All required filings and fees related to the Intellectual
Property Registrations have been timely filed with and paid to the relevant Governmental Bodies and authorized registrars, and all Intellectual Property
Registrations are otherwise in good standing. Seller has made available to Buyer true and complete copies of file histories related to all Intellectual Property
Registrations that are within the possession or control of Seller. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.25(a), there are no actions that must be taken within 90 days
after the Closing Date for the purposes of prosecuting, maintaining, or preserving or renewing any Intellectual Property Registrations, including the payment of
any filing, registration, maintenance or renewal fees or the filing of any responses to or with any Governmental Body, including office actions, documents,
applications or certificates.

(b)    Schedule 3.25(b) contains a correct, current and complete list of all Intellectual Property Agreements, specifying for each the date, title and parties
thereto. Seller has made available to Buyer true and complete copies (or in the case of any oral agreements, a complete and correct written description) of all
such Intellectual Property Agreements, including all modifications, amendments and supplements thereto and waivers thereunder. Each Intellectual Property
Agreement is valid and binding on Seller in accordance with its terms and is in full force and effect except to the extent that enforcement of the rights and
remedies created thereby is subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws of general application affecting the rights and
remedies of creditors and to general principles of equity (regardless of whether enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law). Neither Seller
nor, to Seller’s Knowledge, any other party thereto is, or is alleged to be, in breach of or default under, or has provided or received any notice of breach of,
default under, or intention to terminate (including by non-renewal), any Intellectual Property Agreement. No Seller or Seller Affiliate has transferred ownership
of any Intellectual Property to a Third Party in the prior 5 years that was material to the Business at the time it was transferred.

(c)    Except as set forth in Schedule 3.25(c), Seller is the sole and exclusive legal and beneficial owner of all right, title, and interest in and to the
Intellectual Property Registrations and Intellectual Property Assets, free and clear of Encumbrances except Permitted Encumbrances (it being understood and
acknowledged that the foregoing representation and warranty does not constitute a representation and warranty of enforceability of any such Intellectual
Property Registrations and Intellectual Property Assets). Except as set forth in Schedule 3.25(c), none of the Intellectual Property Assets will be subject to any
Encumbrance (except Permitted Encumbrances) as a result of any written agreement or other facts or circumstances existing before the date hereof. No Seller or
Seller Affiliate (nor any of their predecessors-in-interest) has granted or agreed to grant, in each case in writing, any option or right to any Person to purchase
any subsisting Intellectual Property Asset (in whole or in part) and none of the Intellectual Property Assets is subject to any reversionary interest or other interest
created under any written Contract. No Seller or Seller Affiliate (or to the Knowledge of Seller, any predecessor-in-interest) has received any written notice or
written claim within the preceding three years challenging the exclusive ownership of any Intellectual Property Assets or suggesting that any Person other than
Seller, its Affiliate, or predecessor-in-interest has any claim of legal or beneficial ownership with respect thereto. Seller has the exclusive, unrestricted right to
sue for past, present, and future infringement of the Intellectual Property Assets. Seller (and its predecessor-in-interest) have entered into Contracts with each
current and former employee in the form attached to Schedule 3.25(c) and has entered into Contracts with each current and former independent contractor who



is or was involved in or has contributed to the invention, creation, or development of any Intellectual Property during the course of engagement with or for the
benefit of Seller whereby such independent contractor (i) acknowledges Seller’s exclusive ownership of all Intellectual Property Assets invented, created or
developed by such independent contractor within the scope of his or her engagement with such Seller; (ii) grants to such Seller a present, irrevocable assignment
of any ownership interest such independent contractor may have in or to such Intellectual Property; and (iii) irrevocably waives any right or interest, including
any moral rights, regarding such Intellectual Property, to the extent permitted by applicable Legal Requirement. Seller have made available to Buyer true and
complete copies of all such Contracts.

(d)    Neither the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereunder, will result in
the loss or impairment of or payment of any additional amounts with respect to, nor require the consent of any other Person in respect of, Buyer’s right to own or
use any Intellectual Property Assets or any Intellectual Property subject to any Intellectual Property Agreement. Immediately after the Closing, Buyer will own
all right, title, and interest in and to all Intellectual Property Assets on identical terms and conditions as Seller enjoyed immediately prior to the Closing.

(e)    Except as set forth in Schedule 3.25, the Intellectual Property Registrations and Intellectual Property Assets are valid and enforceable and all
Intellectual Property Registrations are subsisting and in full force and effect. Seller has taken commercially reasonable steps to maintain and enforce the
Intellectual Property Assets and to preserve the confidentiality of all Trade Secrets included in the Intellectual Property Assets, including by requiring all
Persons having access thereto to execute binding, written non-disclosure agreements, except such Persons who have served as outside counsel to Seller and who
are under a similar duty of confidentiality under applicable law. No Seller or Seller Affiliate has received any written notice or written claim within the
preceding 5 years challenging the validity or enforceability of any Intellectual Property Asset or alleging any misuse of any Intellectual Property Asset. To
Seller’s Knowledge, there has been no unauthorized use, access by, or disclosure to a Third Party of Trade Secrets within the Intellectual Property Asserts. No
source code of any Software within the Intellectual Property Rights has been licensed to a Third Party or provided to a Third Party other than to consultants and
contractors performing work on behalf of Seller who are bound by confidentiality obligations of customary scope with respect to such source code. No other
Person has the right under a written agreement, contingent or otherwise, to obtain access to or use any source code associated with Software within the
Intellectual Property Assets.

(f)    The conduct of the Business as currently and formerly conducted, including the use of the Intellectual Property Assets and the Intellectual Property
licensed to or for the benefit of Seller under the Intellectual Property Agreements in connection therewith, and the products, processes, and services of the
Business have not infringed, misappropriated, or otherwise violated the Intellectual Property or other rights of any Person. To the Knowledge of Seller, the
products, processes and services of the Business that are under development or that have not yet been sold or otherwise commercialized as of the Closing Date
will not, in the form that they exist as of the Closing Date, infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate the Intellectual Property or other rights of any Person.
Except as set forth in Schedule 3.25(f), to the Knowledge of Seller, no Person has infringed, misappropriated, or otherwise violated any Intellectual Property
Assets or the Intellectual Property licensed to or for the benefit of Seller under the Intellectual Property Agreements.

(g)    There are no Actions (including any opposition, cancellation, revocation, review, or other post-grant proceeding) settled, pending or, threatened in
writing (including in the form of offers to obtain a license), or, to Seller’s Knowledge, otherwise threatened (including in the form of offers to obtain a license):
(i) alleging any infringement, misappropriation, or other violation of the Intellectual Property of any Person by Seller in the conduct of the Business; (ii)
challenging the validity, enforceability, registrability, patentability, or ownership of any Intellectual Property Assets; or (iii) by Seller alleging any infringement,
misappropriation, or violation by any Person of any Intellectual Property Assets. Seller is not aware of any facts or circumstances that give rise to any such
Action. Seller is not subject to, no Intellectual Property Assets are subject to, and to the Knowledge of Seller no Intellectual Property licensed to or for the
benefit of Seller under any Intellectual Property Agreements is subject to, any outstanding or prospective Governmental Order (including any motion or petition
therefor) that does or could reasonably be expected to restrict or impair the use, licensing or other exploitation of any Intellectual Property Assets or Intellectual
Property licensed to or for the benefit of Seller under any Intellectual Property Agreement. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.25(g), Seller has not, in the past 5
years, received any written notice, written claim, or written indemnification request asserting that any infringement, misappropriation, or violation of any
Intellectual Property of a Third Party is or was occurring, including in the form of written offers to Seller or any of its Representatives to take a license under
any Patent owned by a Third Party, in each case with respect to the conduct of the Business. Schedule 3.25(g) includes a list of all written notices by or on behalf
of Seller to a Third Party in the past 5 years asserting that the Third Party is or was infringing, misappropriating, or violating, or has infringed, misappropriated,
or violated any Intellectual Property Asset or Intellectual Property licensed to or for the benefit of Seller under the Intellectual Property Agreements, including in
the form of written offers to take a license to any Intellectual Property.

(h)    Except as set forth in Schedule 3.25(h), no Open Source Materials have been incorporated into, linked, or used or distributed with any of the
Software within the Intellectual Property Assets or any of the Software licensed by or for the benefit of Seller in a manner that requires or conditions the
licensing, sale, or distribution of such Software or derivative works thereof on: (i) publication or distribution of source code for such Software or derivative
works thereof; (ii) permitting Third Parties to make derivative works thereof; (iii) permitting Third Parties to reverse engineer or replace portions of such
Software or derivative works thereof; (iv) the granting of any licenses or covenants not to sue on any Patents with the Intellectual Property Assets; (v) limiting in
any manner the ability to charge fees or otherwise seek compensation in connection with marketing, licensing or distribution of such Software or derivative
works thereof; or (vi) granting the right to decompile, disassemble, reverse engineer, or otherwise derive the source code or underlying structure of such
Software or derivative works thereof.

(i)    Schedule 3.25(i): (A) identifies each standards-setting organization (including but not limited to ETSI, 3GPP, 3GPP2, TIA, IEEE, IETF, and ITU-R),
university or industry body, consortium, other multi-party special interest group and any other collaborative or other group in which Seller or any of its Affiliates
is currently participating, or in which Seller or any of its Affiliates have participated in the past or applied for future participation in, including any of the
foregoing that may be organized, funded, sponsored, formed or operated, in whole or in part, by any Governmental Body, in all cases, to the extent related to any
Intellectual Property Asset (each a “Standards Body”); and (B) sets forth a listing and description of the membership agreements and other Contracts, bylaws,
policies, rules and similar materials relating to such Standards Bodies, to which Seller or any of its Affiliates is bound (collectively, “Standards Agreements”).
True, complete and correct copies of all Standards Agreements have been made available to the Buyer. Neither Seller nor any of its Affiliates is bound by, or has
agreed to be bound by, any Contract (including any written licensing commitment), bylaw, policy, or rule of any Person that requires or purports to require Seller
or any of its Affiliates (or, following the Closing Date, Buyer or any of its Affiliates) to contribute, disclose or license any Intellectual Property to such Person or
its other members. Seller has not made any written Patent disclosures to any Standards Body. Seller is in material compliance with all Standards Agreements that
relate to the Intellectual Property Assets. Seller is not engaged in any material dispute with any Standards Body with respect to any Intellectual Property Asset or
with any Third Parties with respect to such Seller’s conduct with respect to any Standards Body.



(j)    To the Knowledge of Seller, all Software that constitutes Intellectual Property Assets is substantially free of any material defects and errors, and does
not contain any disabling software, code or instructions, spyware, Trojan horses, worms, viruses or other software routines that permit or cause unauthorized
access to, or disruption, impairment, disablement or destruction of, Software, data, computer systems, networks, or other or other devices or materials.

(k)    Except as set forth in Schedule 3.25(k): (i) the Intellectual Property Assets constitute all of the material Intellectual Property that relates to, is used
or held for use in or is necessary to conduct the Business as of the Closing Date and as planned to be conducted as of the Closing Date; and (ii) the Intellectual
Property Assets, together with the Intellectual Property licensed to or for the benefit of Seller under any Intellectual Property Agreements and Standard Licenses,
constitute all of the Intellectual Property in which Seller has any rights or interest that relates to, is used or held for use in or necessary for the Business as of the
Closing Date. No Seller Affiliate (other than as identified on Schedule 3.25(a)) owns, directly or indirectly, or has any interest (including but not limited to
license-based interests) in any Intellectual Property Asset or other Intellectual Property that relates to, is used or held for use in, or is necessary for the Business.

(l)    Except as set forth in Schedule 3.25(l), no funding or facilities of any Governmental Body, or funding or facilities of a university, college, other
educational institution or research center, was used in the development of any of the Intellectual Property Assets.

(m)    Seller obtains, by entering into the Patent Transfer Agreements and the Chinese Patent License, the exclusive (even as to any other owner) rights to
make, use or sell products (and otherwise to implement technical secrets and processes) covered by the patents (and otherwise to exploit the patents) listed in
Schedule 3.25(m) or listed in the Chinese Patent License, including the exclusive (even as to any other owner) right to license or sublicense such rights
thereunder.

3.26 DATA PRIVACY AND SECURITY

Seller has (a) complied, in all material respects, with all Data Privacy and Security Laws and other applicable Legal Requirements relating to data
privacy, data protection and data security, including with respect to the collection, storage, transmission, transfer (including cross-border transfers), disclosure,
destruction and use of Personally Identifiable Information; and (b) taken commercially reasonable measures to ensure that all data and information owned or
held by Seller (including any Personally Identifiable Information) (collectively “Seller Data”) is protected against loss, damage and unauthorized access, use,
modification or other misuse. To Seller’s Knowledge, there has been no loss, damage or unauthorized access, use, modification or other misuse of Seller Data.
No Person has provided any notice, made any claim or commenced any Proceeding with respect to loss, damage or unauthorized access, use, modification or
other misuse of Seller Data or alleging a violation of any Data Privacy and Security Laws.

3.27 CERTAIN BUSINESS PRACTICES

Neither Seller nor any of its directors, officers, and employees have engaged, directly or indirectly, in any activity in violation of (i) the Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act of 1977, as amended or any other similar Legal Requirement which makes unlawful payments to Governmental Bodies or international non-
governmental agencies and their employees in exchange for favorable treatment of benefits not otherwise available but for such payments, or (ii) any local anti-
corruption and anti-bribery Legal Requirements, in each case, in jurisdictions in which Seller is operating (collectively, “Anti-Bribery Laws”). Seller has not
received any notice that alleges that Seller or any of its Representatives, distributors or contractors is in violation of, or has any liability under, the Anti-Bribery
Laws. Seller has not been or currently is not under any administrative, civil or criminal investigation or indictment and is not party to any Proceeding involving
alleged non-compliance with the Anti-Bribery Laws.

3.28 RELATIONSHIPS WITH RELATED PERSONS

Except as disclosed in Schedule 3.28, neither any Shareholder nor any Related Person of any of them has, or since January 1, 2014, has had, any material
interest in any property (whether real, personal or mixed and whether tangible or intangible) used in or pertaining to Seller’s Business. Neither any Shareholder
nor any Related Person of any of them owns, or since January 1, 2014, has owned, of record or as a beneficial owner, an equity interest or any other financial or
profit interest in any Person that has had business dealings or a material financial interest in any transaction with Seller other than business dealings or
transactions disclosed in Schedule 3.28 or involving the ownership of Seller, each of which has been conducted in the Ordinary Course of Business with Seller at
substantially prevailing market prices and on substantially prevailing market terms. Yao has not engaged in a Competing Business in any market presently
served by Seller, except for ownership of less than two percent (2%) of any class of the securities of any Competing Business that is listed on any national or
regional securities exchange or has been registered under Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.28, neither any Shareholder nor
any Related Person of any of them is a party to any Contract with Seller.

3.29 BROKERS OR FINDERS

Except with respect to Capstone Headwaters LLC, neither Seller nor any of its Representatives have incurred any obligation or liability, contingent or
otherwise, for brokerage or finders’ fees or agents’ commissions or other similar payments in connection with the sale of the Business, the Shares or the Assets
or the Contemplated Transactions.

3.30 CUSTOMERS

Schedule 3.30 sets forth a true, complete and correct list of the 20 largest customers of Seller by dollar volume of sales for fiscal years 2016, 2017 and
2018. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.30, Seller has not received notice from any customer identified in the list for the 2018 fiscal year set forth in Schedule
3.30 to the effect that any such customer will stop, or materially decrease the rate of, buying products or services from the Seller.

3.31 SUPPLIERS

Schedule 3.31 sets forth a true, complete and correct list of the 20 largest suppliers of the Seller by dollar volume of purchases for fiscal years 2016, 2017
and 2018. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.31, since Interim Balance Sheet date, Seller has not received notice from any supplier identified in the list for the
2018 fiscal year set forth in Schedule 3.31 to the effect (i) that any such supplier will stop, or materially decrease the rate of, supplying materials, products or
services to Seller or increase the price for such materials, products or services by more than 5% or (ii) that the payment terms applicable to such suppliers as of
the date hereof are to be materially and adversely changed.

3.32 PRODUCT WARRANTIES; PRODUCT LIABILITY



Except as set forth in Schedule 3.32, there are no warranties with respect to the products sold and/or services conducted by the Seller within the past 5
years. Schedule 3.32 sets forth (i) the aggregate amount of all costs incurred by Seller with respect to warranty claims, product liability claims and recalls that
have occurred since July 1, 2017, (ii) a list of all warranty claims or product liability and recalls that have resulted in Seller incurring costs in excess of $5,000 or
more since January 1, 2018, and (iii) a list of all pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened warranty claims or product liability claims, in each case, that
assert damages or claims in excess of $5,000, or any recalls. To the Knowledge of Seller, there is no design flaw or manufacturing defect or similar issue that
could reasonably be expected to result in higher warranty costs than historically experienced by Seller.

3.33    DISCLAIMER

Except for the representations and warranties contained in this Section 3 (including the Schedules delivered herewith), none of the Seller, the
Shareholders, or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, members, agents, Affiliates or Representatives, or any other Person, has made or shall be
deemed to have made any representation or warranty to Buyer, express or implied, at law or in equity, with respect to the Seller, any Shareholder, or the
execution and delivery of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, including as to the accuracy or completeness of any information, documents
or materials regarding the Seller, or the Shareholders furnished or made available to Buyer and its representatives in any “data rooms,” “virtual data rooms,”
management presentations or in any other form in expectation of, or in connection with, the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (“Evaluation
Material”). The Seller and each Shareholder hereby disclaims any such representations or warranties.

4. Representations and Warranties of Buyer

Buyer represents and warrants to Seller as follows:

4.1 ORGANIZATION AND GOOD STANDING

Buyer is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware, with full corporate power and
authority to conduct its business as it is now conducted.

4.2 AUTHORITY; NO CONFLICT

(a)    This Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of Buyer, enforceable against Buyer in accordance with its terms. Upon the
execution and delivery by Buyer of the other Transaction Documents to be executed or delivered by Buyer at Closing (collectively, the “Buyer’s Closing
Documents”), each of the Buyer’s Closing Documents will constitute the legal, valid and binding obligation of Buyer, enforceable against Buyer in accordance
with its respective terms, except as such enforcement may be limited by Equitable Exceptions. Buyer has the right, power and authority to execute and deliver
this Agreement and the Buyer’s Closing Documents and to perform its obligations under this Agreement and the Buyer’s Closing Documents, and such action
has been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action.

(b)    Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Buyer nor the consummation or performance of any of the Contemplated Transactions by
Buyer will give any Person the right to prevent, delay or otherwise interfere with any of the Contemplated Transactions. Buyer is not and will not be required to
obtain any material Consent from any Person in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the consummation or performance of any of
the Contemplated Transactions.

4.3 CERTAIN PROCEEDINGS

No Proceeding has been commenced against Buyer that challenges, or may have the effect of preventing, delaying, making illegal or otherwise
interfering with, any of the Contemplated Transactions.

4.4 BROKERS OR FINDERS

Except with respect to B. Riley FBR, Inc., neither Buyer nor any of its Representatives have incurred any obligation or liability, contingent or otherwise,
for brokerage or finders’ fees or agents’ commissions or other similar payment in connection with the Contemplated Transactions.

4.5 SUFFICIENCY OF FUNDS

As of the date hereof, Buyer has cash available that is sufficient to enable it to make payment of the Purchase Price at Closing and consummate the
Contemplated Transactions.

4.6 BUYER’S DUE DILIGENCE; LIMITATIONS ON REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES.

Buyer hereby acknowledges that, except for the representations and warranties of the Seller and the Shareholders expressly set forth in Section 3, Buyer
is relying on its own investigation and analysis in entering into this Agreement and consummating the transactions contemplated hereby. Buyer is an informed
and sophisticated participant in the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and has undertaken such investigation, and has been provided with and has
evaluated such Evaluation Material, as it has deemed necessary in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby. With respect to any projection or forecast delivered or made available by or on behalf of the Seller or the
Shareholders, Buyer acknowledges that: (a) there are uncertainties inherent in attempting to make such projections and forecasts; (b) the accuracy and
correctness of such projections and forecasts may be affected by information which may become available through discovery or otherwise after the date of such
projections and forecasts; and (c) it is familiar with each of the foregoing and it understands that neither Seller nor Shareholders are making any representations
or warranties regarding the accuracy of such projections and forecasts.

5. Covenants of Seller Prior to Closing

5.1 ACCESS AND INVESTIGATION

(a)    Between the date of this Agreement and the Closing Date, and upon reasonable advance notice received from Buyer, Seller shall (a) afford Buyer
and its Representatives and prospective lenders and their Representatives (collectively, “Buyer Group”) reasonable access to Seller’s personnel, properties,
Contracts, Governmental Authorizations, books and Records and other documents and data, such rights of access to be exercised in a manner that does not



unreasonably interfere with the operations of Seller and that minimizes potential disruption among employees, suppliers and customers; (b) furnish Buyer Group
with access to copies of all such Contracts, Governmental Authorizations, books and Records and other existing documents and data as Buyer may reasonably
request; (c) furnish Buyer Group with such additional financial, operating and other relevant data and information as Buyer may reasonably request; and (d)
otherwise cooperate and assist, to the extent reasonably requested by Buyer, with Buyer’s investigation of the properties, assets and financial condition related to
Seller.

5.2 OPERATION OF THE BUSINESS OF SELLER

Between the date of this Agreement and the Closing, Seller shall:

(a)    conduct its Business only in the Ordinary Course of Business, except that Seller may take actions necessary or advisable to comply with its
obligations under this Agreement;

(b)    except as otherwise requested by Buyer in writing, and without making any commitment on Buyer’s behalf, use commercially reasonable efforts in
the Ordinary Course of Business to preserve intact its current business organization, keep available the services of its officers, employees and agents and
maintain its relations and good will with suppliers, customers, landlords, creditors, employees, agents and others having business relationships with it;

(c)    make no material changes in management personnel without prior consultation with Buyer outside the Ordinary Course of Business;

(d)    maintain the Assets and the Leased Real Property in a state of repair and condition that complies with Legal Requirements (and, as applicable, each
Real Property Lease) in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(e)    keep in full force and effect, without amendment, all material rights relating to the Business and the Assets, except in the Ordinary Course of
Business;

(f)    comply, in all material respects, with all Legal Requirements and contractual obligations applicable to the Business and the Assets;

(g)    continue in full force and effect the insurance coverage under the Insurance Policies or substantially equivalent policies;

(h)    except as required to comply with ERISA or to maintain qualification under Section 401(a) of the Code or except as set forth in this Agreement, not
amend, modify or terminate any Employee Plan without the express written consent of Buyer, and except as required under the provisions of any Employee
Plan, not make any contributions to or with respect to any Employee Plan without the express written consent of Buyer, provided that Seller shall contribute that
amount of cash to each Employee Plan necessary to fully fund all of the benefit liabilities of such Employee Plan on a plan-termination basis as of the Closing
Date;

(i)    reasonably cooperate with Buyer and assist Buyer in identifying the Governmental Authorizations required by Buyer to operate the Business from
and after the Closing Date and either transferring existing Governmental Authorizations of Seller to Buyer, where permissible, or obtaining new Governmental
Authorizations for Buyer; and

(j)    maintain all books and Records of Seller relating to Seller’s Business in the Ordinary Course of Business.

5.3 NEGATIVE COVENANT

Except as otherwise expressly permitted or contemplated herein, between the date of this Agreement and the Closing Date, neither Seller nor any
Shareholder may, without the prior written Consent of Buyer, (a) take any affirmative action, or fail to use commercially reasonable efforts in the Ordinary
Course of Business to take any reasonable action within his, her or its control, as a result of which any of the changes or events listed in Sections 3.15 or 3.19
would be likely to occur; (b) make any modification to any material Contract or Governmental Authorization outside the Ordinary Course of Business; (c) fail to
use his, her or its commercially reasonable efforts in the Ordinary Course of Business to not allow the levels of raw materials, supplies or other materials
included in the Inventories to vary materially from the levels customarily maintained; (d) enter into any compromise or settlement of any material Proceeding
relating to the Business or any of the Shares or the Assets; or (e) allow any Encumbrance on, or transfer of, any Shares.

5.4 REQUIRED APPROVALS

Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain all Material Consents. As promptly as practicable after the date of this Agreement, Seller shall
make all filings required by Legal Requirements to be made by it in order to consummate the Contemplated Transactions. Seller also shall cooperate with Buyer
and its Representatives with respect to all filings that Buyer elects to make or, pursuant to Legal Requirements, shall be required to make in connection with the
Contemplated Transactions.

5.5 NOTIFICATION

Between the date of this Agreement and the Closing, Seller shall promptly notify Buyer in writing if it becomes aware of (a) any fact or condition that
causes or constitutes a Breach of any of Seller’s representations and warranties made as of the date of this Agreement or (b) the occurrence after the date of this
Agreement of any fact or condition that would or be reasonably likely to (except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement) cause or constitute a Breach of
any such representation or warranty had that representation or warranty been made as of the time of the occurrence of, or Seller’s discovery of, such fact or
condition. Between the date of this Agreement and the Closing, Seller also shall promptly notify Buyer of the occurrence of any Breach of any covenant of
Seller in this Article 5 or of the occurrence of any event that may make the satisfaction of the conditions in Article 7 impossible or reasonably unlikely. Buyer’s
receipt of information pursuant to this Section 5.5 shall not operate as a waiver or otherwise affect any representation, warranty or agreement given or made by
Seller in this Agreement and shall not be deemed to amend or supplement the Disclosure Schedules, provided that from time to time prior to the Closing, Seller
shall promptly supplement or amend the Disclosure Schedules hereto with respect to any matter hereafter arising that, if existing or occurring at the date of this
Agreement, would have been required to be set forth or described in such sections of the Disclosure Schedules. Any disclosure in any such supplement or
amendment shall not be deemed to have cured any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation or warranty contained in this Agreement, including for purposes
of the indemnification or termination rights contained in this Agreement or of determining whether or not the conditions set forth in Article 7 have been
satisfied.



5.6 NO NEGOTIATION

Until such time as this Agreement shall be terminated pursuant to Section 9.1, neither Seller nor any Shareholder may directly or indirectly solicit,
initiate, encourage or entertain any inquiries or proposals from, discuss or negotiate with, provide any nonpublic information to, consider the merits of any
inquiries or proposals from any Person (other than Buyer), or enter into any written or oral agreement or understanding with any Person (other than Buyer)
relating to any business combination transaction involving Seller, including the sale of Seller’s stock, the merger or consolidation of Seller or the sale of Seller’s
Business or any of the Assets (other than in the Ordinary Course of Business), or otherwise enter into any written or oral agreement, arrangement or
understanding requiring Seller or any Shareholder to abandon, terminate or fail to consummate the Contemplated Transactions. Seller shall notify Buyer of any
such inquiry or proposal within 24 hours of receipt or awareness of the same by Seller or any Shareholder.

5.6     EFFORTS

Seller and each Shareholder shall use his, her or its commercially reasonable efforts to cause the conditions in Article 7 to be satisfied.

5.7    PAYMENT OF LIABILITIES

Seller shall pay or otherwise satisfy in the Ordinary Course of Business all of its Liabilities and obligations.

6. Covenants of Buyer Prior to Closing

6.1 REQUIRED APPROVALS

As promptly as practicable after the date of this Agreement, Buyer shall make, or cause to be made, all filings required by Legal Requirements to be
made by it to consummate the Contemplated Transactions. Buyer also shall cooperate with Seller (a) with respect to all filings Seller shall be required by Legal
Requirements to make and (b) in obtaining all Consents identified in Schedule 3.2(c), provided, however, that Buyer shall not be required to dispose of or make
any change to its business, expend any material funds or incur any other burden in order to comply with this Section 6.1.

6.2    EFFORTS

Buyer shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause the conditions in Article 8 to be satisfied.

7. Conditions Precedent to Buyer’s Obligation to Close

Buyer’s obligation to purchase the Shares and to take the other actions required to be taken by Buyer at the Closing is subject to the satisfaction, at or
prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions (any of which may be waived by Buyer, in whole or in part):

7.1 ACCURACY OF REPRESENTATIONS

The representations and warranties of Seller and Shareholders contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all respects (in the case of any
representation or warranty qualified by materiality) or in all material respects (in the case of any representation or warranty not qualified by materiality) on and
as of the date hereof and on and as of the Closing Date with the same effect as though made at and as of such date (except those representations and warranties
that address matters only as of a specified date, the accuracy of which shall be determined as of that specified date).

7.2 SELLER’S PERFORMANCE

All of the covenants and obligations that Seller and any Shareholder are required to perform or to comply with pursuant to this Agreement at or prior to
the Closing (considered collectively), and each of these covenants and obligations (considered individually), including the deliverables set forth in Section
2.7(f), shall have been duly performed and complied with in all material respects.

7.3 CONSENTS

Each of the Material Consents shall have been obtained and shall be in full force and effect.

7.4 NO INJUNCTION

There shall not be in effect any Legal Requirement or any injunction or other Order that (a) prohibits the consummation of the Contemplated
Transactions and (b) has been adopted or issued, or has otherwise become effective, since the date of this Agreement.

7.5 NO PROCEEDINGS

Since the date of this Agreement, there shall not have been commenced or threatened against Buyer, Seller or any Shareholder, or against any Related
Person of them, any Proceeding (a) involving any challenge to, or seeking Losses or other relief in connection with, any of the Contemplated Transactions or (b)
that may have the effect of preventing, delaying, making illegal, imposing limitations or conditions on or otherwise interfering with any of the Contemplated
Transactions.

7.6 NO CONFLICT

Neither the consummation nor the performance of any of the Contemplated Transactions will, directly or indirectly (with or without notice or lapse of
time), contravene or conflict with or result in a violation of or cause Buyer or any Related Person of Buyer to suffer any adverse consequence under (a) any
applicable Legal Requirement or Order or (b) any Legal Requirement or Order that has been published, introduced or otherwise proposed by or before any
Governmental Body.

7.7 GOVERNMENTAL AUTHORIZATIONS



Buyer shall have received such Governmental Authorizations as identified in Schedule 7.7 which are necessary to allow Buyer to operate the Business
from and after the Closing.

7.8 NO MATERIAL ADVERSE EFFECT

Since the date of the Interim Balance Sheet, there has not been any Material Adverse Effect, and no event has occurred or circumstance exists that would
have a Material Adverse Effect.

8. Conditions Precedent to Seller’s and Shareholders’ Obligation to Close

The obligation of the Shareholders to sell the Shares and to take the other actions required to be taken by them and by Seller at the Closing is subject to
the satisfaction, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions (any of which may be waived by Shareholder Representative in whole or in part):

8.1 ACCURACY OF REPRESENTATIONS

The representations and warranties of Buyer contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all respects (in the case of any representation or
warranty qualified by materiality) or in all material respects (in the case of any representation or warranty not qualified by materiality) on and as of the date
hereof and on and as of the Closing Date with the same effect as though made at and as of such date (except those representations and warranties that address
matters only as of a specified date, the accuracy of which shall be determined as of that specified date).

8.2 BUYER’S PERFORMANCE

All of the covenants and obligations that Buyer is required to perform or to comply with pursuant to this Agreement at or prior to the Closing (considered
collectively), and each of these covenants and obligations (considered individually), including the deliverables set forth in Section 2.7(g), shall have been
performed and complied with in all material respects.

8.3 NO INJUNCTION

There shall not be in effect any Legal Requirement or any injunction or other Order that (a) prohibits the consummation of the Contemplated
Transactions and (b) has been adopted or issued, or has otherwise become effective, since the date of this Agreement.

8.4 NO PROCEEDINGS

Since the date of this Agreement, there shall not have been commenced or threatened against Buyer, Seller or any Shareholder, or against any Related
Person of them, any Proceeding (a) involving any challenge to, or seeking Losses or other relief in connection with, any of the Contemplated Transactions or (b)
that may have the effect of preventing, delaying, making illegal, imposing limitations or conditions on or otherwise interfering with any of the Contemplated
Transactions.

8.5 NO CONFLICT

Neither the consummation nor the performance of any of the Contemplated Transactions will, directly or indirectly (with or without notice or lapse of
time), contravene or conflict with or result in a violation of or cause Seller or any Related Person of Seller to suffer any adverse consequence under (a) any
applicable Legal Requirement or Order or (b) any Legal Requirement or Order that has been published, introduced or otherwise proposed by or before any
Governmental Body.

9. Termination

9.1 TERMINATION EVENTS

By notice given at any time prior to the Closing, subject to Section 9.2, this Agreement may be terminated as follows:

(a)    by Buyer, if a material Breach of any provision of this Agreement has been committed by Seller, unless such Breach shall be due to a Breach by
Buyer, that would give rise to the failure of any of the conditions specified in Article 7 and such Breach has not been cured by Seller within 20 days of Seller’s
receipt of written notice of such Breach from Buyer;

(b)    by Seller, if a material Breach of any provision of this Agreement has been committed by Buyer, unless such Breach shall be due to a Breach by
Seller, that would give rise to the failure of any of the conditions specified in Article 8 and such Breach has not been cured by Buyer within 20 days of Buyer’s
receipt of written notice of such Breach from Seller;

(c)    by Buyer, if any of the conditions set forth in Article 7 shall not have been, or if it becomes apparent that any of such conditions will not be, fulfilled
by June 30, 2019, unless such failure shall be due to the failure of Buyer to perform or comply with any of the covenants or agreements hereof to be performed
or complied with by it prior to the Closing;

(d)    by Seller, if any of the conditions set forth in Article 8 shall not have been, or if it becomes apparent that any of such conditions will not be, fulfilled
by June 30, 2019, unless such failure shall be due to the failure of Seller to perform or comply with any of the covenants or agreements hereof to be performed
or complied with by it prior to the Closing; or

(e)    by mutual consent of Buyer and Seller.

9.2 EFFECT OF TERMINATION

If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 9.1, all obligations of the parties under this Agreement will terminate, except that the obligations of
the parties in this Section 9.2 and Article 12 (the first and second sentences only) and 13 (except for those in Section 13.5) will survive. This right to terminate
shall be the exclusive remedy of the terminating party, except, the terminating party’s right to pursue all legal remedies will survive such termination unimpaired
if the termination is pursuant to Section 9.1(a) or (b).



10. Additional Covenants

10.1 EMPLOYEES

(a)    Active Employees. For the purpose of this Agreement, the term “Active Employees” shall mean all employees employed on the Closing Date by
Seller for its Business who are employed exclusively in Seller’s Business as currently conducted, including employees on temporary leave of absence, including
family medical leave, military leave, temporary disability or sick leave, but excluding employees on long-term disability leave.

(b)    Employment of Active Employees by Buyer.

(i)    Buyer shall be given reasonable access to such key employees of Seller as Buyer reasonably identifies for the purpose of evaluating and
discussing employment terms. Subject to Legal Requirements, Buyer will have reasonable access to the facilities and personnel Records (including
performance appraisals, disciplinary actions, grievances and medical Records) of Seller.

(ii)    Nothing herein shall constitute any commitment, Contract or understanding (expressed or implied) of any obligation on the part of Buyer to
a post-Closing employment relationship of any fixed term or duration or upon any terms or conditions other than those that Buyer may establish pursuant
to individual offers of employment, and any employment offered by Buyer is “at will” and may be terminated by Buyer or by an employee at any time
for any reason (subject to any written commitments to the contrary made by Buyer or an employee and Legal Requirements). Nothing in this Agreement
shall be deemed to prevent or restrict in any way the right of Buyer to terminate, reassign, promote or demote any of the Active Employees after the
Closing or to change adversely or favorably the title, powers, duties, responsibilities, functions, locations, salaries, other compensation or terms or
conditions of employment of such employees.

(iii)    Seller and Buyer agree to cooperate in good faith to determine whether any notification may be required under the WARN Act or any
similar state or local Legal Requirement as a result of the Contemplated Transactions and agree to comply with their respective obligations, if any, under
the WARN Act and any other similar state or local Legal Requirement.

(c)    General Employee Provisions.

(i)    Seller and Buyer shall give any notices required by Legal Requirements and take whatever other actions with respect to the plans, programs
and policies described in this Section 10.1 as may be necessary to carry out the arrangements described in this Section 10.1.

(ii)    Seller and Buyer shall provide each other with such plan documents and summary plan descriptions, employee data or other information as
may be reasonably required to carry out the arrangements described in this Section 10.1.

(iii)    If any of the arrangements described in this Section 10.1 are determined by the IRS or other Governmental Body to be prohibited by law,
Seller and Buyer shall modify such arrangements to as closely as possible reflect their expressed intent and retain the allocation of economic benefits and
burdens to the parties contemplated herein in a manner that is not prohibited by law.

10.2 TAX MATTERS

(a)    Payment of All Taxes Resulting From Sale of Shares. Shareholders shall pay in a timely manner all Taxes resulting from or payable in connection
with the sale of the Shares pursuant to this Agreement.

(b)    Pre-Closing Tax Returns. Seller shall prepare and file all Tax Returns of the Seller for any Pre-Closing Tax Period that are due before the Closing
Date.

(c)    Tax Returns Relating to Pre-Closing Tax Period to be Filed after the Closing Date. Buyer shall prepare or cause to be prepared all Tax Returns for
the Seller that are required to be filed after the Closing Date. All such Tax Returns applicable to Pre-Closing Tax Periods shall be prepared in a manner
consistent with past practice. With respect to any such income Tax Return and any other Tax Return that would reasonably be expected to result in a liability for
which Buyer would be entitled to indemnification under Section 11.2, at least sixty (60) days prior to filing any such Tax Return, Buyer shall provide the
Shareholder Representative with (x) a draft of each such Tax Return, (y) a statement of any Taxes owed in connection with the filing of such Tax Return and (z)
all workpapers and other books, records and other documents and computations reasonably requested by the Shareholder Representative in connection with such
Tax Return, and Buyer shall make such changes to such Tax Return as the Shareholder Representative may reasonably request. In the event the Shareholder
Representative objects to a Tax Return pursuant to the preceding sentence, and the parties cannot resolve the objection, a filing extension shall be obtained and
the matter shall be resolved by an independent accounting firm agreed upon by the parties. Buyer shall cause such Tax Returns to be filed and shall cause to be
remitted with such Tax Returns any Taxes shown due.

(d)    Straddle Periods. The Shareholder Representative and Buyer shall cause the Seller to, unless prohibited by applicable law, close its taxable year as
of the end of the Closing Date. If applicable law does not permit Seller to close its taxable year as of the end of the Closing Date or in any case in which a Tax is
assessed with respect to a Straddle Period, any allocation of income or deductions required to determine any Taxes attributable to a Straddle Period shall be
made by means of a closing of the books and records of the Seller as of the end of the Closing Date; provided, that exemptions, allowances or deductions that
are calculated on an annual basis (including depreciation and amortization deductions) and Taxes of Seller imposed on a periodic basis shall be allocated
between the period ending on the Closing Date and the period after the Closing Date in proportion to the number of calendar days in each such period.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Taxes relating to any transactions not in the ordinary course of business of the Seller that occur after the time of the Closing
on the Closing Date shall be treated as occurring on the day after the Closing Date.

(e)    Other Actions Affecting Pre-Closing Tax Periods. Except as provided in subsection (f) below, after the Closing Date, neither Buyer nor Seller shall
(a) file, permit to be filed, amend or otherwise modify, or permit to be amended or otherwise modified any Tax Return for any period beginning prior to the
Closing Date; (b) discuss, correspond, participate in any sponsored voluntary compliance, amnesty, self-correction or similar program, negotiate, make or initiate
any voluntary contact with any governmental entity or representative thereof with respect to, or settle with any governmental entity or representative thereof, any
Tax liability of the Seller with respect to any period beginning prior to the Closing Date or that may affect the Tax liability of Shareholders for any period; (c)
extend or waive, or cause to be extended or waived, any statute of limitations or other period for the assessment of any Tax or deficiency related to any period
beginning prior to the Closing Date; or (d) make any Tax election that has retroactive effect to any period or portion of any period beginning prior to the Closing



Date, in each case without the prior written approval of the Shareholder Representative, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. Buyer shall not make or
permit to be made any election under Section 338 of the Code or Section 336(e) of the Code (or any similar provision under state, local, or foreign law) with
respect to the transactions contemplated by this agreement.

(f)    Tax Benefits. Shareholders shall be entitled to receive the benefit of any refunds or credits of any Taxes for any Pre-Closing Tax Period or the
portion of any Straddle Period ending at the end of the Closing Date (subject to any applicable accrual therefor in the Financial Statements and any change in
such accrual reflected in the Final Net Working Capital)), and Buyer shall cause the amount of any refunds or credits of Taxes (including interest) to which
Shareholders are entitled under this Section 10.2(f), but which are received by or credited to Buyer or Seller after the Closing Date, to be paid to the Shareholder
Representative on behalf of Shareholders, within five (5) business days after receipt thereof. In connection with the preparation of Tax Returns, Seller shall elect
to carry back any item of loss, deduction or credit from the Pre-Closing Tax Period or the portion of any Straddle Period ending at the end of the Closing Date,
including any Seller Transaction Expenses, to prior Tax years to the fullest extent permitted by law (using any available short-form or accelerated procedures
and filing amended Tax Returns to the extent necessary) and to obtain any potential Tax refunds or claims related thereto.

(g)    Tax Contests. If there is any audit, proceeding or other Tax-related claim (each a “Tax Contest”) after the Closing Date for which any of
Shareholders may have any direct or indirect liability or if and to the extent that such Tax Contest could give rise to a claim for indemnification by the Buyer
under Article 11, and notwithstanding Section 11.5, then the Shareholder Representative shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to control the defense and
conduct of such Tax Contest (and in no event shall Buyer or Seller settle, compromise or concede any such Tax Contest without the prior written consent of the
Shareholder Representative, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned), but the Buyer shall have the right to participate in such Tax
Contest at its own expense, and the Shareholder Representative shall not settle, compromise or concede any portion of such Tax Contest that could affect the Tax
liability of Buyer or Seller for any Post-Closing Tax Period without the written consent of Buyer, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or
conditioned.

10.3 NONCOMPETITION, NONSOLICITATION AND NONDISPARAGEMENT

(a)    Noncompetition. For a period of 4 years after the Closing Date (the “Restricted Period”), Yao shall not, anywhere in the world, directly or indirectly
invest in, own, manage, operate, finance, control, advise, render services to or guarantee the obligations of any Person that Yao is engaged in or that becomes
engaged in a business that competes with the Business (“Competing Business”), provided, however, that (i) Yao may purchase or otherwise acquire up to (but
not more than) 5% of any class of the securities of any Person (but may not otherwise participate in the activities of such Person) if such securities are listed on
any national or regional securities exchange or have been registered under Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act, (ii) Yao may conduct academic research in
scientific fields related to the Business, subject to the terms of the Consulting Agreement, and (iii) Yao shall be permitted to conduct business in the fields of
rotation sensing (gyroscope, excluding gyro coils), electrical current and magnetic field sensing, and with respect to LIDAR, Yao shall be permitted to work
on range sensing (LiDAR) using technologies limited to and based on opto-electronics oscillators (OEO) and/or WDM beamforming of the type either (a)
described in the claims, inventions and/or specifications for the following patent applications and all patents that may issue from such patent applications
entitled “Applications of optoelectronics oscillator (OEO) including light detection and ranging (Lidar) and optical frequency reflectometer (OFDR) systems”
(US patent application # 62/553,789, Chinese application # 201810020821.X) and "Optical Sensing based on Wavelength Division Multiplexed (WDM) Light at
Different Wavelengths in Light Detection and Ranging LiDAR Systems” (US patent application #  62/710,577, Chinese application # 20181090301.3); or (b)
continuations in part for the patents issuing from the patent applications listed in the foregoing clause (a).

(b)    Nonsolicitation. During the Restricted Period, Yao shall not, directly or indirectly:

(i)    solicit the business of any Person who is a customer of Buyer in a manner competitive with the Business;

(ii)    solicit or attempt to cause or induce any customer, supplier, licensee, licensor, franchisee, employee, consultant or other business relation of
Buyer to cease doing business with Buyer, to deal with any competitor of Buyer or in any way interfere with its relationship with Buyer;

(iii)    solicit or attempt to cause or induce any customer, supplier, licensee, licensor, franchisee, employee, consultant or other business relation of
Seller on the Closing Date or within the year preceding the Closing Date to cease doing business with Buyer, to deal with any competitor of Buyer or in
any way interfere with its relationship with Buyer; or

(iv)    hire or retain or solicit or attempt to hire or retain any employee or independent contractor of Buyer or in any way interfere with the
relationship between Buyer and any of its employees or independent contractors. For avoidance of doubt, nothing herein shall prevent Yao from posting
job openings.

(c)    Modification of Covenant. If a final judgment of a court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction determines that any term or provision contained in
Section 10.3(a) through (b) is invalid or unenforceable, then the parties agree that the court or tribunal will have the power to reduce the scope, duration or
geographic area of the term or provision, to delete specific words or phrases or to replace any invalid or unenforceable term or provision with a term or provision
that is valid and enforceable and that comes closest to expressing the intention of the invalid or unenforceable term or provision. This Section 10.3 will be
enforceable as so modified after the expiration of the time within which the judgment may be appealed. This Section 10.3 is reasonable and necessary to protect
and preserve Buyer’s legitimate business interests and the value of the Business and to prevent any unfair advantage conferred on Seller.

10.4 FURTHER ASSURANCES

Subject to the proviso in Section 6.1, the parties shall cooperate reasonably with each other and with their respective Representatives in connection with
any steps required to be taken as part of their respective obligations under this Agreement, and shall (a) furnish upon request to each other such further
information; (b) execute and deliver to each other such other documents; and (c) do such other acts and things, all as the other party may reasonably request for
the purpose of carrying out the intent of this Agreement and the Contemplated Transactions.

11. Indemnification; Remedies

11.1 SURVIVAL

Subject to the limitations and other provisions of this Agreement, the representations and warranties contained in this Agreement shall survive the
Closing and shall remain in full force and effect until the date that is 18 months from the Closing Date (and no Indemnified Party may bring a claim for



indemnification regarding a breach of any such representations or warranties after, except in the case of actual fraud); provided, that the Seller Fundamental
Representations, the Shareholder Representations, the representations set forth in Sections 3.14, 3.16, 3.25(m) and the Buyer Fundamental Representations shall
survive the Closing for the duration of the applicable statutes of limitation plus 30 days (and no Indemnified Party may bring a claim for indemnification
regarding a breach of any such representations or warranties after, except in the case of actual fraud). All covenants and agreements of the parties contained
herein shall survive the Closing indefinitely or for the period explicitly specified therein. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any claims asserted in good faith by
written notice from the non-breaching party to the breaching party prior to the expiration date of the applicable survival period shall not thereafter be barred by
the expiration of the relevant representation or warranty and such claims shall survive until finally resolved.

11.2 INDEMNIFICATION BY SELLER AND SHAREHOLDERS

Subject to the other terms and conditions of this Section 11, Seller (prior to Closing only) and each Shareholder (the “Seller Indemnifying Parties”) shall
jointly and severally (except with respect to Section 11.2(b), which shall be severally and not jointly), indemnify and defend each of Buyer and its Affiliates and
their respective Representatives (collectively, the “Buyer Indemnified Parties”) against, and shall hold each of them harmless from and against, and shall pay and
reimburse each of them for, any and all Losses incurred or sustained by, or imposed upon, the Buyer Indemnified Parties to the extent based upon, arising out of,
or by reason of:

(a)    any inaccuracy in or breach of any of the representations or warranties of Seller or any Shareholder contained in this Agreement (other than in
Section 3.6), as of the date such representation or warranty was made or as if such representation or warranty was made on and as of the Closing Date (except
for representations and warranties that expressly relate to a specified date, the inaccuracy in or breach of which will be determined with reference to such
specified date); provided, however, that, once there is such a breach or inaccuracy, qualifications as to materiality or similar qualifier contained in such
representations and warranties shall not be given effect for the sole purpose of calculating the amount of any Losses;

(b)    any inaccuracy in or breach of any of the representations or warranties of each Shareholder in Section 3.6;

(c)    any breach of any covenant, agreement or obligation to be performed by Seller or a Shareholder pursuant to this Agreement or any other Transaction
Document;

(d)    any Taxes owed by Seller attributable to periods prior to and including the Closing Date to the extent in excess of any applicable accrual therefor in
the Financial Statements (subject to any increase in such accrual reflected in the Final Net Working Capital);

(e)    any Losses attributable or arising out of the pre-Closing operation of the Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC Standardized 401(K) Profit Sharing
Plan or otherwise any breach of Section 3.16 related to such Plan; or

(f)    any Third Party Claim to the extent it is based upon, resulting from or arising out of the business, operations, properties, assets or obligations of
Seller or any of its Affiliates conducted, existing or arising prior to Closing to the extent such claim arises from a breach of any representation or warranty set
forth in Section 3 or results from gross negligence.

11.3 INDEMNIFICATION BY BUYER

Subject to the other terms and conditions of this Section 11, Buyer shall indemnify and defend each of Seller (prior to Closing only), the Shareholders
and their Affiliates and their respective Representatives (collectively, the “Seller Indemnified Parties”) against, and shall hold each of them harmless from and
against, and shall pay and reimburse each of them for, any and all Losses incurred or sustained by, or imposed upon, the Seller Indemnified Parties to the extent
based upon, arising out of, or by reason of:

(a)    any inaccuracy in or breach of any of the representations or warranties of Buyer contained in this Agreement, as of the date such representation or
warranty was made or as if such representation or warranty was made on and as of the Closing Date (except for representations and warranties that expressly
relate to a specified date, the inaccuracy in or breach of which will be determined with reference to such specified date);

(b)    any breach or non-fulfillment of any covenant, agreement or obligation to be performed by Buyer pursuant to this Agreement; or

(c)    any Third Party Claim to the extent it is based upon, resulting from or arising out of the business, operations, properties, assets or obligations of
Buyer or any of its Affiliates conducted, existing or arising after Closing (except to the extent such Third Party Claim is subject to indemnification pursuant to
Section 11.2);

11.4 CERTAIN LIMITATIONS

The indemnification provided for in Section 11.2 shall be subject to the following limitations:

(a)    Seller Indemnifying Parties shall not be liable to the Buyer Indemnified Parties for indemnification under Section 11.2(a) and (e) until the aggregate
amount of all Losses in respect of indemnification under Section 11.2(a) and (e) exceeds $100,000 (the “Basket”), in which event Seller Indemnifying Parties
shall only be required to pay or be liable for Losses in excess of the Basket.

(b)    The aggregate amount of all Losses for which Seller Indemnifying Parties shall be liable pursuant to Section 11.2(a) and (e) shall not exceed
$3,800,000.

(c)    Notwithstanding the foregoing, the limitations set forth in Sections 11.4(a) and (b) shall not apply to Losses based upon, arising out of actual fraud
or arising out of, with respect to or by reason of any inaccuracy in the Seller Fundamental Representations.

(d)    Except for actual fraud, the aggregate amount of all Losses for which Seller Indemnifying Parties shall be liable pursuant to Section 11.2(a) shall not
exceed $19,000,000.

(e)    Except for actual fraud, no Seller Indemnifying Party shall be liable for any Losses pursuant to Section 11.2 in excess of the Purchase Price actually
received by such Seller Indemnifying Party and in no event will any Seller Indemnifying Party be liable for any breach of a representation or warranty or actual
fraud committed by any other Seller Indemnifying Party. For the avoidance of doubt, even in the event of actual fraud, no Seller indemnifying Party that has not
committed fraud shall be liable for any Losses in excess of the Purchase Price actually received by such Seller Indemnifying Party.



(f)    Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, from and after the Closing, any claims for indemnification under Section 11.2 shall, subject to the
foregoing provisions of this Section 11.4, be satisfied (i) first, to the extent recovery is available under the Escrow Fund, pursuant to the Escrow Agreement, (ii)
second, by offset against any amounts of Earn-Out Payment that become due (but have not already been paid) pursuant to Section 2.5, , and (iii) third, to the
extent recovery is not available by offset of any Earn-out Payment or under the Escrow Fund, directly by Seller Indemnifying Parties.

11.5 INDEMNIFICATION PROCEDURES

The party making a claim under this Section 11 is referred to as the “Indemnified Party”, and the party against whom such claims are asserted under this
Section 11 is referred to as the “Indemnifying Party”.

(a)    Third Party Claims. If any Indemnified Party receives notice of the assertion or commencement of any Proceeding made or brought by any Person
who is not a party to this Agreement or an Affiliate of a party to this Agreement or a Representative of the foregoing (a “Third Party Claim”) against such
Indemnified Party with respect to which the Indemnifying Party is obligated to provide indemnification under this Agreement, the Indemnified Party shall give
the Indemnifying Party reasonably prompt written notice thereof, but in any event not later than 30 days after receipt of such notice of such Third Party Claim.
The failure to give such prompt written notice shall not, however, relieve the Indemnifying Party of its indemnification obligations, (i) unless the applicable
survival period has expired pursuant to Section 11.1, (ii) except and only to the extent that the Indemnifying Party forfeits rights or defenses by reason of such
failure, or (iii) except and only to the extent such failure materially prejudices the defense of such proceedings. Such notice by the Indemnified Party shall
describe the Third Party Claim in reasonable detail, shall include copies of all material written evidence thereof and shall indicate the estimated amount, if
reasonably practicable, of the Loss that has been or may be sustained by the Indemnified Party. The Indemnifying Party shall have the right to participate in, or
by giving written notice to the Indemnified Party, to assume the defense of any Third Party Claim at the Indemnifying Party’s expense and by the Indemnifying
Party’s own counsel, and the Indemnified Party shall cooperate in good faith in such defense; provided, that if the Indemnifying Party is the Shareholder
Representative on behalf of the Shareholders, such Indemnifying Party shall not have the right to defend or direct the defense of any such Third Party Claim that
(x) is asserted directly by or on behalf of a Person that is listed as a customer or supplier on Schedule 3.30 or 3.31, respectively, or (y) seeks an injunction or
other equitable relief against the Indemnified Party. In the event that the Indemnifying Party assumes the defense of any Third Party Claim, subject to Section
11.5(b), it shall have the right to take such action as it deems necessary to avoid, dispute, defend, appeal or make counterclaims pertaining to any such Third
Party Claim in the name and on behalf of the Indemnified Party. The Indemnified Party shall have the right to participate in the defense of any Third Party Claim
with counsel selected by it subject to the Indemnifying Party’s right to control the defense thereof. The fees and disbursements of such counsel shall be at the
expense of the Indemnified Party, provided, that if in the reasonable opinion of counsel to the Indemnified Party, (A) there are legal defenses available to an
Indemnified Party that are different from or additional to those available to the Indemnifying Party; or (B) there exists a conflict of interest between the
Indemnifying Party and the Indemnified Party that cannot be waived, the Indemnifying Party shall be liable for the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel to
the Indemnified Party in each jurisdiction for which the Indemnified Party determines counsel is required. If the Indemnifying Party elects not to compromise or
defend such Third Party Claim, fails to promptly notify the Indemnified Party in writing of its election to defend as provided in this Agreement, or fails to
diligently prosecute the defense of such Third Party Claim, the Indemnified Party may, subject to Section 11.5(b), pay, compromise, defend such Third Party
Claim and seek indemnification for any and all Losses based upon, arising from or relating to such Third Party Claim. Shareholder Representative and Buyer
shall cooperate with each other in all reasonable respects in connection with the defense of any Third Party Claim, including making available (subject to the
provisions of Article 12) records relating to such Third Party Claim and furnishing, without expense (other than reimbursement of actual out-of-pocket
expenses) to the defending party, management employees of the non-defending party as may be reasonably necessary for the preparation of the defense of such
Third Party Claim.

(b)    Settlement of Third Party Claims. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Indemnifying Party shall not enter into settlement of
any Third Party Claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party, except as provided in this Section 11.5(b). If a firm offer is made to settle a
Third Party Claim without leading to liability or the creation of a financial or other obligation on the part of the Indemnified Party and provides, in customary
form, for the unconditional release of each Indemnified Party from all liabilities and obligations in connection with such Third Party Claim and the Indemnifying
Party desires to accept and agree to such offer, the Indemnifying Party shall give written notice to that effect to the Indemnified Party. If the Indemnified Party
fails to consent to such firm offer within 10 days after its receipt of such notice, the Indemnified Party may continue to contest or defend such Third Party Claim
and in such event, the maximum liability of the Indemnifying Party as to such Third Party Claim shall not exceed the amount of such settlement offer. If the
Indemnified Party fails to consent to such firm offer and also fails to assume defense of such Third Party Claim, the Indemnifying Party may settle the Third
Party Claim upon the terms set forth in such firm offer to settle such Third Party Claim. If the Indemnified Party has assumed the defense pursuant to Section
11.5(a), it shall not agree to any settlement without the written consent of the Indemnifying Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed).

(c)    Direct Claims. Any claim by an Indemnified Party on account of a Loss that does not result from a Third Party Claim (a “Direct Claim”) shall be
asserted by the Indemnified Party giving the Indemnifying Party reasonably prompt written notice thereof. The failure to give such prompt written notice shall
not, however, relieve the Indemnifying Party of its indemnification obligations, (i) unless the applicable survival period has expired pursuant to Section 11.1, (ii)
except and only to the extent that the Indemnifying Party forfeits rights or defenses by reason of such failure, or (iii) except and only to the extent such failure
materially prejudices the defense of such proceedings. Such notice by the Indemnified Party shall describe the Direct Claim in reasonable detail and shall
indicate the reasonably estimated amount, if reasonably practicable, of the Loss that has been or may be sustained by the Indemnified Party. The Indemnifying
Party shall have 30 days after its receipt of such notice to respond in writing to such Direct Claim. The Indemnified Party shall allow the Indemnifying Party and
its professional advisors to investigate the matter or circumstance alleged to give rise to the Direct Claim, and whether and to what extent any amount is payable
in respect of the Direct Claim and the Indemnified Party shall assist the Indemnifying Party’s investigation by giving such information and assistance (including
access to the Indemnified Party’s premises and personnel and the right to examine and copy any accounts, documents or records) as the Indemnifying Party or
any of its professional advisors may reasonably request. If the Indemnifying Party does not so respond within such 30-day period, the Indemnifying Party shall
be deemed to have accepted such claim, in which case the Indemnified Party shall be free to pursue such remedies as may be available to the Indemnified Party
on the terms and subject to the provisions of this Agreement.

11.6 PAYMENTS

Once a Loss is agreed to or accepted by the Indemnifying Party or finally adjudicated to be payable pursuant to this Article 11, the Indemnifying Party
shall satisfy its obligations within 15 Business Days by wire transfer of immediately available funds. To the extent full payment of any such obligations within
such 15-Business Day period is not made, any amount payable shall accrue interest from and including the date of agreement or acceptance of the Indemnifying



Party or final, non-appealable adjudication to and including the date such payment has been made at a monthly compounded rate equal to three-month LIBOR
(or similar successor rate) plus 2% per annum. Such interest shall be calculated daily on the basis of a 365-day year and the actual number of days elapsed.

11.7 TAX TREATMENT OF INDEMNIFICATION PAYMENTS; NET OF INSURANCE

All indemnification payments made under this Agreement shall be treated by the parties as an adjustment to the Purchase Price for Tax purposes, unless
otherwise required by Legal Requirement. The amount of any Losses for which indemnification is provided under this Article 11 shall be net of any amounts
actually recovered by the Indemnified Party under insurance coverage with respect to such Losses (minus the out-of-pocket expenses of pursuing payment of
such amounts and any retrospective premium adjustments, as applicable), any indemnification paid or payable by any third party (minus the out-of-pocket
expenses of pursuing payment) and the amount of any Tax benefits actually realized by the Indemnified Party, in the year of such Losses, on account of or with
respect to such Losses. The Indemnified Party shall use commercially reasonable efforts to seek full recovery under any insurance policies that may cover any
Losses. In the event that an insurance or other recovery is made by any Indemnified Party with respect to any Losses for which any such Person has been
indemnified hereunder, then a refund equal to the aggregate amount of the recovery shall be promptly delivered by Buyer (or its agent) to Shareholder
Representative, for the benefit of the Seller Indemnifying Parties. The Indemnified Party shall, and shall cause the Seller to, use commercially reasonable efforts
to bring indemnity claims against any third party that has an indemnification obligation to either of them with respect to any Losses and to pursue such claims.

11.8 EXCLUSIVE REMEDIES; EFFECT OF INVESTIGATION

(a)    Subject to Section 10.3 and Section 13.5 and except in respect of actual fraud, the parties acknowledge and agree that their sole and exclusive
remedy with respect to any and all monetary claims related to this Agreement, including for any breach of any representation, warranty, covenant, agreement or
obligation set forth herein or otherwise relating to the subject matter of this Agreement, shall be pursuant to the indemnification provisions set forth in this
Section 11. In furtherance of the foregoing, each party hereby waives, to the fullest extent permitted under Legal Requirement and except for actual fraud, any
and all rights, claims and causes of action for any breach of any representation, warranty, covenant, agreement or obligation set forth herein or otherwise relating
to the subject matter of this Agreement it may have against the other parties hereto and their Affiliates and each of their respective Representatives arising under
or based upon any Legal Requirement, except pursuant to the indemnification provisions set forth in this Article 11. Nothing in this Section 11.8 shall limit any
Person’s right to seek and obtain any equitable relief to which any Person shall be entitled or to seek any remedy on account of any party’s actual fraud.

(b)    The representations, warranties and covenants of the Indemnifying Party, and the Indemnified Party’s right to indemnification with respect thereto,
shall not be affected or deemed waived by reason of any investigation made by or on behalf of the Indemnified Party (including by any of its Representatives) or
by reason of the fact that the Indemnified Party or any of its Representatives knew or should have known that any such representation or warranty is, was or
might be inaccurate or by reason of the Indemnified Party’s waiver of any condition set forth in Article 7 or Article 8, as the case may be.

12. Confidentiality

This Agreement and all information disclosed to a party or its Representatives by another party or its Representatives pursuant to this Agreement or any
of the other Transaction Documents shall be governed by the Nondisclosure Agreement. Each Shareholder Agreement hereby agrees to be bound by the terms of
the Nondisclosure Agreement as a Receiving Party thereunder. The Nondisclosure Agreement shall survive any termination of this Agreement. Following
Closing, Buyer’s “Confidential Information” (as defined in the Nondisclosure Agreement) shall include any and all confidential or proprietary information
related to the Business and the Assets (for the avoidance of doubt, following the Closing none of the foregoing shall be considered Seller’s or any Shareholder’s
“Confidential Information” thereunder), and for such purpose Seller and Shareholders each shall be deemed to be a Receiving Party with respect thereto.

13. General Provisions

13.1 EXPENSES

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, each party to this Agreement will bear its respective fees and expenses incurred in connection with the
preparation, negotiation, execution and performance of this Agreement and the Contemplated Transactions, including all fees and expense of its Representatives.
Buyer will pay one-half and Shareholder Representative on behalf of Shareholders will pay one-half of the fees and expenses of the Escrow Agent under the
Escrow Agreement. If this Agreement is terminated, the obligation of each party to pay its own fees and expenses will be subject to any rights of such party
arising from a Breach of this Agreement by another party.

13.2 PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENTS

The parties agree that they shall cooperate in respect of any public press release or public announcement, statement or disclosure concerning the
Contemplated Transactions, except for any release or announcement as may be required by applicable Legal Requirement or applicable stock exchange
regulation (including Buyer making a public announcement through the filing of a Current Report on Form 8-K upon execution of this Agreement or otherwise).
Shareholder Representative and Buyer will consult with each other concerning the means by which Seller’s employees, customers, suppliers and others having
dealings with Seller will be informed of the Contemplated Transactions, and Buyer will have the right to be present for any such communication.

13.3 NOTICES

All notices, Consents, waivers and other communications required or permitted by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed given to a
party when (a) delivered to the appropriate address by hand or by nationally recognized overnight courier service (costs prepaid); (b) sent by e-mail with
confirmation of transmission by the transmitting equipment; or (c) received or rejected by the addressee, if sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, in
each case to the following addresses or e-mail addresses and marked to the attention of the person (by name or title) designated below (or to such other address,
e-mail address or person as a party may designate by notice to the other parties):

Seller (before Closing):

General Photonics Corporation
14351 Pipeline Av.
Chino, CA 91710

with a mandatory copy to (which shall not constitute notice):



Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth, P.C.
660 Newport Center Drive, Suite 1600
Newport Beach, CA 92660    
Attention:    Mark L. Skaist
Telephone:    (949) 725-4117
Facsimile:    (949) 823-5117
Email:    mskaist@sycr.com

Shareholder Representative (after Closing):
                

Steve Yao
2700 Las Vegas BLVD S. Unit 3307
Las Vegas, NV 89109
E-mail: steveyao888@yahoo.com
Office: 909-590-5473
Cell: 909-890-6016

with a mandatory copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth, P.C.
660 Newport Center Drive, Suite 1600
Newport Beach, CA 92660    
Attention:    Mark L. Skaist
Telephone:    (949) 725-4117
Facsimile:    (949) 823-5117
Email:    mskaist@sycr.com

Buyer and Buyer Guarantor:
        

Luna Innovations Incorporated
301 1st Street, SW, Suite 200
Roanoke, VA 24011
Attention: Scott Graeff
E-mail: graeffs@lunainc.com

with a mandatory copy to (which shall not constitute notice):
        
Woods Rogers, PLC
Wells Fargo Tower, 14th Floor
10 S. Jefferson Street
Roanoke, VA 24011
Attention: Fourd Kemper
E-mail: fkemper@woodsrogers.com

13.4 JURISDICTION; SERVICE OF PROCESS; WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL

(a)    ANY UNRESOLVED DISPUTE ARISING OUT OF OR BASED UPON THIS AGREEMENT, THE TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS OR THE
TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY SHALL BE DETERMINED BY ARBITRATION IN DELAWARE, BEFORE ONE (1)
ARBITRATOR WHO SHALL BE A RETIRED JUDGE ADMITTED TO PRACTICE LAW. THE ARBITRATION SHALL BE ADMINISTERED BY JAMS
(OR ANY LIKE ORGANIZATION SUCCESSOR THERETO) PURSUANT TO ITS STREAMLINED ARBITRATION RULES AND PROCEDURES. THE
ARBITRATOR SHALL FOLLOW ANY APPLICABLE FEDERAL LAW AND DELAWARE STATE LAW IN RENDERING AN AWARD. JUDGMENT ON
THE AWARD MAY BE ENTERED IN ANY COURT HAVING JURISDICTION. THIS CLAUSE SHALL NOT PRECLUDE THE PARTIES FROM
SEEKING PROVISIONAL REMEDIES IN AID OF ARBITRATION FROM A COURT OF APPROPRIATE JURISDICTION. THE PARTIES FURTHER
UNDERSTAND AND AGREE THAT THE ARBITRATOR’S DECISION SHALL BE CONFIDENTIAL AND FINAL AND BINDING TO THE FULLEST
EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW AND ENFORCEABLE BY ANY COURT HAVING JURISDICTION THEREOF, PROVIDED HOWEVER THAT SUCH
DECISION MAY BE CHALLENGED ON THE GROUNDS OF A MISTAKE ON APPLICABLE LAW OR IF AWARDS ARE GRANTED IN VIOLATION
OF SECTION 11.4(E).

(b)    EACH PARTY ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ANY CONTROVERSY WHICH MAY ARISE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT OR
THE OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS IS LIKELY TO INVOLVE COMPLICATED AND DIFFICULT ISSUES AND, THEREFORE, EACH SUCH
PARTY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY LEGAL
ACTION ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, THE OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS OR THE TRANSACTIONS
CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY. EACH PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT (A) NO
REPRESENTATIVE OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT SEEK
TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER IN THE EVENT OF A PROCEEDING, (B) SUCH PARTY HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF
THIS WAIVER, (C) SUCH PARTY MAKES THIS WAIVER VOLUNTARILY, AND (D) SUCH PARTY HAS BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS
AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 13.4(b).

13.5 ENFORCEMENT OF AGREEMENT

Each party acknowledges and agrees that the other party would be irreparably damaged if any of the provisions of this Agreement are not performed in
accordance with their specific terms and that any Breach of this Agreement by a party could not be adequately compensated in all cases by monetary damages
alone. Accordingly, in addition to any other right or remedy to which a party may be entitled, at law or in equity, each party shall be entitled to seek to enforce
any provision of this Agreement by a decree of specific performance and to temporary, preliminary and permanent injunctive relief to prevent Breaches or
threatened Breaches of any of the provisions of this Agreement, without the requirement of posting a bond.



13.6 WAIVER; REMEDIES CUMULATIVE

Subject to Section 9.2 until Closing and subject to Section 11.8 after Closing, the rights and remedies of the parties to this Agreement are cumulative and
not alternative. Neither any failure nor any delay by any party in exercising any right, power or privilege under this Agreement or any of the documents referred
to in this Agreement will operate as a waiver of such right, power or privilege, and no single or partial exercise of any such right, power or privilege will
preclude any other or further exercise of such right, power or privilege or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege. To the maximum extent permitted
by applicable law, (a) no claim or right arising out of this Agreement or any of the documents referred to in this Agreement can be discharged by one party, in
whole or in part, by a waiver or renunciation of the claim or right unless in writing signed by the other party; (b) no waiver that may be given by a party will be
applicable except in the specific instance for which it is given; and (c) no notice to or demand on one party will be deemed to be a waiver of any obligation of
that party or of the right of the party giving such notice or demand to take further action without notice or demand as provided in this Agreement or the
documents referred to in this Agreement.

13.7 ENTIRE AGREEMENT AND MODIFICATION

This Agreement supersedes all prior agreements, whether written or oral, between the parties with respect to its subject matter (including any letter of
intent) and constitutes (along with the other Transaction Documents and the Nondisclosure Agreement) a complete and exclusive statement of the terms of the
agreement between the parties with respect to its subject matter. This Agreement may not be amended, supplemented, or otherwise modified except by a written
agreement executed by the party to be charged with the amendment.

13.8 ASSIGNMENTS, SUCCESSORS AND NO THIRD-PARTY RIGHTS

No party may assign any of its rights or delegate any of its obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other parties, except
that Buyer may assign any of its rights and delegate any of its obligations under this Agreement to any Subsidiary of Buyer and may collaterally assign its rights
hereunder to any financial institution providing financing in connection with the Contemplated Transactions. Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement
will apply to, be binding in all respects upon and inure to the benefit of the successors, heirs and permitted assigns of the parties. Nothing expressed or referred
to in this Agreement will be construed to give any Person other than the parties to this Agreement any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or with
respect to this Agreement or any provision of this Agreement, except such rights as shall inure to a successor or permitted assignee pursuant to this Section 13.8.

13.9 SEVERABILITY

If any provision of this Agreement is held invalid or unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, the other provisions of this Agreement will
remain in full force and effect. Any provision of this Agreement held invalid or unenforceable only in part or degree will remain in full force and effect to the
extent not held invalid or unenforceable.

13.10 CONSTRUCTION

The headings of Articles and Sections in this Agreement are provided for convenience only and will not affect its construction or interpretation. All
references to “Articles,” “Sections” and “Parts” refer to the corresponding Articles, Sections and Parts of this Agreement and the Disclosure Schedules.

13.11 TIME OF ESSENCE

With regard to all dates and time periods set forth or referred to in this Agreement, time is of the essence.

13.12 GOVERNING LAW

This Agreement will be governed by and construed under the laws of the State of Delaware without regard to conflicts-of-laws principles that would
require the application of any other law.

13.13 EXECUTION OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement may be executed by electronic transmission and in one or more counterparts, each of which will be deemed to be an original copy of this
Agreement and all of which, when taken together, will be deemed to constitute one and the same agreement. The exchange of copies of this Agreement and of
signature pages by electronic transmission shall constitute effective execution and delivery of this Agreement as to the parties and may be used in lieu of the
original Agreement for all purposes. Signatures of the parties transmitted by electronic transmission shall be deemed to be their original signatures for all
purposes.

13.14 BUYER GUARANTOR

Subject to the prior satisfaction of any conditions set forth herein, Buyer Guarantor unconditionally and irrevocably agrees to take any and all actions
necessary to cause Buyer to perform all of its covenants, agreements and obligations under this Agreement and any Transaction Document to which Buyer is a
party, including with respect to the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby, and Buyer Guarantor shall be liable for any breach by any Buyer of
any representation, warranty, covenant, agreement or obligation under this Agreement or any Transaction Document.

13.15    SHAREHOLDER REPRESENTATIVE

(a)    Each Shareholder hereby irrevocably appoints Yao (the “Shareholder Representative”) as the agent for each such Shareholder with full power of
attorney to act for and on behalf of such Shareholder in any capacity in connection with this Agreement and all other agreements, documents and instruments
executed and delivered by any Shareholder, including the giving and receiving of all notices, reports, waivers and consents. Each Shareholder agrees to deliver
this Agreement to the Shareholder Representative and hereby authorizes the Shareholder Representative to (a) amend or modify this Agreement on behalf of
such Shareholder, (b) attend the Closing on behalf of a Shareholder, (c) execute, deliver and endorse any other agreements, documents or instruments required to
be executed, delivered or endorsed on behalf of a Shareholder to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (d) negotiate and settle any
indemnification claim made by Buyer which may result in the further payment by a Shareholder as an Indemnifying Party hereunder, (e) receive each
Shareholder’s allocable Pro Rata Share of the Purchase Price, which shall be allocated among and paid to the Shareholders by the Shareholder Representative,
and (f) take all other actions for and on behalf of the Shareholders, whether before or after the Closing, that may be necessary or desirable in connection with the



consummation of the contemplated transactions or in connection with any matters arising after the Closing relating to this Agreement, including with respect to
the Escrow Agreement. All provisions hereunder requiring actions to be taken, consents to be given, requiring action to a Shareholder’s or the Shareholders’
satisfaction and the like, shall be deemed satisfied if such action is taken, such consent given or approval or similar step is taken or given by the Shareholder
Representative on behalf of a Shareholder. Each Shareholder hereby designates and appoints Shareholder Representative to serve as agent to receive on such
Shareholder’s behalf service of notices under this Agreement, as well as service of all process or other similar notices of suit in any proceedings in any courts,
such service or similar notice of suit being hereby acknowledged by a Shareholder to be effective and binding service or notice in every respect.

(b)    The Shareholder Representative will not be liable for any act taken or omitted to be taken as Shareholder Representative, except to the extent such
actions are determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to have constituted actual fraud or intentionally wrongful misconduct. Except in cases where a court
of competent jurisdiction has made such a determination, the Shareholders shall severally but not jointly indemnify and hold harmless the Shareholder
Representative from and against any and all claims against it. The Shareholder Representative may resign at any time, and may be removed for any reason or no
reason by the vote or written consent of Shareholders who received a majority of the Pro Rata Share of the Purchase Price. In the event of the death, incapacity,
resignation or removal of the Shareholder Representative, a new Shareholder Representative must be appointed by the vote or written consent of Shareholders
who received a majority of the Pro Rata Share of the Purchase Price. Buyer and the Escrow Agent may rely upon any decision, act, consent or instruction of the
Shareholder Representative as being the decision, act, consent or instruction of each of the Shareholders. The Buyer and the Escrow Agent are hereby relieved
from any liability to any Person for any acts done by them in accordance with such decision, act, consent or instruction of the Shareholder Representative.

(c)    Each Shareholder, severally and not jointly in accordance with his, her or its Pro Rata Share, shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the
Shareholder Representative from and against any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, fees, costs, expenses (including fees, disbursements and costs of
counsel and other skilled professionals and in connection with seeking recovery from insurers), judgments, fines or amounts paid in settlement (collectively, the
“Representative Expenses”) incurred without gross negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the Shareholder Representative and arising out of or in
connection with the acceptance or administration of its duties hereunder. Such Representative Expenses may be recovered first, from the Expense Fund Amount
(as defined below), second, from any distribution of the Escrow Amount otherwise distributable to the Shareholders at the time of distribution, and third, directly
from the Shareholders. The Shareholders acknowledge that the Shareholder Representative shall not be required to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise
incur any financial liability in the exercise or performance of any of its powers, rights, duties or privileges or pursuant to this Agreement or the transactions
contemplated herein. Furthermore, the Shareholder Representative shall not be required to take any action unless the Shareholder Representative has been
provided with funds, security or indemnities which, in its determination, are sufficient to protect the Shareholder Representative against the costs, expenses and
liabilities which may be incurred by the Shareholder Representative in performing such actions.

(d)    Upon the Closing, each Shareholder hereby authorizes Buyer to withhold an aggregate amount equal to $150,000 (the “Expense Fund Amount”)
and an amount of $100,000 (the “Working Capital Holdback Amount” and, together with the Expense Fund Amount, the “Amounts”) from the amounts
otherwise payable to the Shareholders pursuant to this Agreement and to deliver such amount to the Shareholder Representative. The Expense Fund Amount
shall be held by the Shareholder Representative in a segregated account and shall be used for the purposes of paying directly or reimbursing the Shareholder
Representative for any Representative Expenses incurred pursuant to this Agreement. The Working Capital Holdback Amount shall be held by the Shareholder
Representative in a segregated account and shall be used for the purposes of paying any cash due under Section 2.8(c). The Shareholder Representative is not
providing any investment supervision, recommendations or advice and shall have no responsibility or liability for any loss of principal of the Amounts other
than as a result of its gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Shareholder Representative is not acting as a withholding agent or in any similar capacity in
connection with the Amounts, and has no tax reporting or income distribution obligations. The Shareholders will not receive any interest on the Amounts and
assign to the Shareholder Representative any such interest. The Shareholder Representative may contribute funds to the Amounts from any consideration
otherwise distributable to the Shareholders. As soon as reasonably determined by the Shareholder Representative that the Amounts are no longer required to be
withheld, the Shareholder Representative shall distribute the remaining Amounts (if any) to the Shareholders.

[Signature Pages Follow]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.

BUYER:  SELLER:
   

LUNA TECHNOLOGIES, INC.  GENERAL PHOTONICS CORPORATION

  

By: /s/ Scott A. Graeff  By: /s/Steve Yao
Name: Scott A. Graeff  Name: Steve Yao
Title: President & CEO  Title: President
   

BUYER GUARANTOR:

LUNA INNOVATIONS INCORPORATED



By: /s/ Scott A. Graeff
Name: Scott A. Graeff
Title: President & CEO
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Exhibit A-1

Applicable Accounting Principles

The following represent accounting methods for General Photonics’ (“GP”) internal financial statements that are not consistent with Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (“GAAP”).

▪ GP does not include a Statements of Cash Flows in its internal financial statements;

▪ GP does not include Notes to Financial Statements in its internal financial statements;

▪ GP customarily has year-end audit adjustments that could impact the monthly internal financial statements, consistent with past practice;

▪ GP does not reserve on its monthly internal financial statements for bad debt. The Company reserves 5% of the outstanding Accounts Receivable balance at
fiscal year-end (5% of AR balance as of 12/31/18 is approximately ($27,569.94));

▪ GP does not reserve against its inventory for excess and obsolescence (“E&O”) in their monthly financial statements. At fiscal year-end the Company
reviews the inventory for any E&O and writes off/down any obsolete inventory. In addition, the Company at fiscal year-end writes off any inventory that is
aged greater than one year. However, in 2017 and 2018 no such write offs occurred;

▪ GP’s inventory valuation does not capitalize overhead or labor in the internal financial statements or the Audited Statements, but does to tax purposes;

▪ GP does not on a monthly basis amortize its Intellectual Property/Patents on the financial statements, this entry is made at year end;

▪ GP’s accrues for commissions on a monthly basis in the financial statements;

▪ The Company evaluates the financial performance of the Company at fiscal year-end to determine employee bonus’ which is then accrued for on the year-
end financial statement. The employee bonus is paid in the following quarter (Q1).

▪ GP does not accrue for income taxes on its monthly internal financial statements, however, the Company makes quarterly estimates which is expensed at the
time of payment and reconciled at year end when the fiscal year books are closed. The estimated payments are recorded as Tax Deposits on the internal
balance sheet until reconciled;

▪ GP does not accrue for warranty. All warranty items are expensed as incurred. For the 11 months ending November 2018 the total warranty expense incurred



was approximately $53,000 which represented 305 units.

▪ GP expenses depreciation on a monthly basis and makes an annual adjustment to reconcile the asset/depreciation accounts;

▪ GP uses ADP for payroll services (compensation and payroll tax) which is paid twice per month falling in the financial reporting period;

▪ GP does not have a matching policy for 401K, so no accrual for pension contribution is required;

▪ As a result of the Transaction contemplated herein, certain employees are receiving transaction bonuses that will be submitted through payroll for which the
employer portion of the payroll taxes shall be included in the calculation of Net Working Capital;

▪ As a result of the Transaction contemplated herein, the Option Holders will be paid at closing through payroll and the resulting employer portion of the
payroll tax shall be included in the calculation of Net Working Capital.

Exhibit A-2

Material Consents

1. Consent to the transfer of the Lease.

    



Exhibit 99.1

Luna Innovations Reports
Strong Fourth-Quarter and Fiscal-Year 2018 Results

• Fifth consecutive quarter of year-over-year, double-digit revenue growth

• Total revenues of $13.5 million for the three months ended December 31, 2018, up 37% compared to the three months ended December 31, 2017; total revenues of

$42.9 million for fiscal year 2018, an increase of 30% compared to fiscal 2017

• Pre-tax income from continuing operations improved to $0.6 million for the three months ended December 31, 2018, compared to a loss of $(0.5) million for the

prior-year fourth quarter; for fiscal 2018, pre-tax income from continuing operations increased to $1.3 million compared to a pre-tax loss from continuing

operations of $(2.4) million in fiscal 2017

• Net income attributable to common stockholders improved to $0.9 million for the three months ended December 31, 2018, compared to $0.4 million for the prior-

year fourth quarter; for fiscal 2018, income attributable to common stockholders declined to $10.7 million from $14.5 million in fiscal 2017, primarily due to the

smaller gain recognized on the sale of discontinued operations in 2018 compared to 2017.

• Adjusted EBITDA of $1.6 million for the three months ended December 31, 2018 and $3.0 million for fiscal year 2018, and a gross margin improvement of 5 basis

points for the full year

(ROANOKE, VA, March 4, 2019) - Luna Innovations Incorporated (NASDAQ: LUNA), a global leader in advanced fiber optic-based technology, today reported strong
financial results for the three months and fiscal year ended December 31, 2018.

“This has been an extraordinary year for Luna, and I’m extremely pleased with our performance in the fourth quarter and for this fiscal year,” said Scott Graeff, President and
Chief Executive Officer of Luna. “Our strong financial results underscore how we have executed on our strategy to realign Luna's business to focus on our core, fiber optic-
based test and measurement offerings. We’ve identified and acquired new businesses to complement our existing platforms and have been committed to divesting those
businesses that no longer fit our growth profile as an organization. These actions, combined with the strength of our customer base in rapid-growth industries, have driven
Luna’s fiscal 2018 performance, and we are well positioned for future growth.”

Graeff continued, “As prudent stewards of capital, we believe that the acquisition of General Photonics, a leader in characterization and control of light for photonics
applications, will only continue to drive Luna’s growth. This



acquisition, and the acquisition of Micron Optics completed last year, spotlight Luna’s ability to acquire assets that fit squarely within our core while delivering an excellent
return on invested capital.”

Fourth-Quarter and Full-Year Fiscal 2018 Financial Summary
Total revenues for the three months ended December 31, 2018 were $13.5 million, compared to $9.9 million for the three months ended December 31, 2017. Total products and
licensing revenues increased to $8.0 million for the three months ended December 31, 2018, compared to $4.7 million for the three months ended December 31, 2017. The
increase in the products and licensing revenues for the three months ended December 31, 2018, compared to the three months ended December 31, 2017, includes revenues
realized from the acquisition of Micron Optics, Inc. (“MOI”) in October 2018 along with continued growth in sales of Luna's fiber optic-based sensing products, including its
ODiSI products and its Terahertz products. Technology development revenues increased to $5.5 million for the three months ended December 31, 2018, compared to $5.1
million for the three months ended December 31, 2017. The increase in technology development revenues for the three months ended December 31, 2018 compared to the
prior-year period was due to growth in various government research programs surrounding applications of advanced materials and Luna's success in winning related research
contracts.

Gross profit was $6.6 million, or 49% of revenues, for the three months ended December 31, 2018, compared to gross profit of $4.2 million, or 42% of revenues, for the three
months ended December 31, 2017.

Selling, general and administrative ("SG&A") expenses were $4.9 million for the three months ended December 31, 2018, compared to $3.9 million for the three months ended
December 31, 2017. Research, development and engineering ("R&D") expenses were $1.3 million for the three months ended December 31, 2018, compared to $0.7 million
for the three months ended December 31, 2017. The increase in SG&A expenses was due primarily to $0.8 million in transaction-related costs associated with the acquisition
of MOI and $0.8 million of expenses associated with the operations of MOI following the acquisition.

Pre-tax income from continuing operations improved to $0.6 million for the three months ended December 31, 2018 compared to a pre-tax loss from continuing operations of
$(0.5) million for the three months ended December 31, 2017. Net income from continuing operations declined slightly to $(0.1) million for the three months ended December
31, 2018, compared to breakeven for the prior-year fiscal quarter due to the allocation of income taxes between continuing and discontinued operations.

Net income attributable to common stockholders for the three months ended December 31, 2018 was $0.9 million, compared to $0.4 million for the three months ended
December 31, 2017. The increase in net income attributable to common stockholders includes a $0.6 million increase in income from discontinued operations associated with
finalization of the purchase price from the sale of Luna's optoelectronics business in July 2018.

Adjusted EBITDA was $1.6 million for the three months ended December 31, 2018, compared to $0.7 million for the three months ended December 31, 2017.

For the full year fiscal 2018, Luna reported total revenues of $42.9 million, an increase of 30% compared to total revenues of $33.1 million for fiscal 2017. Gross profit
improved to $19.4 million, or 45% of revenues, for 2018 compared to $13.4 million, or 40% or revenues, for 2017. SG&A expenses increased to $14.8 million for 2018
compared to $12.9 million in 2017. The increase in SG&A expenses included $0.8 million in costs associated with the acquisition of MOI. R&D expenses were $3.8 million in
2018 compared to $2.7 million in 2017.

Pre-tax income from continuing operations improved to$1.3 million for fiscal 2018 compared to a pre-tax loss from continuing operations of $(2.4) million for fiscal 2017.
Income from continuing operations improved to $1.2 million compared to a loss from continuing operations of $(1.3) million for 2017.



Net income attributable to common stockholders was $10.7 million for fiscal 2018 compared to $14.5 million for fiscal 2017. The year-over-year decline was due primarily to
the larger gain recognized on the sale of Luna's high-speed optical receivers business in 2017 compared to the gain from the sale of Luna's optoelectronic components business
in 2018. Net income from continuing operations improved to $1.2 million, or $0.04 per diluted share for fiscal 2018, compared to a net loss from continuing operations of
$(1.3) million, or $(0.05) per diluted share for fiscal 2017. Adjusted EBITDA was $3.0 million for fiscal 2018 compared to $0.3 million for the prior fiscal year. A
reconciliation of net income to adjusted EBITDA can be found in the schedules included in this release.

2019 Full Year Outlook:

Luna expects:

• Total revenues in the range of $60 million to $65 million for full fiscal 2019; and

• Adjusted EBITDA in the range of $6.0 million to $6.5 million for full fiscal 2019.

Luna is not providing outlook for net income, which is the most directly comparable GAAP measure to adjusted EBITDA, because changes in the items that Luna excludes
from net income to calculate adjusted EBITDA, including items such as share-based compensation, amortization of acquired intangible assets, tax expense, and significant
non-recurring charges, among other things, can be dependent on future events that are less capable of being controlled or reliably predicted by management and are not part of
Luna's routine operating activities.

The outlook above includes the expected operating results from Luna's acquisition of General Photonics Corporation announced today along with the associated acquisition
costs. It does not include any future acquisitions, divestitures, or unanticipated events.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
In evaluating the operating performance of its business, Luna’s management considers adjusted EBITDA, which excludes certain charges and credits that are required by
generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). Adjusted EBITDA provides useful information to both management and investors by excluding the effect of certain non-
cash expenses and items that Luna believes may not be indicative of its operating performance, because either they are unusual and Luna does not expect them to recur in the
ordinary course of its business, or they are unrelated to the ongoing operation of the business in the ordinary course. Adjusted EBITDA should be considered in addition to
results prepared in accordance with GAAP, but should not be considered a substitute for, or superior to, GAAP results. Adjusted EBITDA has been reconciled to the nearest
GAAP measure in the table following the financial statements attached to this press release.

Conference Call Information
As previously announced, Luna will conduct an investor conference call at 8:30 am (EST) today to discuss its financial results for the fourth-quarter and year-end fiscal 2018,
the acquisition of General Photonics and recent business developments. The call can be accessed by dialing 844.578.9643 domestically or 270.823.1522 internationally prior to
the start of the call. The participant access code is 8384348. Investors are advised to dial in at least five minutes prior to the call to register. The conference call will also be
webcast live over the Internet. The webcast can be accessed by logging on to the “Investor Relations” section of the Luna website, www.lunainc.com, prior to the event. The
webcast will be archived under the “Webcasts and Presentations” section of the Luna website for at least 30 days following the conference call.

About Luna



Luna Innovations Incorporated (www.lunainc.com) is a leader in optical technology, providing unique capabilities in high-performance, fiber optic-based, test products for the
telecommunications industry and distributed fiber optic-based sensing for the aerospace and automotive industries. Luna is organized into two business segments, which work
closely together to turn ideas into products: a Technology Development segment and a Products and Licensing segment. Luna’s business model is designed to accelerate the
process of bringing new and innovative technologies to market.

Forward-Looking Statements
The statements in this release that are not historical facts constitute “forward-looking statements” made pursuant to the safe harbor provision of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995 that involve risks and uncertainties. These statements include Luna's expectations regarding its growth potential and the impact of its acquisitions of MOI
and General Photonics on future growth, its projected 2019 financial results, and its business focus. Management cautions the reader that these forward-looking statements are
only predictions and are subject to a number of both known and unknown risks and uncertainties, and actual results, performance, and/or achievements of Luna may differ
materially from the future results, performance, and/or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements as a result of a number of factors. These factors
include, without limitation, failure of demand for Luna's products and services to meet expectations, failure of target market to grow and expand, technological and strategic
challenges and those risks and uncertainties set forth in Luna’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2018, and Luna's other periodic reports and filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). Such filings are available on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov and on Luna’s website at www.lunainc.com. The statements
made in this release are based on information available to Luna as of the date of this release and Luna undertakes no obligation to update any of the forward-looking statements
after the date of this release.

Investor Contacts:

Jane Bomba                        Sally J. Curley
Luna Innovations Incorporated                Luna Innovations Incorporated
Phone: 303-829-1211                    614-530-3002
Email: IR@lunainc.com                    IR@lunainc.com



Luna Innovations Incorporated
Consolidated Statements of Operations

 

 Three months ended December 31,  Year ended December 31,

 2018  2017  2018  2017

 (unaudited)  (unaudited)  (unaudited)   
Revenues:        

Technology development revenues $ 5,548,639  $ 5,147,954  $ 20,967,556  $ 18,576,383
Products and licensing revenues 7,989,686  4,714,269  21,949,689  14,505,482

Total revenues 13,538,325  9,862,223  42,917,245  33,081,865
Cost of revenues:        

Technology development costs 4,268,509  3,943,118  15,400,475  13,988,378
Products and licensing costs 2,697,538  1,731,643  8,078,870  5,724,457

Total cost of revenues 6,966,047  5,674,761  23,479,345  19,712,835
Gross profit 6,572,278  4,187,462  19,437,900  13,369,030
Operating expense:        

Selling, general and administrative 4,896,136  3,943,520  14,794,205  12,923,841
Research, development and engineering 1,252,663  691,566  3,766,160  2,653,337

Total operating expense 6,148,799  4,635,086  18,560,365  15,577,178
Operating income/(loss) 423,479  (447,624)  877,535  (2,208,148)
Other expense:        

Other (expense)/income, net (1,070)  114  (17,143)  26,106
Investment income 198,525  —  549,580  —
Interest expense, net (21,136)  (38,474)  (124,344)  (217,352)

Total other income/(expense) 176,319  (38,360)  408,093  (191,246)
Income/(loss) from continuing operations before income taxes 599,798  (485,984)  1,285,628  (2,399,394)
Income tax expense/(benefit) 722,148  (486,530)  47,818  (1,148,579)
(Loss)/Income from continuing operations (122,350)  546  1,237,810  (1,250,815)
Income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes 1,062,186  434,783  9,766,431  15,865,720
Net income 939,836  435,329  11,004,241  14,614,905

Preferred stock dividend 66,407  49,558  257,302  146,889
Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 873,429  $ 385,771  $ 10,746,939  $ 14,468,016
Net income/(loss) per share from continuing operations:        

Basic $ —  $ —  $ 0.04  $ (0.05)
       Diluted $ —  $ —  $ 0.04  $ (0.05)
Net income per share from discontinued operations:        

Basic $ 0.04  $ 0.01  $ 0.35  $ 0.58
       Diluted $ 0.04  $ 0.01  $ 0.30  $ 0.58
Net income per share attributable to common stockholders:        

Basic $ 0.03  $ 0.01  $ 0.39  $ 0.52
       Diluted $ 0.03  $ 0.01  $ 0.33  $ 0.52
Weighted average shares:        

Basic 28,067,348  27,485,278  27,596,401  27,579,988
Diluted 28,067,348  31,790,418  32,452,228  27,579,988



Luna Innovations Incorporated
Consolidated Balance Sheets

 

 December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017

 (unaudited)   
Assets    

Current assets:    
Cash and cash equivalents $ 42,460,267  $ 36,981,533
Accounts receivable, net 13,037,068  5,929,042
Receivable from sale of HSOR business 2,500,000  4,000,976
Contract assets 2,422,495  1,778,142
Inventory, net 6,873,742  4,634,781
Prepaid expenses 935,185  1,140,999
Current assets held for sale —  4,336,105

Total current assets 68,228,757  58,801,578
Property and equipment, net 3,627,886  2,854,641
Intangible assets, net 3,302,270  1,727,390
Goodwill 101,008  —
Long term contract assets 336,820  209,699
Other assets 1,995  1,995
Non-current assets held for sale —  2,627,333

Total assets $ 75,598,736  $ 66,222,636
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity    

Current liabilities:    
Current portion of long term debt obligation $ 619,315  $ 1,833,333
Current portion of capital lease obligation 40,586  43,665
Accounts payable 2,395,984  2,111,077
Accrued liabilities 6,597,458  6,547,230
Contract liabilities 2,486,111  3,318,379
Current liabilities held for sale —  972,451

Total current liabilities 12,139,454  14,826,135
Long-term deferred rent 1,035,974  1,184,438
Long-term debt obligation —  603,007
Long-term capital lease obligation 68,978  71,275

Total liabilities 13,244,406  16,684,855
Commitments and contingencies    
Stockholders’ equity:    

Preferred stock, par value $0.001, 1,321,514 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017 1,322  1,322
Common stock, par value $0.001, 100,000,000 shares authorized, 29,209,506 and 28,354,822 shares issued, 27,956,401 and 27,283,918
shares outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively 30,120  29,186
Treasury stock at cost, 1,253,105 and 1,070,904 shares at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively (2,116,640)  (1,649,746)
Additional paid-in capital 85,744,750  83,563,208
Accumulated deficit (21,305,222)  (32,406,189)

Total stockholders’ equity 62,354,330  49,537,781
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 75,598,736  $ 66,222,636



Luna Innovations Incorporated
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

 

  Year ended December 31,

  2018  2017

  (unaudited)   
Cash flows (used in)/provided by operating activities:    

Net income  $ 11,004,241  $ 14,614,905
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities:     

Depreciation and amortization  1,095,418  2,526,609
Stock-based compensation  527,189  715,094
(Gain)/loss on disposal of fixed assets  (1,000)  3,640
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of income taxes  (8,595,798)  (15,671,028)
Bad debt  6,000  99,888

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:     
Accounts receivable  (6,240,377)  1,152,055
Contract assets  (761,714)  —
Inventory  (967,797)  (1,902,311)
Prepaid expenses  1,849,630  83,428
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  (661,928)  (896,534)
Contract liabilities  (986,498)  —
Deferred credits  —  189,296

Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities  (3,732,634)  915,042
Cash flows provided by investing activities:     

Acquisition of property and equipment  (329,249)  (1,352,531)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment  1,000  3,000
Intangible property costs  (309,266)  (495,597)
Acquisition of Micron Optics  (5,001,750)  —
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations, net  15,799,529  28,026,528

Net cash provided by investing activities  10,160,264  26,181,400
Cash flows used in financing activities:     

Payments on debt obligations  (1,833,333)  (1,833,333)
Payments on capital lease obligation  (46,653)  (52,128)
Purchase of treasury stock  (466,894)  (1,131,759)
Proceeds from the exercise of options  1,397,984  99,853

Net cash used in financing activities  (948,896)  (2,917,367)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  5,478,734  24,179,075
Cash and cash equivalents—beginning of period  36,981,533  12,802,458
Cash and cash equivalents—end of period  $ 42,460,267  $ 36,981,533



Luna Innovations Incorporated
Reconciliation of Net Income to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA

 

 
Three months ended 

 December 31,  
Year ended 

December 31,

 2018  2017  2018  2017

 (unaudited)  (unaudited)

Net income $ 939,836  435,329  $ 11,004,241  $ 14,614,905
Less income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes 1,062,186  434,783  9,766,431  15,865,720
Net (loss)/income from continuing operations (122,350)  546  1,237,810  (1,250,815)
Income tax expense/(benefit) 722,148  (486,530)  47,818  (1,148,579)
Income/(loss) from continuing operations before income taxes 599,798  (485,984)  1,285,628  (2,399,394)
Investment income (198,525)  —  (549,580)  —
Interest expense 21,136  38,474  124,344  217,352
Depreciation and amortization 197,203  311,565  908,347  1,136,729

EBITDA 619,612  (135,945)  1,768,739  (1,045,313)
Share-based compensation 181,607  194,861  527,189  715,094
Non-recurring charges 751,102  595,992  751,102  595,992

Adjusted EBITDA $ 1,552,321  $ 654,908  $ 3,047,030  $ 265,773

###
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Safe Harbor Safe Harbor Statement Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 This presentation includes information that constitutes “forward-looking statements” made pursuant to the safe harbor provision of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 that involve risks and uncertainties. These statements include the company's expectations regarding the company's future financial performance and the potential demand for its products, the company's growth potential, its business focus and competitive advantages, and its expectations about the benefits of its acquisition of General Photonics. Management cautions the reader that these forward-looking statements are only predictions and are subject to a number of both known and unknown risks and uncertainties, and actual results, performance, and/or achievements of the company may differ materially from the future results, performance, and/or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements as a result of a number of factors. These factors include, without limitation, failure of demand for the company’s products and services to meet expectations, failure of target market to grow and expand, technological and strategic challenges, market valuation of the company and those risks and uncertainties set forth in the company’s periodic reports and other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). Such filings are available on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov and on the company’s website at www.lunainc.com. The statements made in this presentation are based on information available to Luna as of the date of this presentation and Luna undertakes no obligation to update any of the forward-looking statements after the date of this presentation, except as required by law. Adjusted Financial Measures In addition to U.S. GAAP financial information, this presentation includes Adjusted
EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure. This non-GAAP financial measure is in addition to, and not a substitute for or superior to, measures of financial performance prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. A reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to Net Income is included in the appendix to this presentation. NASDAQ: LUNA Luna Innovations Incorporated© 2019



 

Fiscal 2018 Highlights Exceptional year of strategic and operational execution Robust financial performance ▪ Five consecutive quarters of double-digit revenue growth ▪ Significant improvement in net income from continuing ops vs. a loss in FY17 Continued disciplined, strategic M&A to realign and refocus the business on core, fiber optic-based test and measurement offerings ▪ Divested HSOR and Opto Electronics businesses in past 18 months ▪ Acquired Micron Optics in October 2018, a leader in optical measurement technology ▪ Today, announced acquisition of General Photonics, a leader in characterization and control of light for photonics applications Recognized with the prestigious “Evolutionary Technology Supplier” award from Lockheed Martin, an important customer NASDAQ: LUNA Luna Innovations Incorporated© 2019



 

4Q and FY 2018 Results



 

Fourth-quarter 2018 Financial Results We delivered strong financial performance this quarter: ▪ Fifth consecutive quarter of year-over-year, double-digit revenue growth from continuing operations; strong revenue growth across the businesses ▪ Solid improvement in Adjusted EBITDA and net income vs. prior-year period Total revenues of $13.5M for the three months ended December 31, 2018, up 37% compared to the three months ended December 31, 2017 Pre-tax net income from continuing operations improved to $0.6M for the three months ended December 31, 2018 compared to $(0.5M) for the prior-year period ▪ Net income from continuing operations declined slightly to $(0.1M) for the three months ended December 31, 2018 compared to approximately breakeven for the prior-year period due to the allocation of taxes between continuing and discontinued operations Net income attributable to common stockholders was $0.9M vs. $0.4M for the prior year Adjusted EBITDA1 improved to $1.6M for Q4 FY18, compared to $0.7M for the prior-year period 1Adj EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure. Reconciliation of comparable GAAP measures to non-GAAP measures are included NASDAQ: LUNA in the appendix to this presentation Luna Innovations Incorporated© 2019



 

Full-year 2018 Financial Results Strong, consistent top- and bottom-line growth throughout the year Entering 2019 with momentum Total revenues of $42.9M FY18, up 30% vs FY17 Disciplined expense management aided incremental revenue contribution to profit ▪ Gross profit up 45% year-over-year ▪ Operating profit up to $0.9M in FY18 from a loss of ($2.2M) in FY17 Net income from continuing operations improved to $1.2M for FY18 vs a loss of $(1.3M) for FY17 Adjusted EBITDA1 $3.0M for FY18, compared to $0.3M for the prior-year period Net income attributable to common stockholders was $10.7M, compared to $14.5M in FY17. Decline due to large gain recognized on sale of business in 2017 1Adj EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure. Reconciliation of comparable GAAP measures to non-GAAP measures NASDAQ: LUNA are included in the appendix to this presentation Luna Innovations Incorporated© 2019



 

Strong Trajectory of Growth with Momentum Going into 2019 Twelve months ended December 31: 1 Revenue (millions) Income from continuing operations Double-digit (millions) revenue growth $1.2 year-over-year $42.9 $33.1 $29.6 $26.6 ($1.3) $21.3 ($3.4) ($3.9) ($6.4) 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 NASDAQ: LUNA Luna Innovations Incorporated© 2019



 

Acquisition of General Photonics ▪ Today, announced the acquisition of General Photonics, a leader in characterization and control of light for photonics applications ▪ Will accelerate growth in Luna’s communications test segments ▪ Based in Chino, CA; formed in 1995; approximately 60 employees; approximately 80 active patents or patent applications ▪ Brings capabilities that will broaden the Luna portfolio allowing greater penetration into existing customer base ▪ Complementary and additive product lines: • Polarization-based measurement instruments are highly complementary to Luna’s optical measurement instruments • Component and module product lines are purely additive to overall portfolio ▪ Anticipate quick, smooth integration into Lightwave NASDAQ: LUNA Luna Innovations Incorporated© 2019



 

A Disciplined Capital Deployment Strategy to Leverage Our Flexible Balance Sheet and Strong Cash Position As of December 31, 2018, our balance sheet reflects: ▪ $75.6M in total assets • $42.5M in cash and cash equivalents • $56.1M in working capital A disciplined approach to capital deployment, with a focus on working capital and reinvestment in the business in order to generate long-term sustainable growth Financial Performance NASDAQ: LUNA Luna Innovations Incorporated© 2019



 

A Reminder: Pro-forma Luna Financials, Adjusted for the sale of Opto Electronics and the Acquisition of Micron Optics1 (in thousands) For the three months ended March 31, 2018 June 30, 2018 September 30, 2018 December 31, 2018 Revenues: Technology development $ 4,637 $ 5,466 $ 5,316 $ 5,548 Products and licensing 6,180 6,318 7,843 8,187 Total revenues 10,817 11,784 13,159 13,735 Cost of revenues: Technology development 3,354 3,945 3,919 4,335 Products and licensing 2,331 2,416 3,099 2,749 Total cost of revenues 5,685 6,361 7,018 7,084 Gross Profit 5,132 5,423 6,141 6,651 Operating expense: Selling, general and administrative 4,399 4,300 4,319 4,896 Research, development and engineering 1,172 1,110 1,285 1,644 Total operating expense 5,571 5,410 5,604 6,540 Operating income/(loss) $ (439) $ 13 $ 537 $ 111 1 Unaudited pro forma financials assumes the Optoelectronics business was sold and the Micron Optics business was acquired on January 1, 2018. 2 Includes $751,000 of costs associated with the acquisition of Micron Optics. NASDAQ: LUNA Luna Innovations Incorporated© 2019



 

Why Invest in Luna? Proprietary, measurement technology, offering unprecedented combination of resolution, accuracy and speed Customers in attractive markets: Aerospace, Automotive, Communications, Energy and Defense Positioned to take advantage of trends such as vehicle light-weighting and increasing demands on data centers and broadband capacity Adequately capitalized to fund growth Long-tenured, experienced executive team / board Corporate culture of innovation and integrity Compelling value: currently trading at an attractive multiple Summary NASDAQ: LUNA Luna Innovations Incorporated© 2019
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Reconciliation of Net Income to Adjusted EBITDA Three months ended Year ended December 31, December 31, 2018 2017 2018 2017 (unaudited) (unaudited) Net income $ 939,836 435,329 $ 11,004,241 $ 14,614,905 Less income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes 1,062,186 434,783 9,766,431 15,865,720 Net (loss)/income from continuing operations (122,350 ) 546 1,237,810 (1,250,815 ) Income tax expense/(benefit) 722,148 (486,530 ) 47,818 (1,148,579 ) Income/(loss) from continuing operations before income taxes 599,798 (485,984 ) 1,285,628 (2,399,394 ) Investment income (198,525 ) — (549,580 ) — Interest expense 21,136 38,474 124,344 217,352 Depreciation and amortization 197,203 311,565 908,347 1,136,729 EBITDA 619,612 (135,945 ) 1,768,739 (1,045,313 ) Share-based compensation 181,607 194,861 527,189 715,094 Non-recurring charges 751,102 595,992 751,102 595,992 Adjusted EBITDA $ 1,552,321 $ 654,908 $ 3,047,030 $ 265,773 Additional Financial Information NASDAQ: LUNA Luna Innovations Incorporated© 2019
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Luna Innovations Acquires General Photonics,

A Leader in Characterization and Control of Light for Photonics Applications
Acquisition will accelerate growth in Luna’s communications test segment

(ROANOKE, VA, March 4, 2019) – Luna Innovations Incorporated (NASDAQ: LUNA), a global leader in advanced fiber optic-based technology, today announced that it has

acquired General Photonics Corporation, a Chino, California-based leading provider of innovative components, modules and test equipment focused on the generation,

measurement and control of polarized light critical in fiber optic-based applications. The purchase price was $20 million, which includes a potential $1 million earnout

payment. General Photonics provides customers with advanced technological solutions across a variety of industries, including those within Luna’s strategic markets.

General Photonics’ component and module product lines are an ideal addition to Luna’s overall product portfolio. Its polarization measurement instruments are highly

complementary to Luna’s industry-leading line of optical measurement tools. Integrated into Luna’s Lightwave division, General Photonics’ product portfolio will add both

breadth and depth to Luna’s offering, and facilitate greater penetration within Luna’s target customer base. In addition, several of Luna’s instruments already incorporate

General Photonics’ products, creating vertical integration synergies.

“We are excited to announce the acquisition of General Photonics, another step in the execution of our core strategy. This acquisition brings a highly complementary product

portfolio to the capabilities of Luna’s communications test products,” said Scott Graeff, President and Chief Executive Officer of Luna. “We intend to drive a quick and smooth

integration as both company’s products are built on similar electronics, optics and software platforms for high-precision measurement and control of light. This deal further

demonstrates our commitment to use capital prudently for transactions that are quickly accretive to our earnings, and it is consistent with our previously stated goal to drive

long-term value.”

Vice President and General Manager of Luna’s Lightwave Division, Brian Soller, Ph.D., said, “We have created a broader, stronger product portfolio that is centered around

what we do best: measure and manage light in optical fiber. The complementary nature of our combined product lines will allow Luna to leverage existing channels to market

and provide solutions across more of the value chain in our key target markets. We are now in a better position to service our customers’ measurement needs in a rapidly

evolving market, where the need for high-quality measurement and control of light is growing.”

“The combination of Luna and General Photonics clearly strengthens both companies and creates greater opportunities to increase value for our customers,” said Steve Yao,

Chief Executive Officer, President and Founder of General Photonics. “I can’t think of a better place for my company to continue the success we’ve created. And with access

to the incremental engineering and sales resources available at Luna, we will be able to further accelerate our growth.”

Conference Call Information

Luna will discuss this announcement on a previously announced fourth-quarter and year-end fiscal 2018 conference call at 8:30 am (EST) today. The call can be accessed by

dialing 844.578.9643 domestically or 270.823.1522 internationally prior to the start of the call. The participant access code is 8384348. Investors are advised to dial in at least

five minutes prior to the call to register. The conference call will also be webcast live over the Internet. The webcast can be accessed by logging on to the “Investor Relations”

section of the Luna website, www.lunainc.com, prior to the event. The webcast will be archived under the “Webcasts and Presentations” section of the Luna website for at least

30 days following the conference call.

About Luna

Luna Innovations, Incorporated (www.lunainc.com) is a leader in optical technology, providing unique capabilities in high-performance, fiber optic-based, test products for the

telecommunications industry and distributed fiber optic-based sensing for the aerospace and automotive industries. Luna is organized into two business segments, which work

closely together to turn ideas into products: a Technology Development segment and a Products and Licensing segment. Luna’s business model is designed to accelerate the

process of bringing new and innovative technologies to market.

Forward-Looking Statements

The statements in this release that are not historical facts constitute “forward-looking statements” made pursuant to the safe harbor provision of the Private Securities Litigation

Reform Act of 1995 that involve risks and uncertainties. These statements include Luna’s expectations regarding the expected benefits of the acquisition, including the ability

of the acquisition to accelerate the company’s growth, the integration of General Photonics’ products into Luna’s product lines, the ability to better deliver value to customers

and address their needs and the company’s business strategies. Management cautions the reader that these forward-looking statements are only predictions and are subject to a



number of both known and unknown risks and uncertainties, and actual results, performance, and/or achievements of Luna may differ materially from the future results,

performance, and/or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements as a result of a number of factors. These factors include, without limitation,

uncertainties regarding integration of the companies’ respective employee bases, service offerings and business operations, potential adverse reactions or uncertainties

regarding the acquisition among the companies’ customers, potential unknown liabilities and unforeseen expenses associated with the acquisition, potential performance

shortfalls as a result of the diversion of management’s attention caused by completing the acquisition and integrating the companies’ operations and other risks and

uncertainties set forth in Luna’s periodic reports and other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Such filings are available on the SEC’s website at

www.sec.gov and on Luna’s website at www.lunainc.com. The statements made in this release are based on information available to Luna as of the date of this release and

Luna undertakes no obligation to update any of the forward-looking statements after the date of this release.

Investor Contacts:

Jane Bomba                        Sally J. Curley

Luna Innovations Incorporated                Luna Innovations Incorporated

Phone: 303-829-1211                    614-530-3002

Email: IR@lunainc.com                    IR@lunainc.com
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